


CONTENTS

1

CORPORATE INFORMATION 2

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS 6

PROFILES OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES 9

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 11

FINANCIAL OPERATION REVIEW 27

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 43

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 61

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 81

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 83

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 85

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 88

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 92

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 95

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY 233

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES 235

SCHEDULE OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 244

* Should there be any discrepancy between the English and Chinese versions, the English version shall prevail.



CORPORATE INFORMATION

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 20122

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Chan, Sze-wan

Lam, Kwong-wai

Lui, Lai-kwan

Non-executive Directors:

Lau, Ming-wai (Vice Chairman)

Amy Lau, Yuk-wai

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Chan, Kwok-wai

Phillis Loh, Lai-ping

Ma, Tsz-chun

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chan, Kwok-wai (Chairman)

Phillis Loh, Lai-ping

Ma, Tsz-chun

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Phillis Loh, Lai-ping (Chairman)

Chan, Kwok-wai

Ma, Tsz-chun

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Chan, Kwok-wai (Chairman)

Phillis Loh, Lai-ping

Ma, Tsz-chun

SPECIAL COMMITTEE

Chan, Kwok-wai

Phillis Loh, Lai-ping

Ma, Tsz-chun

COMPANY SECRETARY

Lam, Kwong-wai



CORPORATE INFORMATION

3

SOLICITORS

Sidley Austin

Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum

AUDITOR

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

BANKERS

(Listed in alphabetical order)

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Bank SinoPac

BNP Paribas

Cathay United Bank Company, Limited

China Everbright Bank

Chong Hing Bank Limited

Citibank, N.A.

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

DBS Bank Ltd.

E.Sun Commercial Bank, Ltd.

Hang Seng Bank, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

Malayan Banking Berhad

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Public Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Tai Fung Bank Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.

Wing Hang Bank, Limited

Wing Lung Bank, Limited

PLACE OF INCORPORATION

Bermuda

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

DBS Bank Ltd.

Malayan Banking Berhad

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

UFJ

Canon's Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda



CORPORATE INFORMATION

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 20124

PRINCIPAL OFFICE IN HONG KONG

26th Floor, MassMutual Tower

38 Gloucester Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited

26 Burnaby Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

BRANCH REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
IN HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862 8555

Fax: (852) 2865 0990

(852) 2529 6087

OFFICES IN THE PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA

Beijing Office:

Room 202, Oriental Place

No. 9 East Dongfang Road

North Dongsanhuan Road

Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

Post Code: 100027

Tel: (8610) 6466 0638

Fax: (8610) 6466 0238

Chengdu Office:

Room 2608, 26th Floor, CCB Sichuan Building

No. 88 Tidu Street

Qingyang District, Chengdu

Sichuan Province, PRC

Post Code: 610016

Tel: (8628) 8676 7747

Fax: (8628) 6613 5700

38

26

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited

26 Burnaby Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

 183 

 17 

1712  1716

(852) 2862 8555

(852) 2865 0990

(852) 2529 6087

9

202

100027

(8610) 6466 0638

(8610) 6466 0238

88

26 2608

610016

(8628) 8676 7747

(8628) 6613 5700



CORPORATE INFORMATION

5

OFFICES IN THE PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA
(Cont’d)

Shanghai Office:

Room B103, Evergo Tower

1325 Central Huaihai Road

Xuhui District, Shanghai, PRC

Post Code: 200031

Tel: (8621) 6445 8945

Fax: (8621) 6445 9710

Shenzhen Office:

Rooms 1-3, South Gong, 6th Floor

Lowu Commercial Plaza

25 Railway Station Square

Luohu District, Shenzhen

Guangdong Province, PRC

Post Code: 518001

Tel: (86755) 8234 7139

Fax: (86755) 8234 0012

Macau Office:

Room 1101A, 11th Floor, AIA Tower

Nos. 251A-301 Avenida Comercial de Macau

Macau SAR

Tel: (853) 2828 3228

Fax: (853) 2899 1108

WEBSITE

http://www.chineseestates.com

STOCK CODE

127

BOARD LOT

500 shares

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries relating to investor relations, please contact:

Tel: (852) 2866 6999

Fax: (852) 2866 2822

(852) 2866 2833

E-mail: investor.relations@chineseestates.com

1325

B103

200031

(8621) 6445 8945

(8621) 6445 9710

25

6/F 1-3

518001

(86755) 8234 7139

(86755) 8234 0012

251A-301

11 1101A

(853) 2828 3228

(853) 2899 1108

http://www.chineseestates.com

127

500

者

者

(852) 2866 6999

(852) 2866 2822

(852) 2866 2833

investor.relations@chineseestates.com



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 20126

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Joseph LAU, Luen-hung, aged 61, joined the Company in 1989.

Mr. Lau is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and

acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a non-

executive director of Lifestyle International Holdings Limited (“Lifestyle”),

a company whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor Degree of Science

from the University of Windsor, Canada. He has over 39 years of experience

in corporate finance, manufacturing and property investment and

development. Mr. Lau is the father of Mr. Lau, Ming-wai, the Vice Chairman

and a Non-executive Director of the Company, and the elder brother of

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai, a Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lau’s

associate, Ms. Lui, Lai-kwan, is an Executive Director of the Company, and

another associate, Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan, is the younger sister of Ms. Chan,

Sze-wan, an Executive Director of the Company.(Note)

Ms. CHAN, Sze-wan, aged 34, joined the Group (the Company together

with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) in 2002 and has been appointed as an

Executive Director of the Company since 12th June, 2012. She also acts

as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Chan is the

Manager of Sales and Leasing Department as well as the Assistant Sales

and Marketing Manager of Cosmetics Department responsible for Two

Girls products. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree of Business

Administration from University of Management and Technology, United

States of America. She is responsible for the Group’s marketing and

properties’ sales and leasing affairs. Ms. Chan has over 10 years of

experience in sales and marketing. She is the elder sister of Ms. Chan,

Hoi-wan, an associate of Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung, the Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Mr. LAM, Kwong-wai, aged 57, joined the Group in 1989 and has been

appointed as an Executive Director of the Company since 12th June, 2012.

He is the Group Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the

Company and acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Lam has been appointed as a non-executive director of Chi Cheung

Investment Company, Limited since 7th February, 2013 and was a non-

executive director of G-Prop (Holdings) Limited for the period from 14th

August, 2012 to 7th March, 2013, the shares of these companies are

listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam is a Certified Public Accountant

(Practising) and holds a Master Degree of Business Administration from

the University of Warwick, United Kingdom. He has over 35 years of

experience in auditing, finance and accounting.

61
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Cont’d)

Ms. LUI, Lai-kwan, aged 36, joined the Group from 2001 to 2005 and

participated in the Group’s property leasing business in Hong Kong and

Mainland China. She has been appointed as an Executive Director of the

Company since 13th July, 2012. Ms. Lui holds a Doctor Degree of

Philosophy in Chemistry from King’s College London. She is a member of

the 12th Beijing Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference, an Honorary Trustee of Peking University and a

member of Hospital Governing Committee of Pamela Youde Nethersole

Eastern Hospital, Hong Kong. Ms. Lui has extensive experience in property

investment. She is responsible for overseeing the Group’s investment projects

in Mainland China and overseas. She is an associate of Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-

hung, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. (Note)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAU, Ming-wai, aged 32, joined the Company in 2006. He is the

Vice Chairman of the Company and acts as a director of certain subsidiaries

of the Company. Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor Degree of Laws from King’s

College London, a Master Degree of Laws from The London School of

Economics and Political Science, and a Doctor Degree of Philosophy in

Laws from King’s College London. He worked at The Goldman Sachs Group,

Inc. and Longview Partners LP, both in London prior to joining the Company.

Mr. Lau is a registered attorney in the State of New York and a CFA

(Chartered Financial Analyst) charterholder. He is the son of Mr. Joseph

Lau, Luen-hung, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,

and the nephew of Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai, a Non-executive Director of the

Company.(Note)

Ms. Amy LAU, Yuk-wai, aged 59, joined the Company in 2004. Ms.

Lau is also a non-executive director of Lifestyle. She is registered with the

Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario, Canada and a practising

dentist in Ontario. Ms. Lau holds a Bachelor Degree of Science and a

Doctor Degree of Dental Surgery from the University of Toronto, Canada.

She is the younger sister of Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung, the Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the aunt of Mr. Lau, Ming-

wai, the Vice Chairman and a Non-executive Director of the Company.

Note: The discloseable interest of Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung, Ms. Lui, Lai-
kwan and Mr. Lau, Ming-wai in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance is set out in Directors’ Report under the sections
of “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in the Securities of the
Company and Associated Corporation” and “Substantial Shareholders’
Interests in the Securities of the Company” of this annual report.

36
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN, Kwok-wai, aged 54, joined the Company in 2004. He is the

chairman of the audit committee and remuneration committee, and a

member of the nomination committee and special committee of the

Company. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration

from the Monash University, Australia. He is also an associate member of

CPA Australia and a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. He has

over 33 years of experience in finance and accounting industries. Mr. Chan

is currently a director of High Progress Consultants Limited. He is also an

independent non-executive director of Junefield Department Store Group

Limited, China Investments Holdings Limited, Tern Properties Company

Limited, National Electronics Holdings Limited and Far East Consortium

International Limited, the shares of all of which are listed on the Stock

Exchange.

Ms. Phillis LOH, Lai-ping, aged 48, joined the Company in 2006. She

is the chairman of the nomination committee, a member of the audit

committee, remuneration committee and special committee of the

Company. Ms. Loh holds a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Postgraduate

Certificate in Laws, both from The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Loh was a

practising solicitor from 1990 to 1997, and has since become a practising

barrister-at-law after she was called to the Hong Kong Bar in 1998. She

was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong (1990) and the United Kingdom

(1991), and is also a barrister and solicitor in the Supreme Court of the

Australian Capital Territory (since 1991).

Mr. MA, Tsz-chun, aged 47, joined the Company in 2008. He is a member

of the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee

and special committee of the Company. Mr. Ma is a Certified Public

Accountant (Practising) and has over 25 years of experience in auditing,

finance and accounting industries. He is currently a director of ACE (CPA)

Limited and a director and the general manager of Sino-Bridge China

Consulting Limited. Mr. Ma holds a Master of Science Degree in E-

Commerce (Business Programme) and a Master Degree in Business

Administration, both from The Chinese University of Hong Kong as well as

a Master of Science Degree in China Business Studies from The Hong

Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Ma is a fellow member of The Association

of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, an associate

member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The

Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom

and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries respectively.

54
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Mr. Matthew CHEONG, Veng-va, aged 54, joined the Group (the

Company together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) in 1994 and is the

General Manager - Operations of the Group. Mr. Cheong is a chartered

engineer. He holds a Bachelor Degree of Science from the University of

Toronto, Canada, a Master Degree of Science in Automation Systems and

Management and a Doctorate Degree of Engineering, both from the City

University of Hong Kong. He is also a member of The Hong Kong Institution

of Engineers, The Institute of Measurement and Control and The British

Computer Society. Mr. Cheong is responsible for the general operations

of the Group including information technology, corporate communications,

human resources and administration. He has over 27 years of experience

in the management and operations.

Ms. Connie CHEUNG, Mun-yi, aged 45, joined the Group in 2007 and

is the Head of Legal Department. Ms. Cheung is a practising solicitor. She

holds a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws,

both from The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Cheung has been working in

both law firm as a solicitor and public sector as an in-house legal counsel.

Ms. Cheung is responsible for overseeing the legal aspects of the Group’s

various businesses, including project development, commercial

investments, conveyancing and tenancy. She has over 21 years of legal

experience.

Mr. CHUNG, Chi-lam, aged 48, joined the Group in 2012 and is the

General Manager - Sales. Mr. Chung holds a Bachelor Degree of Science

in Information and Management Systems and a Bachelor Degree of

Commerce in Management Science, both from the University of Ottawa,

Canada. He is responsible for the properties’ sales affairs. Mr. Chung has

over 24 years of experience in sales and marketing.

Mr. Tommy FUNG, Hei-wai, aged 44, joined the Group in 2012 and is

the Senior Manager of Project Development Department. Mr. Fung is a

chartered building surveyor, a registered professional surveyor and an

authorised person under the List of Surveyors of the Building Authority.

He holds a Bachelor Degree of Science in Building Surveying from the

University of Greenwich, United Kingdom. Mr. Fung is also a member of

The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and The Royal Institution of Chartered

Surveyors. He has been appointed by The Government of the Hong Kong

Special Administrative Region as a member of the Appeal Tribunal Panel

(Buildings) since December 2009 and a member of the Appeal Board

Panel (Town Planning) since October 2012 respectively. Mr. Fung is

responsible for the project development affairs. He has over 19 years of

relevant experience.

54

45

48
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Mr. Alec KONG, Chi-ming, aged 49, joined the Group in 1994 and is

the Head of China Business. Mr. Kong holds a Bachelor Degree of Business

Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master Degree

of Arts in Quantitative Analysis for Business and a Master Degree of

Business Administration, both from the City University of Hong Kong. He

is responsible for the overall management and development of property

projects in Mainland China. He has over 22 years of experience in the

property field of Mainland China.

Ms. Hazel LAI, Ming-yan, aged 44, joined the Group in 2000 and is

the Senior Manager - Contracts of Project Development Department. Ms.

Lai is a registered professional surveyor. She holds a Bachelor Degree of

Science in Building from the City University of Hong Kong and a Master

Degree of Science in Construction and Real Estate from The Hong Kong

Polytechnic University. She is also a member of The Hong Kong Institute

of Surveyors. Ms. Lai is responsible for the quantity surveying affairs. She

has over 22 years of relevant experience.

Mr. Kenneth NG, Yik-hei, aged 45, joined the Group in 2004 and is

the Senior Manager of Project Development Department. Mr. Ng is a

chartered building surveyor, a registered professional surveyor and an

authorised person under the List of Surveyors of the Building Authority.

He holds a Bachelor Degree of Science in Building Surveying from the

University of Greenwich, United Kingdom and a Master Degree of Practising

Accounting from the Monash University, Australia. Mr. Ng is also a member

of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and The Royal Institution of

Chartered Surveyors. He has been appointed by The Government of the

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as a member of the Appeal

Tribunal Panel (Buildings) since February 2007. Mr. Ng is responsible for

the project development affairs. He has over 22 years of relevant

experience.

Ms. Teresa POON, Mun-chie, aged 42, joined the Group in 2002 and

is the Senior Manager of Project Development Department. Ms. Poon is a

registered architect in Hong Kong and an authorised person under the List

of Architects of the Building Authority. She holds a Bachelor Degree of

Arts in Architectural Studies and a Master Degree of Architecture, both

from The University of Hong Kong. She is also a member of The Hong

Kong Institute of Architects. Ms. Poon is responsible for the project

development affairs. She has over 17 years of experience in the

management and development of property projects.

Most of the above senior executives, namely Mr. Matthew Cheong, Veng-

va, Ms. Connie Cheung, Mun-yi, Mr. Alec Kong, Chi-ming, Ms. Hazel Lai,

Ming-yan and Mr. Kenneth Ng, Yik-hei hold position as a director in one or

more of the subsidiaries of the Company as at the date of this annual

report.

49
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I am pleased to present the results of the Company and its subsidiaries

(the “Group”) for the year ended 31st December, 2012 (the “Year”) to

the shareholders of the Company.

RESULTS

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was HK$9,794.9

million as compared to HK$3,497.8 million for last year. The increase in

profit for the Year was mainly due to (i) the increase in fair value gain on

investment properties; (ii) fair value gain of bonds as opposed to a fair

value loss for last year; (iii) the decrease in loss of sale of listed investments

held-for-trading; and (iv) the increase in interest income from bonds.

Earnings per share for the Year was HK$5.14 (2011: HK$1.83).

If the net gain on the major non-cash items of HK$5,815.8 million (2011:

HK$3,283.3 million) are excluded, the Group will have a core profit

attributable to owners of the Company for the Year of HK$3,979.1 million

(2011: HK$214.5 million) and a core earnings per share of HK208.6

cents (2011: HK11.2 cents), which were both 18.6 times to those of

2011.

The major non-cash items were fair value gain on investment properties,

gain on revaluation of stock of properties together with their respective

deferred tax and costs of development recognised in respect of property

project in Macau totaling HK$5,815.8 million (2011: HK$3,283.3 million).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company (the “Directors” or the “Board”)

has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK20 cents per

share for the Year (the “Final Dividend”) (2011: HK1 cent per share).

Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company to be held on 23rd May, 2013 (the “2013 AGM”),

dividend warrants will be posted on or about 10th June, 2013 to

shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the

Company on 30th May, 2013.

9,794,900,000

3,497,800,000

(i) (ii)

(iii)

(iv)

5.14

1.83

5,815,800,000

3,283,300,000

3,979,100,000

214,500,000

208.6 11.2 者
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5,815,800,000

3,283,300,000

20

1

2013



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 201212

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining the members’ eligibility to attend and

vote at the 2013 AGM, and entitlement to the recommended Final

Dividend, the register of members will be closed during the following

periods respectively:–

2013

(1) For ascertaining eligibility to attend and vote at the 2013 AGM:

2013

Latest time to lodge transfers documents for registration 16.5.2013

16:30

Closure of register of members 20.5.2013 – 23.5.2013

(both days inclusive) 

(2) For ascertaining entitlement to the recommended Final Dividend:

Latest time to lodge transfers documents for registration 28.5.2013

16:30

Closure of register of members 29.5.2013 – 30.5.2013

(both days inclusive) 

Record date 30.5.2013

To be eligible to attend and vote at the 2013 AGM, and to qualify for the

recommended Final Dividend, all properly completed share transfers

documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged

for registration with the Company’s Branch Registrar and Transfer Office in

Hong Kong, namely Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,

at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road

East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than the respective latest time as

stated above.

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGIES

The Group is one of the leading property developers in Hong Kong and its

core businesses comprise of property investments for rental and property

development for sale as well as securities investments.

The Group aims at enhancing value and recurrent revenue of investment

properties through conceptualising and implementing redevelopment,

renovation works and repackaging programmes for properties as well as

actively managing a balanced tenant mix for retail properties to achieve

long-term sustainable growth.

2013

183

17 1712-1716
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BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGIES (Cont’d)

The Group specialises in developing high-end and luxury residential

properties in prime location in Hong Kong; and enjoying profit contribution

and cash inflow from property sales to achieve long-term sustainable growth

and developing a brand name in the market.

In Mainland China, development of mid to high-end residential properties

with superb designs, construction and management services is our target,

as the demand for housing remains very strong resulting from sustained

economic growth.

The Group plans to develop a multipurpose complex for residential/

commercial properties in Chengdu, Mainland China, in which the Group

will retain its interests in the retail, office and hotel portions after sale of

residential units. Through maintenance of certain interests in retail, office

and hotel portions, the Group would generate stable and recurrent rental

income.

The Group continues its strategy in quality partnerships with property

developers or other parties to the extent commercially feasible and

beneficial to the Group’s development.

Apart from the aforesaid, the Group has conducted variety of securities

investment business, such as equity investments, debt investments and

other treasury products, with the aim to yield enhancement for treasury

management.

The Group believes that the stable rental income from its investment

properties, together with the property development and trading as well as

securities investment, forms a diversified cash flow stream which allows

the Group to weather the cyclicality of the property business.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hong Kong Property Investment

Rentals from investment properties continued to be one of the major

sources of our income. The overall occupancy rate of the Group’s retail

portfolio was 98.96% during the Year. The occupancy rate achieved

99.43% if non-core properties are excluded. The high occupancy rate is

attributable to the prime locations of the majority of the Group’s retail

properties.

98.96% 99.43%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Cont’d)

Hong Kong Property Investment (Cont’d)

The Group’s overall gross rental growth was 11.70% with rental income

of HK$1,383.9 million for the Year as compared with last year. The rental

income from Hong Kong retail portion showed an upward momentum

with 15.36% growth while the non-retail portion maintained stable

performance with rental growth of 2.18%. The increase in gross rental

income is mainly attributable to the fully let out of Silvercord and high

reversionary rental rate of retail properties. Retail rents were generally

raised due to the increase in tenants’ business turnover benefited from

the continuous growth of Mainland China tourists’ spending and the

improved local consumption.

The average occupancy rate of the shops of Causeway Place was

approximately 91.45% during the Year.

The overall rental income of Windsor House was raised 6.71% for the Year

as compared with last year. During the Year, its average occupancy rate was

increased to approximately 99.29%, representing 3.27% increase over last

year. Windsor House provides shoppers a cozy shopping environment with

a diversified trade mix. Various marketing and promotion activities are held

in Windsor House from time to time which boost shoppers’ traffic flow and

thus increases tenants’ business turnover. As a result, Windsor House

recorded steady rental growth and high occupancy rate.

As for Silvercord, the overall rental income was raised 31.99% for the

Year as compared with last year. All the shops were fully let out throughout

the Year. Benefited from the prosperous shopping atmosphere of Canton

Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, as well as the introduction of several luxury and

premium brands in the shopping mall, Silvercord’s rental rate and property

value are generally uplifted.

The tallest retail complex of its kind in Hong Kong, The ONE recorded

8.48% increase of its overall rental income for the Year as compared with

last year. Its average occupancy rate was approximately 99.89% during

the Year with many of the shops are popular fashion brands and well-

known trademarks.

The occupancy rate for the Group’s office properties maintained at a high

level throughout the Year. During the Year, the average occupancy rates of

Windsor House, MassMutual Tower and Harcour t House were

approximately 96.01%, 100% and 99.33% respectively, bringing the

approximate occupancy rate of the overall office portfolio to 98.21%.

11.70% 1,383,900,000

15.36%

2.18%

91.45%

6 . 7 1 %

99.29% 3.27%

31.99%

The ONE

8.48%

99.89%

96.01% 100% 99.33%

98.21%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Cont’d)

Hong Kong Property Development

In general, the Group’s development projects have been progressing

satisfactorily and the sales have been achieving pleasing results.

No. 12 Shiu Fai Terrace, located in Mid-Levels East, is a traditional prestigious

location for luxury residential project in Hong Kong. A luxury residential

tower which provides a total residential gross floor area of around 41,020

square feet will be redeveloped. Superstructure work is in progress.

Completion of the project is scheduled for mid 2013 and it is expected to

be launched in the first quarter of 2014.

No. 1 South Lane and No. 34 Hill Road, is located in the Western District

and enjoys close proximity to the future Hong Kong University MTR Station.

It will be redeveloped into a luxury residential/retail tower with a total gross

floor area of around 41,966 square feet and consists of 92 residential units.

Demolition work is in progress. Completion of the project is scheduled for

mid 2015 and it is expected to be launched in the third quarter of 2013.

The Group has a two-phase redevelopment project in Wanchai (87.5%

interest) undertaken with the Urban Renewal Authority. All residential units

of The Zenith (Phase I project) were sold. One WanChai (Phase II project

with preservation of the core elements of Wanchai Market) is a residential/

commercial complex development with total gross floor area of

approximately 159,700 square feet which provides 237 residential units

with flat size ranging from gross floor area of approximately 420 square

feet to 1,200 square feet and retail properties. Certificate of compliance

was issued in January 2013 and the residential units are being handed

over to individual purchasers. 193 units were presold up to 31st December,

2012, representing 81.43% of total units.

No. 55 Conduit Road (70% interest), a residential site in Mid-Levels with

site area of about 36,000 square feet which provides a total residential

gross floor area of around 87,800 square feet. This site will be developed

into a luxury residential project. Superstructure work is in progress.

Launching of the project is scheduled for mid 2014.

The Hermitage (25% interest), is one of the Group’s joint venture

development projects in West Kowloon Reclamation Area. It comprises 6

residential tower blocks and provides in aggregate 964 residential units

and retail properties with a total gross floor area of around 1,095,980

square feet. Certificate of compliance was issued in March 2011 and the

residential units had been handed over to individual purchasers. As at

31st December, 2012, 962 units were sold and recognised, representing

99.79% of total units.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Cont’d)

Hong Kong Property Development (Cont’d)

The Coronation (15% interest), is another joint venture development

project of the Group in West Kowloon Reclamation Area. It comprises 6

residential tower blocks and provides in aggregate 740 residential units

and retail properties with a total gross floor area of around 650,600 square

feet. Certificate of compliance was issued in December 2012 and the

residential units are being handed over to individual purchasers. 738 units

(i.e. 99.73%) were presold up to 31st December, 2012.

Macau Property Development

La Scala is a high-end residential project located in Avenida Wai Long,

Taipa, Macau with a total residential gross floor area of approximately

5,786,296 square feet (excluding car park area and outdoor facilities area).

It will comprise 26 residential tower blocks and will be developed in phases.

Phase I development will comprise 9 residential tower blocks and provide

in aggregate 899 residential units. Site formation work and the first stage

excavation works for the Phase I development have been completed. Next

stage construction works and the presale of the Phase I development are

suspended.

Mainland China Property Investment

The 79 retail outlets with a total area of approximately 29,000 square feet

in Lowu Commercial Plaza, Shenzhen were fully let out throughout the

Year.

Evergo Tower, located at Central Huaihai Road in Shanghai, is a 21-storey

office and shopping complex and has a gross floor area of around 263,708

square feet. The average occupancy rates of the office and retail spaces

for the Year were approximately 99.14% and 64.86% respectively.

Platinum (50% interest), a 20-storey Grade A office building located at

Taicang Road of Huangpu District in Shanghai, has a gross floor area of

about 466,464 square feet. The average occupancy rate for the Year was

approximately 96.38%.

15%

6

740

650,600

738

99.73%

5,786,296

26

9

899

79 29,000

21

263,708

99.14% 64.86%

50%

20 466,464

96.38%



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

17

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Cont’d)

Mainland China Property Investment (Cont’d)

Hilton Beijing (50% interest), having 503 rooms, average occupancy rate

was approximately 76.38% for the Year.

Oriental Place (50% interest), a 10-storey office building next to Hilton

Beijing, was fully let out during the Year.

Mainland China Property Development

Splendid City, a residential and commercial project located at Yingbin

Avenue of Jinniu District in Chengdu, has a site area of approximately

795,625 square feet and a corresponding gross floor area of approximately

3.74 million square feet. It will comprise 19 residential tower blocks with

a commercial building and will be developed in two phases. Phase I of

Splendid City provides in aggregate 1,226 residential units with flat size

ranging from gross floor area of approximately 854 square feet to 1,812

square feet and a commercial building with gross floor area of

approximately 272,740 square feet. Phase I had been completed in

November 2010 and the residential units had been handed over to

individual purchasers. As at 31st December, 2012, 1,212 units of Phase I

were sold, representing 98.86% of total units. Phase II of Splendid City

provides 1,625 residential units with flat size ranging from gross floor

area of approximately 854 square feet to 1,812 square feet. It had been

completed in December 2012 and some of the residential units are being

handed over to individual purchasers. 281 units were sold and 486 units

were presold out of 880 units launched (i.e. 87.16%) up to 31st December,

2012.

The Metropolis is a residential project located at Yixue Lane and Tangba

Street of Jinjiang District in Chengdu, with site area of approximately

194,411 square feet and corresponding gross floor area of approximately

1.65 million square feet. It will comprise 3 twin residential tower blocks

and will be developed in phases. Tower 1 provides 572 units with flat size

ranging from gross floor area of approximately 704 square feet to 2,692

square feet. Tower 1 had been completed in December 2012 and the

residential units are being handed over to individual purchasers. Since its

first batch sales launch of 286 units in Tower 1, 223 units (i.e. 77.97%)

were sold up to 31st December, 2012. Another batch of 286 units in

Tower 1 is expected to be launched in the second quarter of 2013. Final

interior fitting work of Tower 2 is in progress and expected to be completed

in mid 2013. Tower 3 is under planning and at design stage.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(Cont’d)

Mainland China Property Development (Cont’d)

Chinese Estates Plaza, a commercial and residential project at Tidu Street

of Qingyang District in Chengdu, has a site area of about 404,267 square

feet with a development scale of 3.2 million square feet. It will comprise

a Grade A office building, a five stars hotel, a shopping centre and 4

residential tower blocks. Superstructure construction and fit-out works are

in progress. Completion of the commercial and residential portions are

scheduled for end 2013 and end 2014 respectively. Residential portion is

expected to be launched by the third quarter of 2013.

The commercial and residential project at Huaxinjie Street of Jiangbei

District in Chongqing (25% interest), has a site area of around 2,207,546

square feet and a gross floor area of approximately 11.08 million square

feet. Its piling work and the associated substructure work are in progress.

The project will be developed in four phases and Phase I will be divided

into several zones. The first zone of Phase I is scheduled to be completed

in the third quarter of 2014 and the overall Phase I is expected to be

completed in the third quarter of 2016.

Overseas Property Investment

River Court is a Grade A freehold office building situate at 116-129 Fleet

Street, London, United Kingdom. It provides a total net internal area of

approximately 431,324 square feet, together with certain car parking

spaces. It was fully let out as of 31st December, 2012.

Securities Investments

The Group’s strategy is to maintain securities investment portfolio for

treasury management.

As announced in January 2013, the Group disposed certain securities

investments with realised gain of approximately HK$266.5 million

recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An

unrealised gain of approximately HK$1,307.3 million on fair value changes

of listed securities investments also recorded in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income. The Group will continue to closely monitor the

portfolio of the securities investments to achieve satisfactory returns.

404,267 3,200,000

4

25%

2,207,546

11,080,000

River Court Fleet Street 116-129

River Court

431,324

266,500,000

1,307,300,000



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

19

OTHER INFORMATION AND EVENTS AFTER
THE REPORTING PERIOD

Disposal of G-Prop Group – Connected Transaction

As announced on 17th June, 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company (the “First Vendor”) and a company indirectly wholly-owned by

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung (“Mr. Joseph Lau”) (an Executive Director, the

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and a substantial shareholder of the

Company) (the “Second Vendor”) had on 16th June, 2012 entered into a

sale and purchase agreement with (among other parties) an independent

third party (the “Purchaser”) in relation to the disposal of 1,018,380,590

shares and 493,678,883 shares owned by the First Vendor and the Second

Vendor respectively in G-Prop (Holdings) Limited (“G-Prop”), the then

subsidiary of the Company whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), representing (i) all the share

interests of the First Vendor and the Second Vendor in G-Prop; and (ii)

approximately 62.26% of the entire issued share capital of G-Prop (with

approximately 41.93% and 20.33% held by the First Vendor and the Second

Vendor respectively) as at the date of the announcement, at a total

consideration of HK$423,660,973 (of which HK$285,338,057 was payable

to the First Vendor and HK$138,322,916 was payable to the Second Vendor).

Completion of the disposal took place on 6th August, 2012. The Purchaser

had also entered into the security agreement with the First Vendor on 6th

August, 2012, pursuant to which 1,512,059,473 shares of G-Prop had been

charged in favour of the First Vendor (the “Charged Shares”), for the purpose

of securing the Purchaser’s obligations to repay the total principal amount

under the promissory note(s) or any part thereof. The Purchaser had fulfilled

its obligations for the repayment of all promissory note(s) in December

2012 and thereafter, the Charged Shares were fully released and discharged

on 17th December, 2012.

As the Second Vendor was indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Joseph Lau, the

Second Vendor, being a substantial shareholder of G-Prop, was an associate

of a controller of the Company for the purpose of the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Therefore,

the disposal constituted a connected transaction for the Company for the

purpose of the Listing Rules. As the applicable ratios in respect of the

disposal were more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the disposal was subject

to the reporting and announcement requirements and exempted from

the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A

of the Listing Rules.
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OTHER INFORMATION AND EVENTS AFTER
THE REPORTING PERIOD (Cont’d)

Disposal of Grandday Group Limited

The Group had on 5th September, 2012 entered into a sale and purchase

agreement with an independent third party, to dispose 49 shares in

Grandday Group Limited (“Grandday”), representing 49% of the entire

issued share capital of Grandday, which indirectly owns the property

development project at the southeast exterior of Yin Xing Ken District,

Yinyang Town, Qidong, Jiangsu Province, the People’s Republic of China

(the “PRC”), at a consideration of US$500 million (equivalent to

approximately HK$3,878.45 million). Relevant announcement had been

made on 5th September, 2012. The disposal constituted a discloseable

transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules. The disposal was

completed on 7th September, 2012.

Disposal of Chi Cheung Group

As announced on 5th December, 2012, the Group had entered into a

sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party (the

“Agreement”) in relation to the disposal of 209,931,186 shares in Chi

Cheung Investment Company, Limited (“Chi Cheung”), the then subsidiary

of the Company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,

representing (i) all the share interests of the Group in Chi Cheung; and

(ii) approximately 61.96% of the entire issued share capital of Chi Cheung

as at the date of the announcement, at a consideration of HK$560,532,475

(subject to downward adjustment under the terms of the Agreement).

Completion of the disposal took place on 6th February, 2013.

Administrative Procedures for Repossession of Land in Macau

by Macau Government

As set out in the Company’s announcement dated 17th June, 2012, Moon

Ocean Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Moon Ocean”),

received a notice of preliminary hearing dated 15th June, 2012 (the

“Hearing Notice”) from the Land, Public Works and Transport Bureau (the

“LPWT”) of the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC (“Macau”)

regarding the transfers of the rights deriving from the land concession for

the five plots of land adjacent to the Macau International Airport (according

to the Company’s record, formerly known as Lots 1C; 2; 3; 4 and 5 (parcels

5A & 5B), Avenida Wai Long, Taipa, Macau, and registered in Macau Land

Registry under Nos. 22993, 22991, 22995, 22990 and 22989 and now

known as Lots 1C1; 1C2; 1C3; 2a; 2b; 2d; 3; 4a; 4b; 5a1; 5a2; 5a3; 5b1;

5b2; 5b3; 5b4; 5b5; 5b6; A3a; A3b; A4a; A4b; E1a; E1b; E2 and E3 and

registered in the Macau Land Registry under No. 22989) (the “Macau

Land”) from five Macau companies to which the land concession was

originally granted (the “Original Owners”) to Moon Ocean (the “Land

Transfers”) and the amendment of the related land concession contracts.
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OTHER INFORMATION AND EVENTS AFTER
THE REPORTING PERIOD (Cont’d)

Administrative Procedures for Repossession of Land in Macau

by Macau Government (Cont’d)

It was stated in the Hearing Notice that (i) the Chief Executive of Macau

had approved the initiation of the procedures for declaring the act of the

Chief Executive of Macau in confirming the approval of the Land Transfers

and the related amendments of the land concession contracts in March

2006 invalid and returning the Macau Land to the Original Owners (the

“Matter”); and (ii) Moon Ocean might make written submission regarding

the Matter within 15 days from the receipt of the Hearing Notice.

The Group’s Macau legal adviser made the submission which set out basis

for opposing the Matter on 29th June, 2012 and as set out in the

Company’s announcement dated 14th August, 2012, Moon Ocean received

a notice from the LPWT stating that (i) the Chief Executive of Macau had

declared the previous act of the Chief Executive of Macau in confirming

the approval of the Land Transfers and the related amendments of the

land concession contracts in March 2006 invalid (the “Decision”); and

(ii) Moon Ocean might present objection to the Decision within 15 days

from the gazetting of the Decision and might also appeal to the Court of

Second Instance. The Decision was then published on the official bulletin

of the Macau government dated 15th August, 2012.

As announced on 28th August, 2012, the Group’s Macau legal adviser

filed on behalf of Moon Ocean an objection to the Decision. As Moon

Ocean had not received any reply from the Chief Executive of Macau

regarding such objection, Moon Ocean and a purchaser of La Scala jointly

lodged an appeal to the Court of Second Instance of Macau against the

Decision on 14th September, 2012 as disclosed in the announcement

published on the same date.

As set out in the Company’s announcement dated 5th September, 2012,

Moon Ocean received a notice of preliminary hearing (the “Second Hearing

Notice”) from the LPWT regarding certain revision of the terms of the land

concession for the Macau Land and exchange of land approved by the

Chief Executive of Macau in March 2011 (the “2011 Revision”).

(i)

(ii)Moon Ocean
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OTHER INFORMATION AND EVENTS AFTER
THE REPORTING PERIOD (Cont’d)

Administrative Procedures for Repossession of Land in Macau

by Macau Government (Cont’d)

It was stated in the Second Hearing Notice that (i) the Chief Executive of

Macau had approved the initiation of the procedures for declaring the act

of the Chief Executive of Macau in confirming the approval of the 2011

Revision on 9th March, 2011 invalid (the “Second Matter”); and (ii) Moon

Ocean might make written submission on the issues regarding the subject

matter of the above procedures within 15 days from the receipt of the

Second Hearing Notice.

The 2011 Revision mainly involved an increase of residential gross floor

area of the Macau Land from 392,505 to 537,560 square metres and an

exchange of 9 small pieces of land with a total site area of approximately

1,282 square metres initially forming part of the Macau Land for 8 small

pieces of adjacent land with a total site area of approximately 5,204 square

metres. Moon Ocean had paid a premium of approximately MOP642

million (equivalent to approximately HK$624 million) in consideration of

the 2011 Revision.

The Group’s Macau legal adviser made the submission which set out basis

for opposing the Second Matter on 19th September, 2012.

The Group continues seeking legal advice for appropriate legal actions on

the above matters. The outcome of the Matter and the Second Matter are

thus pending for any subsequent decision(s) of the Chief Executive of

Macau or judgment(s) from the court of Macau.

In case of the Decision becoming final, the Group will seek legal advice

for appropriate actions to be taken in respect of La Scala project. The

Group is determined to pursue claims it may have against the Macau

government and/or the Original Owners for compensation for the losses

of the Group.
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COMMUNITY RELATIONS

The Group continued to support meaningful activities in the community,

and to encourage and promote volunteerism throughout the Group.

During the Year, the Group had participated in, among others, the following

community programmes, charitable fundraising activities and voluntary

services, for helping the communities in need, suffering people and children

with special needs:–

• AVS Charity Walk & Run for Volunteering of Agency for Volunteer

Service

• Dress Casual Day, Love Teeth Day, New Territories Walk for Millions

and The Community Chest Green Day of The Community Chest of

Hong Kong

• Dress Pink Day of Hong Kong Cancer Fund

• Hong Kong Island Flag Day and The 21st Great Chefs of Hong Kong

of Heep Hong Society

• Kowloon Flag Day (in-house circulation of flag bags) of Hong Kong

Alzheimer’s Disease Association

• Mai Po Nature Reserve volunteering activity of World Wide Fund –

Hong Kong

• Olympic Day cum Olympic Day Run of Sports Federation & Olympic

Committee of Hong Kong, China

• Oxfam Rice Sale of Oxfam Hong Kong

• Pass-it-On and Red Décor Day of Hong Kong Red Cross

• Promotion activity of Hong Kong Spirit Ambassadors Limited

• Used Book Recycling Campaign and Skip-A-Meal of World Vision

Hong Kong

Moreover, the Group continued to support the Earth Hour of World Wide

Fund – Hong Kong by temporarily switched off the exterior and billboard

lighting of certain properties under the Group, including The ONE,

MassMutual Tower, Harcourt House, Windsor House, Causeway Place and

Gemstar Tower for an hour on the night of 31st March, 2012. To support

global and local conservation efforts of World Wide Fund – Hong Kong,

the Company also joined Corporate Membership Programme in 2012 as

a Gold Member.

•
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COMMUNITY RELATIONS (Cont’d)

The Company was awarded as “Caring Company” in 2012/13, being the

sixth consecutive year, by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service in

recognition of our good corporate citizenship. The Group will continue to

actively participate in various community programmes, charitable activities

and voluntary services.

The Group donated a sum of HK$33 million to the Community Care Fund

(the “Fund”) which is establ ished to provide assistance to the

underprivileged in the community in 2012 and will further donate a sum

of HK$33 million to the Fund in 2013.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is cont inuously committed to maintaining good

communication with shareholders, investors and analysts in order to ensure

their thorough understanding of the Group’s strategies and business

development, thereby enhancing transparency and investor relations.

The Company maintains a Company’s website (www.chineseestates.com)

to make the Company’s information available on the internet, including

the dissemination of statutory announcements and circulars etc., to facilitate

its communication with shareholders and to provide important information

to the investing public on corporate governance structure, policies and

systems, profiles of the Directors and senior executives as well as terms

of reference of Board committees.

The up-to-date information of the Group is available for public access on

the Company’s website. The Company encourages its shareholders

to take advantage of the Company’s website and welcomes suggestions

from investors and shareholders, and invites them to share their

v i e w s  a n d  s u g g e s t i o n s  b y  c o n t a c t i n g  t h e  C o m p a n y  a t

investor.relations@chineseestates.com.

Shareholders can raise their enquiries to the Board or the company

secretary of the Company in writing by sending such written enquiries to

the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong at 26th Floor, MassMutual

Tower, 38 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by email at

investor.relations@chineseestates.com. Shareholders also have right to

raise questions at general meetings.

33,000,000

33,000,000

者

者

者

(www.chineseestates.com)

者

者

 investor.relations@chineseestates.com 

38 26

 investor.relations@chineseestates.com



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

25

PROSPECTS

As the worries on the sovereign debts position in Europe and the fiscal

cliff in the United States have both eased, the global market sentiments

have improved since the start of the year. In addition, with the new leaders

of the Mainland China elected towards the end of last year, it is generally

expected that the economy will open into a new and bright chapter. As a

result of these positive signs, it is anticipated that this year, the economic

growth will be better than last year for Hong Kong, providing good foothold

for investments.

Our shopping malls, including The ONE, Silvercord and Windsor House,

have all reported an influx of customers, bringing strong sales over the

Lunar New Year. Although retail sales slowed in the second half of last

year, it is greatly restored over the last two months, and is expected to

grow over the coming months. Already established as landmarks for locals

and tourists, we expect that our shopping malls will see strong rental income

growth this year.

Meanwhile, our portfolio of offices, including MassMutual Tower, Harcourt

House and Windsor House, has lifted overall occupancy to about 98%. As

the overall economic environment improves, we expect that office demands

will increase, benefiting our office portfolio, leading towards full occupancy

and resulting in surging rental income.

Although the government may continue to increase land supplies and put

forward policies to curb demand, in short to medium term, we are optimistic

that under improved market and low interest rate environments, price

growth for residential properties will be on the positive territory. Our

residential projects, One WanChai, No. 1 South Lane and No. 34 Hill Road,

No. 12 Shiu Fai Terrace and No. 55 Conduit Road are all located on Hong

Kong Island, which is most sought after by buyers.

As for the Mainland China, macro-control measures on housing are

becoming a persistent policy. The Group believes that the objectives of

the macro-control measures put forth by the Central Government are for

the benefits of the long-term sustainable growth and development of the

markets. At present, residential property markets of the major cities have

already staged into stable and healthy developments. As the Central

Government has focused its strategies in urbanising peripheral areas, it is

foreseeable that the economy will resume relatively high growth rates,

leading to an optimistic outlook in mid to long run.

The ONE

者

98%
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PROSPECTS (Cont’d)

We expect to see continuing outstanding sales performance for our two

projects, The Metropolis and Splendid City, in Chengdu. In addition, a new

project, Chinese Estates Plaza, will also commence sales this year. As our

brand name and superb building quality have already been established

with home buyers and investors, we foresee a very satisfactory result will

be achieved.

Overall, the Group sees a promising future in its core businesses for the

year.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the

shareholders for their continuing support. I would also like to express my

sincere thanks to my fellow directors and all staff members for their

dedication and hard work.

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 4th March, 2013
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RESULTS

Continuing Operations

Revenue

Revenue for the Year amounted to HK$2,433.5 million (year ended 31st

December, 2011: HK$527.8 million), an 361.1% increase over last year

and comprised gross rental income HK$1,673.2 million (year ended 31st

December, 2011: HK$1,513.8 million); property sales HK$720.5 million

(year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$189.9 million), loss on sales of

investments held-for-trading on a net basis HK$9.2 million (year ended

31st December, 2011: HK$1,227.6 million) and others HK$49.0 million

(year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$51.7 million). The increase in

revenue was mainly due to the increase in sales of development properties

and decrease in recognised loss on listed securities investments.

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the Year amounted to HK$1,865.0 million (year ended

31st December, 2011: HK$283.3 million), an 558.3% increase as

compared with last year which was mainly due to the decrease in loss of

HK$1,218.4 million from sale of listed securities investments and increase

in profit of HK$205.4 million from property sales.

Property Leasing

For property leasing, the rental revenue in retail section jumped by 15.0%

to HK$1,083.6 million and rental revenue in non-retail section jumped by

3.2% to HK$589.6 million respectively during the Year. The total rental

income in revenue for the Year recorded an increase of 10.5% to

HK$1,673.2 million as compared with 2011 of HK$1,513.8 million.

Together with the attributable rental revenue generated from associates

of HK$217.4 million (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$200.9 million),

the total attributable rental revenue to the Group after non-controlling

interests reached approximately HK$1,887.0 million (year ended 31st

December, 2011: HK$1,710.9 million), which achieved an 10.3% increase

over last year.

Attributable net rental income for the Year showed HK$1,740.6 million,

an 11.4% increase over HK$1,561.8 million in 2011.
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Continuing Operations (Cont’d)

Property Development and Trading

During the Year, the attributable properties sales revenue and the relevant

attributable profit from the Group and its associates recorded a decrease

of 72.2% to HK$949.6 million (year ended 31st December, 2011:

HK$3,419.6 million) and decrease of 59.9% to HK$357.2 million (year

ended 31st December, 2011: HK$891.6 million) respectively.

The Group expects a substantial generation of sales revenue and

recognition of attributable profit in the early of 2013 from the presales of

properties, namely One WanChai in Wanchai (87.5% interest), The

Coronation in West Kowloon (15% interest) as well as the remaining units

of Phase II of Splendid City in Chengdu.

The major components recorded in gross profit are sales of: i-home in Tai

Kok Tsui, City 151 in Kau Pui Lung Road, Phase II of Splendid City and

Phase I of The Metropolis, Chengdu generated a profit of HK$19.8 million,

HK$0.1 million, HK$83.1 million and HK$137.9 million respectively while

MOD 595 in Mongkok recorded a loss of HK$0.2 million and Phase I of

Splendid City, after taking into account of an underprovision of construction

costs of HK$7.5 million, resulting in a loss of HK$5.3 million (year ended

31st December, 2011: profits on sales of MOD 595 of HK$4.2 million, i-

home of HK$11.3 million, York Place in Wanchai of HK$38.5 million and

loss on sale of Phase I of Splendid City of HK$21.7 million).

Parking spaces at The Zenith in Wanchai (87.5% interest) sold during the

Year had contributed an attributable profit to the Group of HK$6.4 million

(year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$6.0 million).

In respect of properties held by associates, The Hermitage in West Kowloon

(25% interest), Indihome in Tsuen Wan (50% interest), Hing Wai Centre

in Aberdeen (50% interest), Kwong Kin Trade Centre in Tuen Mun (40%

interest), Greenville Residence in Yuen Long (50% interest) and Villa

Carlton in Cheung Sha Wan (50% interest) and Shiu Fai Terrace in Stubbs

Road (50% interest) generated profit of HK$17.8 million, HK$89.3 million,

HK$6.8 million, HK$0.9 million, HK$0.2 million, HK$0.3 million and HK$0.1

million respectively (year ended 31st December, 2011: The Hermitage of

HK$834.6 million, Hing Wai Centre of HK$1.6 million, Kwong Kin Trade

Centre of HK$0.4 million and Villa Carlton of HK$0.2 million) as reflected

in the share of results of associates. For the year ended 31st December,

2011, the sale of Parc Palais in Homantin (10% interest) contributed of

HK$16.5 million to investment income.
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Continuing Operations (Cont’d)

Property Development and Trading (Cont’d)

During the Year, the forfeited deposits received for Splendid City of HK$0.4

million (year ended 31st December, 2011: Splendid City of HK$0.1 million

and The Metropolis of HK$0.1 million) was recorded in other income.

At 31st December, 2012, deposits received from stock of properties

contracted to be sold and revenue to be recognised in 2013 amounted to

HK$2,621.1 million. Of which, HK$321.2 million deposits was received

from Phase II of Splendid City, with average selling price of approximately

Renminbi (“RMB”) 0.9 million per unit. The presale recorded for Phase II

of Splendid City was 486 units of RMB419.8 million (equivalent to

approximately HK$522.2 million). Besides, the presale recorded for One

WanChai as at 31st December, 2012 was 193 units of HK$1,970.4 million,

with average selling price of approximately HK$16,000 per square foot,

and the attributable interest of sales to the Group was HK$1,724.1 million.

Revenue and profit from sales of both Phase II of Splendid City and One

WanChai are expected to be recognised in 2013. The presale recorded for

The Coronation was 738 units and the attributable interest of sales to the

Group was HK$1,450.9 million.

The presale recorded of La Scala in Macau was 302 units of HK$3,825.3

million with deposits received of HK$383.9 million.

In summary, the Group together with associates and an investee company,

executed properties sale agreements, including presale agreements, to

third parties and connected persons (as disclosed in Directors’ Report

section under the heading of “Connected Transactions” of this annual

report) with an attributable amount contracted sales of HK$7,667.8 million

(including La Scala) (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$1,176.4

million) during the Year. Total attributable property sale profit recognised

for the Year was HK$357.2 million (year ended 31st December, 2011:

HK$891.6 million).
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Continuing Operations (Cont’d)

Securities Investments

Under the low interest environment, the Group has closely managed the

securities investments with a view to yield enhancement. During the Year,

the Group recorded a realised loss of HK$9.2 million (year ended 31st

December, 2011: HK$1,227.6 million) on disposal of listed investments

held-for-trading (the loss of which was included in revenue) with gross

proceeds of HK$1,489.4 million (year ended 31st December, 2011:

HK$4,956.7 million). In addition, a realised gain from sale of bonds of

HK$275.7 million (year ended 31st December, 2011: loss of HK$21.0

million) was recognised. The net realised gain for the Year was HK$266.5

million (year ended 31st December, 2011: net realised loss of HK$1,248.6

million).

Furthermore, the Group recorded an unrealised gain of HK$1,307.3 million

(year ended 31st December, 2011: unrealised loss of HK$1,368.3 million)

representing the changes in fair value of listed securities and bonds, which

had no effect to the cash flow of the Group.

During both years, there was no acquisition and disposal on listed equity

securities included in available-for-sale investments.

Summing up the above and adding the net income from dividend, interest

income, other investment income and other finance costs of HK$843.2

million (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$646.0 million), the gain

recognised on securities investments was HK$2,417.0 million (year ended

31st December, 2011: loss of HK$1,970.9 million).

The respective income/expense from securities investments under different

categories are further elaborated below.

Listed Available-for-sale Equity Investments

The Group had not acquired and disposed any listed available-for-sale

equity investments for the years of 2012 and 2011.
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Continuing Operations (Cont’d)

Securities Investments (Cont’d)

Listed Investments Held-for-trading and Treasury Products

The listed investments held-for-trading and treasury products recorded a

profit before or after finance costs of HK$2,441.3 million (year ended

31st December, 2011: loss of HK$1,924.8 million) and HK$2,417.0 million

(year ended 31st December, 2011: loss of HK$1,970.9 million) respectively

for the Year.

Profit (2011: loss) from the listed investments held-for-trading reflected

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the Year

comprised a gross loss totaling HK$9.2 million (year ended 31st December,

2011: HK$1,227.6 million), an unrealised gain on fair value changes

amounted to HK$1,307.3 million (year ended 31st December, 2011:

unrealised loss of HK$1,368.3 million), a realised gain on bonds of

HK$275.7 million (year ended 31st December, 2011: realised loss of

HK$21.0 million) and dividend, interest income and other investment

income of HK$867.5 million (year ended 31st December, 2011: dividend

and interest income of HK$692.1 million). Net relevant finance costs for

the Year of HK$24.3 million (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$46.1

million) including interest expense of HK$33.8 million but after exchange

gain of HK$9.5 million (year ended 31st December, 2011: interest expense

of HK$26.2 million, exchange loss of HK$7.9 million and other finance

cost of HK$12.0 million).

Unlisted Securities Investment

On 5th September, 2012, Loyal Pride Limited (“Vendor”), an indirect

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with

Dynamic Grand Limited (“Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Purchaser

agreed to acquire and the Vendor agreed to dispose 49% of entire issued

share capital of Grandday at a total consideration of US$500.0 million

(equivalent to approximately HK$3,878.5 million) (“Grandday Disposal”)

which was satisfied upon completion by way of (i) cash as to US$200.0

million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,551.4 million); and (ii) the

issuance of the Loan Note by the Purchaser to the Vendor in the principal

amount of US$300.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,327.1

million) (“Loan Note”). The Grandday Disposal was completed on 7th

September, 2012 which resulting in a realised loss of HK$10.5 million

(year ended 31st December 2011: nil) included in investment income,

net for the Year.
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Continuing Operations (Cont’d)

Other Income and Expenses

Other income mainly comes from net building management fee income

and management and maintenance service income decreased to HK$78.7

million (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$255.1 million (restated)),

representing a decrease of 69.1% as compared with last year. Other income

for the Year also included interest income from the Loan Note of HK$15.0

million (year ended 31st December, 2011: nil). Arrangement fee income

of HK$195.0 million included in the other income of last year primarily

accounted for the decrease for the Year.

During the Year, administrative expenses increased by 3.2% to HK$281.8

million (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$273.1 million (restated)),

costs of development recognised in respect of property project in Macau

of HK$694.7 million arose from the administrative procedures for

repossession of land in Macau by Macau Government (year ended 31st

December, 2011: nil) and finance costs increased by 4.3% to HK$344.8

million (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$330.7 million), net of

exchange gain of HK$9.5 million (year ended 31st December, 2011:

exchange loss of HK$7.9 million) on foreign currency loan hedged for

foreign currency securities investments.

Other gains and losses recorded a net gain of HK$235.3 million, mainly

comprised of gain on disposal of G-Prop of HK$107.0 million and

revaluation of stock of properties upon transfer to investment properties

of HK$129.0 million (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$78.3 million

including reversal of provision for construction cost on contingency claims

made in prior years of HK$16.1 million and gain on disposal of a subsidiary

to a connected person of HK$66.8 million).
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Continuing Operations (Cont’d)

Disposals of Listed Subsidiaries

On 16th June, 2012, Mass Rise Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary

of the Company (“First Vendor”) and Asian Kingdom Limited, a company

indirectly wholly-owned by a controlling shareholder and Director of the

Company (“Second Vendor”), being vendors, have entered into a sale

and purchase agreement pursuant to which an independent third party

agreed to purchase a total of 1,512,059,473 shares in G-Prop (“G-Prop

Shares”) at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$423.7 million

(of which approximately HK$285.3 million was paid to the First Vendor

and approximately HK$138.3 million was paid to the Second Vendor). G-

Prop Shares represented (i) all the shares of G-Prop held by the Group

and the Second Vendor; and (ii) approximately 62.26% of the entire issued

share capital of G-Prop with approximately 41.93% held by the Group

and approximately 20.33% held by the Second Vendor (“G-Prop Disposal”).

The G-Prop Disposal was completed on 6th August, 2012. Details of the

G-Prop Disposal were disclosed in the announcement of the Company

dated 17th June, 2012.

On 5th December, 2012, (i) Billion Up Limited (“Billion Up”), an indirect

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (ii) the Company, being the

guarantor of Billion Up; and (iii) a third party independent of and not

connected with the Company and its connected persons, purchaser of

Chi Cheung (“Purchaser of Chi Cheung”), entered into a sale and purchase

agreement pursuant to which Billion Up agreed to sell and the Purchaser

of Chi Cheung agreed to purchase the shares of Chi Cheung held by the

Group, representing approximately 61.96% of the entire issued share

capital of Chi Cheung (“Chi Cheung Disposal”). The Chi Cheung Disposal

was completed on 6th February, 2013. Details of the Chi Cheung Disposal

were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5th December,

2012.

Associates

The share of results of associates for the Year was a profit of HK$580.0

million as compared to HK$1,241.7 million for last year, which was mainly

due to the decrease in recognition on attributable profit from sale of The

Hermitage from HK$834.6 million to HK$17.8 million and increase in

recognition on attributable profit from sale of Indihome HK$89.3 million

(year ended 31st December, 2011: nil).
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Continuing Operations (Cont’d)

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

Investment properties of the Group in Hong Kong and Mainland China

were revalued at 31st December, 2012, by B.I. Appraisals Limited (“B.I.

Appraisals”) whereas the investment property in the United Kingdom was

revalued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited (“Peak Vision Appraisals”). Both

B.I. Appraisals and Peak Vision Appraisals are independent property valuers.

An increase in fair value of HK$6,109.0 million (year ended 31st December,

2011: HK$2,959.6 million) was recorded during the Year mainly as a

result of the upturn of the properties markets in Hong Kong and Mainland

China. This unrealised fair value gain will not affect the cash flow of the

Group.

Discontinued Operation

The business segment of “floating rate and fixed rate notes” on available-

for-sale investments was discontinued during the Year as a result of the

G-Prop Disposal and Chi Cheung Disposal (as disclosed in the paragraph

“Disposals of Listed Subsidiaries” above). Details of the discontinued

operation are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements

for the Year.

PROFIT, CORE PROFIT, DIVIDENDS,
REPURCHASE AND CASH PAYMENT RATIO

Continuing and Discontinued Operations

Profit

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was HK$9,794.9

million as compared to HK$3,497.8 million for last year. The increase in

profit for the Year was mainly due to (i) the increase in fair value gain on

investment properties, (ii) fair value gain of bonds as opposed to a fair

value loss for last year, (iii) the decrease in loss of sale of listed investments

held-for-trading; and (iv) the increase in interest income from bonds.

Earnings per share for the Year was HK$5.14 (year ended 31st December,

2011: HK$1.83).
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PROFIT, CORE PROFIT, DIVIDENDS,
REPURCHASE AND CASH PAYMENT RATIO
(Cont’d)

Continuing and Discontinued Operations (Cont’d)

Core Profit

If the net gain on the major non-cash items of HK$5,815.8 million (year

ended 31st December, 2011: HK$3,283.3 million) are excluded, the Group

will have a core profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year

of HK$3,979.1 million (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$214.5

million) and a core earnings per share of HK208.6 cents (year ended

31st December, 2011: HK11.2 cents), which were both 18.6 times to

those of 2011.

The major non-cash items were fair value gain on investment properties,

gain on revaluation of stock of properties together with their respective

deferred tax and costs of development recognised in respect of property

project in Macau totaling HK$5,815.8 million (year ended 31st December,

2011: HK$3,283.3 million).

Dividends

Final dividend of HK1 cent (year ended 31st December, 2010: HK1 cent)

per share in total amount of HK$19.1 million for the year ended 31st

December, 2011 was paid in cash on 13th June, 2012.

Interim dividend of HK1 cent (half year ended 30th June, 2011: HK1

cent) per share in total amount of HK$19.1 million for the half year ended

30th June, 2012 was paid in cash on 13th September 2012.

Total dividends of HK$38.2 million were paid in cash during the Year.

Special interim dividend of HK$1 (year ended 31st December, 2011: nil)

was declared by the Board on 25th January, 2013 and was paid on 22nd

February, 2013.

Repurchase

During the Year, the Company had not repurchased any of the Company’s

share.
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PROFIT, CORE PROFIT, DIVIDENDS,
REPURCHASE AND CASH PAYMENT RATIO
(Cont’d)

Continuing and Discontinued Operations (Cont’d)

Cash Payment Ratio

Based on (a) the core profit for the Year of HK$3,979.1 million (year

ended 31st December, 2011: HK$214.5 million) or HK208.6 cents (year

ended 31st December, 2011: HK11.2 cents) per share; and (b) cash final

dividend of HK20 cents (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK1 cent)

per share proposed and interim dividend of HK1 cent (half year ended

30th June, 2011: HK1 cent) per share was paid during the Year; and

(c) special interim dividend HK$1.0 (year ended 31st December, 2011:

nil) per share was declared and paid subsequent to the year end date, the

ratio of such cash payment to the core profit is 58.0% (year ended

31st December, 2011: 17.9%).

NET ASSET VALUE

As at 31st December, 2012, the Group’s total net asset to owners of the

Company amounted to approximately HK$45,546.5 million (31st

December, 2011: HK$35,651.3 million), an increase of HK$9,895.2 million

or 27.8% when compared with 31st December, 2011. With the total

number of ordinary shares in issue of 1,907,619,079 as at 31st December,

2012 (31st December, 2011: 1,907,619,079 shares), the net asset value

per share to owners of the Company was HK$23.88, an increase of 27.8%

over 31st December, 2011 (HK$18.69 per share). The movement in net

asset value was mainly due to (a) total comprehensive income for the

Year attributable to owners of the Company of HK$9,931.3 million; and

(b) payment of final dividend and interim dividend both of HK$19.1 million.

There was no transaction on the listed equity securities investments

categorised as available-for-sales investments for the Year. The carrying

amounts of the listed equity securities investments reserve as at 31st

December, 2012 and 31st December, 2011 were nil.

Other than the G-Prop Disposal, Chi Cheung Disposal (completed on 6th

February, 2013), the existing projects and those disclosed in the annual

results, the Group did not have material acquisition or disposal of assets

and any future plans for material investment or capital assets.
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SECURITIES INVESTMENTS

As at 31st December, 2011, the carrying amount of the listed securities

investments and treasury products was HK$5,741.5 million. During the

Year, the portfolio was increased by a net purchase of HK$3,677.1 million.

After adding the fair value gain of HK$1,307.3 million for the Year, the

listed securities investments portfolio of the Group became HK$10,725.9

million as at 31st December, 2012 representing 14.4% of total assets,

which formed part of the Group’s cash management activities.

As at 31st December, 2012, the portfolio of HK$10,725.9 million (31st

December, 2011: HK$5,741.5 million) comprised (a) equity securities

(investment held-for-trading) of HK$156.3 million (31st December, 2011:

HK$514.9 million) and (b) bonds (financial assets designated as at fair

value through profit or loss) of HK$10,569.6 million (31st December,

2011: HK$5,226.6 million).

Unlisted Equity Securities

During the year, the Group had disposed the unlisted equity securities

mainly consisted of 49% of the entire issued share capital of Grandday

with carrying amount of US$500 million (equivalent to approximately

HK$3,889.0 million) (31st December, 2011: approximately HK$3,889.0

million), which indirectly held the land located at the southeast exterior of

Yin Xing Ken District, Yinyang Town, Qidong, Jiangsu Province, the People’s

Republic of China. Details of the transaction were set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 5th September, 2012.

Notes Held by Listed Subsidiaries

Decrease for the Year mainly represented the floating rate notes which

were disposed of with the G-Prop Disposal. As at 31st December, 2012,

the carrying amount of the fixed rate notes amounted to HK$98.1 million

held by Chi Cheung was classified as assets held-for-sale as a result of the

Chi Cheung Disposal.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has established adequate risk management procedures that

enable it to identify, measure, monitor and control various types of risk it

faces. This is supplemented by active management involvement, effective

internal controls and adequate internal audit in the best interests of the

Group.
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EQUITY

The number of issued ordinary shares as at 31st December, 2012 and

31st December, 2011 were 1,907,619,079.

DEBT AND GEARING

As at 31st December, 2012, the Group’s bank and other borrowings

amounted to HK$23,507.6 million (31st December, 2011: HK$22,690.7

million). Cash and deposits at banks (excluding time deposits and bank

balances classified as assets held-for-sale) amounted to HK$4,786.5 million

(31st December, 2011: HK$4,268.5 million), pledged deposits amounted

to HK$2,232.5 million (31st December, 2011: HK$1,705.0 million) and

net borrowings amounted to HK$16,488.6 million (31st December, 2011:

HK$16,717.2 million).

Total debt to equity ratio was 51.1% (31st December, 2011: 62.4%) and

net debt to equity ratio was 35.9% (31st December, 2011: 46.0%), which

are expressed as a percentage of total borrowings and net borrowings

respectively, over the total equity of HK$45,978.3 million (31st December,

2011: HK$36,368.0 million). The decrease of total debt to equity ratio

and net debt to equity ratio were mainly due to the increase in total equity.

However, if the listed securities investments and treasury products of

HK$10,725.9 million (31st December, 2011: HK$5,741.5 million) are

included, the net debt to equity ratio will be 12.5% (31st December,

2011: 30.2%).

As at 31st December, 2012, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were

denominated in Hong Kong dollar (51.6%), United States dollar (28.2%),

Pound Sterling (“GBP”) (13.9%) and RMB (6.3%). Of the Group’s bank

and other borrowings of HK$23,507.6 million, 60.3%, 1.0% and 38.7%

were repayable within 1 year, 1 to 2 years and 2 to 5 years respectively.

United States dollar investment securities were hedged by United States

dollar borrowings. The Group’s bank and other borrowings in Hong Kong

dollars and United States dollars were carried at interest rates calculated

mainly with reference to HIBOR/cost of funds; bank borrowings in Pound

Sterling were effectively carried at fixed rate; and bank borrowings in

Renminbi were carried at interest rates calculated with reference to

borrowing rates quoted by Peoples’ Bank of China. As at 31st December,

2012, about 86.2% of the Group’s borrowing were on floating rate basis

and 13.8% were on fixed rate basis. No hedging for interest rate is subsisted

at the end of the reporting period.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31st December, 2012, the Group had pledged the following assets:

(a) The Group’s investment properties, properties and other fixed assets,

stock of properties and time deposits with their respective carrying

amount of approximately HK$39,283.9 million (31st December,

2011: HK$32,981.7 million), HK$481.9 million (31st December,

2011: HK$485.1 million), nil (31st December, 2011: HK$2,626.3

million) and HK$426.6 million (31st December, 2011: HK$411.6

million) were pledged to the Group’s bankers to secure general

banking and loan facilities granted to the Group.

(b) The Group’s investments held-for-trading and bonds with carrying

amount of approximately HK$10,706.6 million (31st December,

2011: HK$5,741.3 million) and cash deposit of approximately

HK$1,806.0 million (31st December, 2011: HK$1,293.4 million)

were pledged to the Group’s financial institutions to secure margin

and securities facilities granted to the Group in respect of securities

transactions, of which approximately HK$6,796.7 million (31st

December, 2011: HK$3,300.7 million) was utilised as at 31st

December, 2012 as borrowings due within one year.

(c) Interests in certain subsidiaries of the Company have been pledged

as part of the security to secure certain bank borrowings granted to

the Group.

(d) The Group has subordinated and assigned its advances to associates

of approximately HK$1,567.5 million (31st December, 2011:

advances to associates and an investee company of HK$1,920.0

million) to financial institutions to secure general banking credit

facilities granted to the associates (31st December, 2011: granted

to associates and an investee company).

(a) 39,283,900,000
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REPURCHASE GUARANTEE

Certain mortgagee banks have provided end-user financing to purchasers

of Splendid City and The Metropolis and the Group has provided repurchase

guarantees to these mortgagee banks for securing the obligations of such

purchasers for repayments. Such guarantees will be terminated upon the

earlier of (i) issuance of the real estate ownership certificate which will

generally be available within one year upon the completion of guarantee

registration; or (ii) the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by the purchasers of

properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage

payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the

outstanding mortgage principals together with any accrued interest and

penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the mortgagee banks.

The total outstanding amount of repurchase guarantee as at 31st

December, 2012 was RMB243.2 million (equivalent to approximately

HK$302.6 million) (31st December, 2011: RMB76.7 million (equivalent

to approximately HK$94.4 million)) and disclosed in the contingent

liabilities.

FINANCIAL AND INTEREST INCOME/
EXPENSES

Continuing and Discontinued Operations

Interest income was included in revenue, other income and investment

income. Interest income for the Year was HK$993.8 million, representing

an increase of 27.4% from that of 31st December, 2011 (excluding

imputed interest income) of HK$779.8 million.

Finance costs included interest expenses on bank and other loans,

exchange difference on foreign currency loans, arrangement fee and facility

and commitment fee expenses. Interest expenses for the Year amounted

to HK$313.9 million, representing an 13.6% increase over the interest

expenses of HK$276.4 million (excluding imputed interest expenses)

recorded for last year. The increase in interest expenses was mainly due

to the increase in bank loans and interest rate during the Year. Interest

capitalised for the Year was HK$117.1 million as compared to HK$64.9

million for last year. The average interest rate over the year under review

was 1.78% (year ended 31st December, 2011: 1.43%), which was

expressed as a percentage of total interest paid over the average total

borrowings.

(i)

(ii) 者
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REMUNERATION POLICIES, SHARE OPTION
SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD SCHEME

As at 31st December, 2012, the Group employed a total of 711 staff in

Hong Kong (31st December, 2011: 691 staff), including about 336 staff

(31st December, 2011: 344 staff) employed under the estate management

company in Hong Kong. Besides, there was a total of 357 staff (31st

December, 2011: 195 staff) in the offices at Mainland China and Macau,

including about 193 staff (31st December, 2011: 101 staff) of the estate

management company in Chengdu.

Employees were remunerated on the basis of their performance,

experience and prevailing industry practice. Remuneration packages

comprised salary and year-end discretionary bonus based on market

conditions and individual performance. The Executive Directors continued

to review employees’ contributions and to provide them with necessary

incentives and flexibility for their better commitment and performance.

No share option scheme was adopted during the Year.

The Company had adopted a share award scheme (“Scheme”) in 2009.

The Scheme is to recognise and reward certain employees for their

contributions to the Group and to give long-term incentives for retaining

them for the continual operations and development of the Group. Details

of the Scheme were set out in the Company’s circular dated 23rd

December, 2008. No share was granted under the Scheme during the

Year.

MAINLAND CHINA AND UNITED KINGDOM

Profit contribution from the Group’s investment in Mainland China (mainly

included in gross profit, fair value changes on investment properties, share

of results of associates and taxation) for the Year amounted to HK$510.4

million (year ended 31st December, 2011: HK$206.9 million). The Group’s

net investment in Mainland China as at 31st December, 2012 amounted

to HK$16,939.0 million (31st December, 2011: HK$12,187.7 million)

representing approximately 36.8% of the Group’s total equity.

Further, the Group’s investment property in the United Kingdom with

carrying amount of GBP285.9 million as at 31st December, 2012

(equivalent to HK$3,582.0 million) contributed a profit of HK$82.0 million

to the Group for the Year. As at 31st December, 2012, the Group’s net

investment in the United Kingdom amounted to HK$640.8 million

representing approximately 1.4% of the Group’s total equity.
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LISTED SUBSIDIARY

At the end of the reporting period, the Group owned 61.96% interest in

Chi Cheung, a listed subsidiary. As disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements, the disposal of the Group’s entire interest in Chi

Cheung was completed on 6th February, 2013.

PROPERTY VALUATION

A property valuation has been carried out by B.I. Appraisals, independent

qualified professional valuers, in respect of the Group’s investment

properties in Hong Kong and Mainland China as at 31st December, 2012

and 31st December, 2011. For the investment property in the United

Kingdom, the valuation as at 31st December, 2012 and 31st December,

2011 was carried out by Peak Vision Appraisals, another independent

qualified professional valuer. Their valuations were based on investment

method and/or direct comparison method as the valuation methodologies

and were used in preparing 2012 final results.

The Group’s investment properties were valued at HK$41,972.8 million

(31st December, 2011: HK$34,484.5 million) an 21.7% increase over

2011 after adjusted for the additions, disposals, transfer from stock of

properties and reclassification of investment properties during the Year.

The increase in fair value of approximately HK$6,109.0 million was

recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the Year. The Group also shared an increase in fair value of investment

properties of associates of HK$377.9 million (adjusted deferred tax expense

of HK$32.0 million) for the Year. Development properties and non-

investment properties of the Group were stated at cost less impairment, if

any, in the consolidated financial statements. Investment property under

development at Chinese Estates Plaza, Chengdu was stated at cost of

HK$3,260.7 million will be carried at fair value, until the earlier of the date

when their fair value first become reliably measurable or the date of the

completion of the properties.

The increase in fair value of HK$6,109.0 million or 21.7% was mainly

attributable to the Group’s three major investment properties, namely

Silvercord, The ONE and Windsor House, which after adjusted the additions

during the Year, recorded an increase of HK$1,668.4 million (or 26.0%),

HK$1,186.9 million (or 22.5%) and HK$1,693.3 million (or 20.2%)

respectively. The three properties have in aggregate shown an increase of

HK$4,548.6 million or 74.5% of the total increase. Such increase has

reflected an upturn in the property markets of Hong Kong and Mainland

China for the Year. Rental renewals of these three properties for the Year

have shown a remarkable increase over the end of 2011.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) and management

of the Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are committed

to principles of good corporate governance so as to safeguard the interests

of shareholders and enhance shareholder value.

Throughout the year ended 31st December, 2012 (the “Year”), the

Company had applied the principles and complied with the code provisions

(the “Code Provisions”) and certain recommended best practices set out

in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (effective until 31st March,

2012) and the Corporate Governance Code (effective from 1st April, 2012)

(collectively, the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing

the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

(the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), except for the following

deviations:–

Deviations

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung (“Mr. Joseph Lau”) acts as both the Chairman

(the “Chairman”) and Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) of the Company

since December 2006. The Board considers that this structure will not

impair the balance of power and authority of the Board. At present, the

Board also believes that under the leadership of Mr. Joseph Lau as the

Chairman and the CEO, the Board’s decision could be made effectively

and it is beneficial to the management and development of the Group’s

businesses. The Board would still consider segregation of the roles of the

Chairman and the CEO if and when appropriate.

Directors’ Insurance

The Company had arranged insurance cover in respect of legal action against

its Directors for years and the latest policy was expired in August 2012.

During the negotiation process of renewing the latest policy, it was found

that the premium has been increased substantially and as such, the latest

policy has not been renewed upon expiry. The Company has been in

continuous dialogue with various insurance brokers and insurance companies

to source competitive premium quotations and would arrange for appropriate

insurance coverage accordingly as soon as practicable.

Chairman Attending Annual General Meeting

Mr. Joseph Lau, the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the annual

general meeting of the Company held on 25th May, 2012 (the “2012 AGM”)

as he had a business engagement. Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai, the chairman of

Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee, was elected as the

chairman of the 2012 AGM to ensure effective communication with

shareholders of the Company at such meeting. The chairman of Nomination

Committee, Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping had attended the 2012 AGM.

2012

2012

2012
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THE BOARD

Board Composition and Attendance Record of Directors

The Board currently comprises four Executive Directors, two Non-executive

Directors (the “NED(s)”) and three Independent Non-executive Directors

(the “INED(s)”), with INEDs representing one-third of the Board. Names

of each member of the Board and their respective attendance at regular

Board meetings, ad hoc Board meetings, Board Committee meetings,

Special Committee meetings and general meeting are set out below:–

Attendance Record of Directors 

No. of meetings attended/held (Percentage of attendance in total) 

Regular Ad hoc Audit Remuneration Nomination Special

Board  Board Committee Committee Committee Committee

Meeting Meeting ▲ Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting 2012 AGM

2012

Name of Directors  ▲

Executive Directors

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung 3/4   (75%) 1/5   (20%) N/A N/A N/A N/A Absent

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Chan, Sze-wan* * 2/2 (100%) 1/2   (50%) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Lam, Kwong-wai* * 2/2 (100%) 2/2 (100%) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Ms. Lui, Lai-kwan** ** 1/2   (50%) 0/1     (0%) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai 3/4   (75%) 2/5   (40%) N/A N/A N/A N/A Absent

 (Vice Chairman)

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai 4/4 (100%) 3/5   (60%) N/A N/A N/A N/A Absent

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai 4/4 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 2/2 (100%) 4/4 (100%) 1/1 (100%)

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping 3/4   (75%) 5/5 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 2/2 (100%) 4/4 (100%) 1/1 (100%)

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun 4/4 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 2/2 (100%) 4/4 (100%) 1/1 (100%)

* Appointed on 12th June, 2012
** Appointed on 13th July, 2012
▲ To avoid conflict of interest, some of the Directors were absent at several

ad hoc Board meetings that they were required to abstain from voting.

The List of Directors and Their Roles and Function has been maintained at

the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Directors’

biographies and the relationship among the Board members, if any, are

set out in the “Profiles of Directors” of this annual report and available on

the Company’s website. Save as disclosed in such profiles, there is no

financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship among

the Directors.

*
**
▲
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THE BOARD (Cont’d)

Responsibilities of Directors

The NEDs and INEDs with diversified expertise, skills and experience play

an important role on formulating strategy and ensuring that the Board

maintains high standards of corporate governance as well as taking the

lead where potential conflict of interests arise. The Board has received

from each INED a written annual confirmation of his/her independence

and satisfied that the independence of INEDs up to the date of this report

is in accordance with the Listing Rules.

On monthly basis, senior management provides the Directors with

operational and financial reports of the Group’s performance, position

and prospects. All Directors are kept informed of and duly briefed of major

changes and information that may affect the Group’s businesses in a timely

manner. During the Year under review, site visit to the Group’s development

project in Macau was arranged for the INEDs.

Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional advice in

performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to

access and consult with the Company’s senior management or the

company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) independently.

Directors’ Training and Support

The Company encourages its Directors to possess up to date knowledge

in order to discharge their duties. Information regarding major changes in

Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Listing Rules as well as other laws/

rules/regulations had been provided to Directors.

During the Year, the Company has arranged a training session regarding

the disclosure on price-sensitive information; update on Directors’ roles

and responsibilities; and roles and obligations of INEDs for the Directors.

The training was delivered by lawyers at the expense of the Company. On

the other hand, Directors had provided training records they received to

the Company from time to time. A summary of the training attended by

the Directors during the Year are as follows:–

/ /
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Training Matters 

Corporate Accounting/

Governance Regulatory Finance

Name of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung b b –

Ms. Chan, Sze-wan a a –

Mr. Lam, Kwong-wai a a –

Ms. Lui, Lai-kwan a a –

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai a a –

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai a a –

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai a a a

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping a a & b –

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun a a a

Note:–
Training Method
a: attending training session / seminar
b: self-reading

The Board considered the trainings attended by the Directors are sufficient

to discharge their duties.

Retirement by Rotation and Specific Term of Office

The Company’s Bye-laws provides that no Director (save for the executive

chairman and any managing director) shall hold office for a continuous

period in excess of three years, or past the third annual general meeting,

following the Directors’ appointment or re-election, whichever is longer,

without submitting himself/herself for re-election by the shareholders at

the annual general meetings. Accordingly, Directors (save for the executive

chairman and any managing director) shall retire by rotation at least once

every three years and a specific term of office has been fixed for

appointment of Directors (save for the executive chairman and any

managing director).

THE BOARD (Cont’d)

Directors’ Training and Support (Cont’d)

a:
b:

者
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THE BOARD (Cont’d)

Retirement by Rotation and Specific Term of Office (Cont’d)

However, according to the Private Act for incorporating the Company as

an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda in 1989, it is stipulated

that the executive chairman and any managing director should not be

required to retire by rotation. In order to comply with the Code Provisions,

the Chairman and CEO of the Company is willing to voluntarily retire from

his directorship at future annual general meetings of the Company at least

once every three years, and being eligible, will offer himself for re-election

at the relevant annual general meetings.

Every Director will therefore retire either by rotation under the Company’s

Bye-laws or voluntarily at least once every three years and will subject

himself/herself to the absolute and free choice of the shareholders for re-

election at the relevant annual general meetings.

Board Meetings

The Board met regularly throughout the Year to discuss the overall strategy,

the operational and financial performance of the Group. Four regular Board

meetings and five ad hoc Board meetings were held during the Year.

Advance notices of not less than fourteen days were served upon each

Director for regular Board meetings. All accompanying Board papers were

sent to the Directors in a timely manner and at least three days before the

meetings (or such other period as agreed). Adequate explanation and

information were given to the Directors by the management to facilitate

the Directors in decision-making. Each Director has to declare his/her

interest and abstain from voting on any Board resolution in which he/she

or any of his/her associates has a material interest in accordance with the

Bye-laws of the Company and the Listing Rules.

The agenda of each Board meeting is set by the Chairman in consultation

with members of the Board such that they are given an opportunity to

include agenda items. Draft and executed Board minutes were sent in

good time to all Directors for their comment and record respectively.

Minutes of the Board meetings recorded in sufficient details were kept by

the Company Secretary.
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THE BOARD (Cont’d)

Board and Management Functions

The functions reserved to the Board are basically provided in the Bye-laws

of the Company and the Board from time to time delegates certain

functions to senior management whenever required. In short, the Board

has reserved for its decision on matters relating to the Group’s strategy,

major acquisitions and disposals, major capital expenditure, annual and

interim results, Directors’ appointment and other significant financial and

operational issues.

On top of daily business operation, senior management is responsible for

the preparation of annual and interim consolidated financial statements

for the Board’s approval, execution of business strategies and initiatives

adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate system of internal

control and sound risk management practices and is required to report to

the Board and obtain its prior approval on important matters at all times.

Notwithstanding the delegation, the Directors acknowledge that it is the

responsibility of the Board for preparing the financial statements, which

give a true and fair view of the financial results of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee

and Nomination Committee (collectively, the “Board Committees”) with

clear written terms of reference which are of no less exacting terms than

those set out in the Code. Details of the respective committee’s terms of

reference are available at the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s

websites. All the INEDs of the Company, i.e. Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai, Ms.

Phillis Loh, Lai-ping and Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun are members of the Board

Committees with Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai acts as chairman of the Audit

Committee and the Remuneration Committee while Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-

ping acts as chairman of the Nomination Committee. Two members of

the Audit Committee possess appropriate professional qualifications,

accounting or related financial management expertise, which is higher

than the Listing Rules’ requirement.

All accompanying meeting papers were sent to the members in a timely

manner and at least three days before the meetings (or such other period

as agreed). Draft and executed minutes of the meetings were sent in

good time to all members for their comment and record respectively.

Minutes of the meetings recorded in sufficient details were kept by the

Company Secretary. Professional advice and sufficient resources would

be given whenever necessary to allow the Board Committees to discharge

their duties.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Audit Committee

Role and Function

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Group’s corporate

governance, financial reporting, internal control and risk management. It

plays an advisory role and makes relevant recommendations to the Board.

It had been delegated by the Board to perform the corporate governance

functions specified in Code Provisions D.3.1 (a) to (e) with effect from

1st April, 2012.

Meetings

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the Year, with the presence

of the representative(s) of the Group’s internal audit department (the

“Internal Audit Department”) in those meetings involving discussion on

internal audit reports prepared by Internal Audit Department. Senior

management was co-opted to join the meetings of the Audit Committee

to explain the financial and business conditions of the Group to the

committee members from time to time.

Works Performed

The works performed by the Audit Committee in the Year are summarised

below:–

(1) reviewed the Group’s final and interim results and draft consolidated

financial statements for the year ended 31st December, 2011 and

for the six months ended 30th June, 2012 respectively before

recommending them to the Board for approval, with the presence

of the Company’s external auditor (the “Independent Auditor”) in

the meeting reviewing final results;

(2) reviewed the overall performance including the performance of

investment properties and development properties of the Group;

(3) reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the

Group and the requirements of the Listing Rules and statutory

compliance;

(4) reviewed the Group’s internal control, risk management, financial

reporting and auditing matters;

D.3.1(a) (e)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Audit Committee (Cont’d)

Works Performed (Cont’d)

(5) reviewed and discussed significant audit findings in a meeting with

the presence of Independent Auditor;

(6) prepared and submitted to the Board an audit committee report

detailing the works performed by the Audit Committee during 2011,

presented its findings and made recommendations for consideration

by the Board;

(7) carried out annual review on the continuing connected transactions

of the Group;

(8) reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience

of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function,

and their training programmes and budget;

(9) reviewed the nature and scope of the annual audit and reporting

obligations of the Independent Auditor for the Year; reviewed and

approved the terms of engagement letters; fees for audit and non-

audit services for the Year;

(10) reviewed the arrangement for employees to raise concerns about

possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other

related matters and adopted a set of such written arrangement for

the Group;

(11) reviewed and discussed internal audit reports prepared by Internal

Audit Department;

(12) considered and approved the internal audit plan for the year 2013;

(13) reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate

governance and adopted a set of such written policies and practices

for the Company and monitored the progress of compliance of the

Code;

(14) reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with

legal and regulatory requirements and adopted a set of such written

policies and practices for the Company; and

(15) developed a set of code of conduct for the Directors.

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Audit Committee (Cont’d)

Works Performed (Cont’d)

In March 2013, the Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s final results

and draft audited consolidated financial statements for the Year as well as

the following:–

(1) reviewed the training and continuous professional development of

Directors; and

(2) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure

in the corporate governance report.

Independent Auditor

In order to enhance independent reporting by Independent Auditor, INEDs

hold meeting(s) with the Independent Auditor without the presence of

the Executive Director(s). In addition, the engagement partner of the

Independent Auditor is subject to periodical rotation, and the nature and

ratio of annual fees payable to Independent Auditor for non-audit services

and for audit services are subject to scrutiny by the Audit Committee. A

policy of non-audit services from Independent Auditor was established.

The Audit Committee considers whether there is clear efficiency and value-

added benefit to the Company from that work being undertaken by the

Independent Auditor; whether there is adverse effect on the independence

of their audit work or the perception of such independence; the nature of

the non-audit services envisaged to be provided by the Independent

Auditor; and the related fee levels individually and in aggregate relative to

the audit fees. In addition, a policy restricting the employment of employees

or former employees of Independent Auditor as senior executives or

financial positions with the Group has also been in place.

During the Year, the Independent Auditor had been engaged in providing

non-audit services in relation to (i) annual review of continuing connected

transactions at a fee of HK$80,000; and (ii) reporting of factual findings

for the agreed upon procedures in connection with leasing arrangements

of the three properties of HK$40,000. The audit fees of the Independent

Auditor for auditing the consolidated financial statements of the Group for

the year ended 31st December, 2012 was HK$2,385,500. The relevant

engagement letters had been reviewed and approved by the Audit

Committee.

(1)

(2)

(i)

80,000 (ii)

40,000

2,385,500
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Audit Committee (Cont’d)

Independent Auditor (Cont’d)

Prior to the commencement of the audit of accounts of the Group, the

Audit Committee had reviewed the Independent Auditor’s independence

and objectivity as required under the Code of Ethics for Professional

Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants, reviewed the terms of their engagement as well as the nature

and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee was satisfied with the findings of their review of the

engagement process, effectiveness, independence and objectivity of the

Independent Auditor.

Remuneration Committee

Role and Function

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing the

remuneration policies for all Directors and senior executives. The

Remuneration Committee is also responsible to review regularly and make

recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of individual

Executive Director and senior executive as well as the remuneration of

NEDs. It would consult the Chairman and CEO on the remuneration

proposals whenever it thinks fit.

The objective of remunerating the Directors and senior executives of the

Company is to ensure that there is an appropriate level of remuneration

to attract and retain experienced businessmen or professionals of high

calibre to act as the Directors and senior executives to oversee the

Company’s business and development.

Meetings

The Remuneration Committee held five meetings during the Year.

者
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Remuneration Committee (Cont’d)

Works Performed

The works performed by the Remuneration Committee in the Year are

summarised below:–

(1) assessed the performance of Executive Director, reviewed and

recommended to the Board the Executive Directors and senior

executives’ remuneration packages for the Year and approved the

terms of service agreements as appropriate;

(2) ratified the annual discretionary bonus to employees;

(3) recommended to the Board to fix the remuneration of NEDs for the

Year; and

(4) reviewed the Company’s remuneration policy for the Directors and

senior executives and adopted a set of such written policy for the

Company.

Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors

The primary goal of the remuneration policy on executive directors’

remuneration package is to enable the Company to retain and motivate

Executive Directors by linking their compensation with performance as

measured against corporate objectives. In determining guidelines for each

compensation element, the Company refers to remuneration surveys on

companies operating in similar businesses.

Remuneration Policy for NEDs and INEDs

The Directors’ fees of NEDs and INEDs are subject to annual assessment

with reference to their duties and responsibilities and the prevailing market

condition. Reimbursement is allowed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred

in connection with performance of their duties.

董事會轄下委員會（續）

薪酬委員會（續）

履行之工作

薪酬委員會於本年度履行之工作概述如下：－

(1) 評估執行董事表現、檢討及向董事會建議執行

董事及高級行政人員於本年度之薪酬待遇及批

准服務協議之條款（如適用）；

(2) 追認發給僱員之年度酌情花紅；

(3) 向董事會建議釐定非執行董事於本年度之酬

金；及

(4) 檢討本公司董事及高級行政人員薪酬政策，並

為本公司採納一套相關之書面政策。

執行董事之薪酬政策

有關執行董事薪酬待遇之薪酬政策主要目的乃讓本公

司以公司目標為衡量標準，將執行董事之薪酬與表現

掛㢕，藉以留㜞和激勵執行董事。本公司決定每項薪

酬元素之指引時會參考從事相近業務之公司之薪酬調

查。

非執行董事及獨立非執行董事之薪酬政策

非執行董事及獨立非執行董事之董事袍金乃參照其職

務與責任及當時市況釐定，並按年評估。彼等可獲償

付就履行職責而產生之實付開支。
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Nomination Committee

Role and Function

The Nomination Committee is mandated to review the structure, size and

composition (including the evaluation of skills, knowledge and experience

of the Board members and assessment on the independence of the INEDs)

of the Board at least annually as well as to select suitable and qualified

individuals to become Board members and to make recommendations

on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s

corporate strategy and on succession planning for the Directors from time

to time.

Meetings

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the Year.

Works Performed

The works performed by the Nomination Committee in the Year are

summarised below:–

(1) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

(2) considered the appointment of additional Executive Directors;

(3) identified suitable individuals qualified to become Executive Directors

and make recommendation to the Board based on the nomination

procedures, process and criteria stated below; and

(4) adopted a set of written policy for nomination of Directors.

In March 2013, the Nomination Committee made recommendation to

the Board on the re-appointment of retiring Directors for shareholders’

approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “2013 AGM”). It

also assessed the independence of INED who is subject to re-election at

2013 AGM.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

2013

2013
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Nomination Committee (Cont’d)

Nomination Procedures, Process and Criteria

The Nomination Committee leads the process and makes recommendations

for appointments to the Board, whether as additional appointment or to

fill up the casual vacancy of directorship as and when they arise, in the

light of challenges and opportunities facing the Company, as well as

business development and requirements of the Company. In evaluating

and selecting candidate(s) for directorship, the Nomination Committee

considers the character and integrity; skills and expertise; professional and

educational background; and potential time commitment for the board

and/or committee responsibilities etc. The Nomination Committee makes

recommendation to the Board to appoint the appropriate person among

the candidates nominated for directorship. Suitable candidate(s) shall be

appointed by the Board in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company

and the Listing Rules.

SPECIAL COMMITTEE

Special Committee has been established on 24th May, 2012, comprising

all the INEDs as members with written terms of reference in place. It is

empowered to handle all matters from the Company’s perspective arising

out of the prosecution against Mr. Joseph Lau, the Chairman and CEO of

the Company, by the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s

Republic of China (“Macau”) relating to the acquisition of the five plots of

land in Macau.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities

transactions by Directors on terms without deviation from the required

standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model

Code”). All Directors, after specific enquiries by the Company, confirmed

that they had complied with the required standard set out in the Model

Code and the said code of conduct during the Year.

The Company has also adopted a code of conduct regarding securities

transactions by relevant employees on terms no less exacting than the

required standard set out in the Model Code. All the relevant employees

(the “Relevant Employees”) who, because of office or employment, are

likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information in

relation to the Group’s securities had been requested to follow such code

when dealing in the securities of the Company. All Relevant Employees,

after specific enquiries by the Company, confirmed that they had complied

with the required standard set out in the said code during the Year.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal

control in the Company and reviewing its effectiveness through the Audit

Committee. The senior management is responsible for implementation of

such system of internal control. Internal Audit Department is responsible

for reviewing relevant financial, operational and compliance controls and

risk management functions and reporting their findings and advice to the

Audit Committee.

Annual Review

Based on the annual assessment made by the Independent Auditor and

the works done by Internal Audit Department, the Audit Committee and

the Board are satisfied with the effectiveness of the system of internal

control of the Group and concluded that:–

(1) the Company had complied with the Code Provisions in respect of

internal control during the Year;

(2) a framework of prudent and effective controls had been established

to identify, evaluate and manage the risks;

(3) internal control and accounting systems of the Group were efficient

and adequate;

(4) significant risks that may influence the Group had been identified,

evaluated and managed through the ongoing monitoring process;

and

(5) material transactions were executed with the management’s

authorisation.

Internal Audit

Internal Audit Department reports directly to the Audit Committee and is

independent of the Company’s management, with key tasks to:–

(1) assess and monitor internal controls of the Group with unrestricted

direct access right to any levels of management whenever it

considered necessary;

(2) conduct comprehensive internal audits of the practices and

procedures, income and expenditures, and internal control of all

business units of the Group on a regular basis; and

(3) carry out special reviews and investigations on areas of concern

identified by the management for corrective actions.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(1)

(2)

(3)
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INTERNAL CONTROL (Cont’d)

Internal Audit (Cont’d)

Internal Audit Department produces an annual internal audit plan based

on a risk assessment methodology for the Audit Committee’s approval.

Internal audits are carried out on a regular basis according to the approved

plan. Internal audit reports summarising audit findings and recommendations

are prepared from time to time for the Audit Committee’s review and

discussion. Management is responsible for ensuring that control weaknesses

highlighted in internal audits are rectified within a reasonable period.

Internal Audit Department would monitor the proper implementation of

corrective measures.

During the Year, Internal Audit Department had conducted nine internal

audits, relevant reports had been submitted to the Audit Committee for

consideration. The Audit Committee was satisfied with the works done by

the Internal Audit Department.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company acknowledges that  genera l  meet ings are good

communication channel with shareholders that the Directors and the

chairman of the Board Committees are encouraged to attend and answer

questions from shareholders at general meetings. Chairman of the Audit

Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee

as well as the Independent Auditor had attended the 2012 AGM to answer

questions from shareholders.

At the commencement of each general meeting, the chairman of the

meeting had explained the procedures for conducting a poll to the

shareholders and the shareholders were allowed to raise any question

concerning the poll procedures. At each of the meetings, separate

resolutions were proposed by the chairman of the meeting and put forward

to the shareholders for poll voting. Details of poll results are available at

the Company’s website (www.chineseestates.com).

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Company maintains

a corporate website (www.chineseestates.com) to disseminate the Group’s

information.

2012

(www.chineseestates.com)

(www.chineseestates.com)
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS (Cont’d)

A corporate communications manual has been in place, which provides

guidance for coordinating the disclosure of material information to investors,

analysts and media, identifies who could speak on the Company’s behalf,

and outlines the responsibility for communication with various stakeholder

groups.

A shareholders’ communication policy for enhancement of the corporate

governance had been established during the Year and the Board has

undertaken to review the shareholders’ communication policy at least

annually.

During the Year, the Bye-laws of the Company have been amended with

a new set of Bye-laws adopted. The reason and details of the amendments

are set out in the Company’s general mandate circular dated 25th April,

2012. An updated version of the Company’s Memorandum of Association

and Bye- laws i s  ava i l ab le  a t  the webs i tes  o f  the Company

(www.chineseestates.com) and the Stock Exchange respectively.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convene a Special General Meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less

than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of

voting at general meetings of the Company can at all times submit a

signed written requisition, specifying the purpose, to the Board or the

Company Secretary to request the convening of a special general meeting

(“SGM”) and deposit the requisition at the principal office of the Company

in Hong Kong at 26th Floor, MassMutual Tower, 38 Gloucester Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong or the registered office of the Company in Bermuda

at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to

convene the SGM, the requisitionist(s), or any of them representing more

than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene a SGM,

but any SGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three

months from twenty-one days of the deposit.

者

(www.chineseestates.com)

38 26

Canon’s

Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Cont’d)

Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting

rights of all shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to

vote at the general meeting or shareholders not less than 100 in total can

submit a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary to

propose a resolution at the general meeting (the “Written Requisition”).

The Written Requisition must accompanied by (i) the proposed resolution;

and (ii) a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the

matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the business to be dealt

with at the general meeting. The Written Requisition must contain the

signatures of all the requisitionist(s). The Written Requisition must be

deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong at 26th

Floor, MassMutual Tower, 38 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or

the registered office of the Company in Bermuda at Canon’s Court, 22

Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda not less than six weeks before

the general meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a

resolution and not less than one week before the general meeting in the

case of any other requisition.

Provided that if, after a copy of the Written Requisition requiring notice of

a resolution has been deposited at the principal office of the Company in

Hong Kong or the registered office of the Company in Bermuda, an annual

general meeting is called for a date which is six weeks or less after the

copy has been deposited, the copy though not deposited within the time

required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes

thereof.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money reasonably

sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the

resolution and circulating the statement given by the requisitionists to all

shareholders in accordance with the requirements under the applicable

laws and rules.

Propose a Candidate for Election as a Director at an Annual

General Meeting

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director

was established during the Year and published at the Company’s website

(www.chineseestates.com).

(i) (ii)

38

26

Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,

Bermuda

(www.chineseestates.com)
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38 26

investor.relations@chineseestates.com

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Cont’d)

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders can raise their enquiries to the Board or the Company

Secretary in writing by sending such written enquiries to the principal office

of the Company in Hong Kong at 26th Floor, MassMutual Tower,

38  G louces te r  Road ,  Wancha i ,  Hong  Kong  o r  by  ema i l  a t

investor.relations@chineseestates.com. Shareholders also have right to

raise questions at general meetings.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that corporate governance principles and practices

are essential to the business communities. Ongoing effort will be put to

review its corporate governance practices from time to time so as to

accommodate the changing circumstances. The Company will strive to

maintain and strengthen the standard and quality of its corporate

governance.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors” or the “Board”) are pleased

to present to the shareholders their report together with the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

(the “Group”) for the year ended 31st December, 2012 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the Year, the Company acted as an investment holding company

and its subsidiaries were principally engaged in property investment and

development, brokerage, securities investment, money lending and

cosmetics distribution and trading.

OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue and contribution to profit for the Year from operations

analysed by principal activities are set out in Notes 7 and 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and associates as at

31st December, 2012 are set out in Notes 54 and 55 to the consolidated

financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income on pages 83 and 84.

The Board had declared an interim dividend of HK1 cent per share (2011:

HK1 cent per share) and a special interim dividend of HK$1 per share (2011:

Nil). The Board resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of

HK20 cents per share (2011: HK1 cent per share) for the Year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last

five years is set out on pages 233 and 234.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties of the Group as at 31st December,

2012 are set out on pages 235 to 243.

PROPERTIES AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS

Movements in properties and other fixed assets during the Year are set

out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

7 8

54

55

83 84

1

1 1

20

1

233 234

235 243

23
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the Year, the Group did not acquire any leasehold properties (2011:

HK$926,825,000). Investment properties with an aggregate carrying

amounts of approximately HK$102,750,000 (2011: HK$870,682,000)

were disposed of during the Year.

Details of the above and other movements in investment properties during

the Year are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year are set

out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out on

pages 88 to 91.

As at 31st December, 2012, the Company’s reserves available for

distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of

Bermuda (as amended), amounted of approximately HK$6,126,029,000

(2011: HK$2,804,489,000).

GROUP BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

Details of bank loans and other loans repayable within one year or on

demand are shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Details of long-term secured bank loans and other loans are shown in

Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Interest capital ised during the Year by the Group amounted to

HK$117,072,000 (2011: HK$64,910,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist under the laws of Bermuda, being the

jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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33,411,000

43,226,000

30%

24% 40%

5%

94 111

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to

HK$33,411,000 (2011: HK$43,226,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers of the Group amounted to less than 30% of

the total turnover to the Group during the Year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and

five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 24% and 40% of the

Group’s total purchases for the Year respectively.

At no time during the Year did a Director, an associate of a Director or a

shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors

own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in

any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:–

Executive Directors:

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Chan, Sze-wan (appointed on 12th June, 2012)

Mr. Lam, Kwong-wai (appointed on 12th June, 2012)

Ms. Lui, Lai-kwan (appointed on 13th July, 2012)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai (Vice Chairman)

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun

Ms. Chan, Sze-wan, Mr. Lam, Kwong-wai, Ms. Lui, Lai-kwan, Ms. Amy Lau,

Yuk-wai and Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun will retire from office at the forthcoming annual

general meeting and, being el ig ible, wi l l  offer themselves for

re-election pursuant to Bye-laws 94 and 111 of the Bye-laws of the Company.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its

subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employer within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31st December, 2012, the interests and short positions of the

Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying

shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation

(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance

(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to

section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to

Appendix 10 of Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of

Listed Issuers contained in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:–

I The Company

XV

352

Percentage
Number of of Issued

Name of Directors Shares Held Note Capacity Share Capital

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung 230,984,820 (1) Founder and beneficiary of trust
(“Mr. Joseph Lau”)

1,199,715,948 (2) Founder and beneficiary of trust

1,430,700,768 74.99%

Lau, Ming-wai 230,984,820 (1) Beneficiary of trust
(“Mr. MW Lau”)

1,199,715,948 (2) Beneficiary of trust

1,430,700,768 74.99%

Lui, Lai-kwan 230,984,820 (1) Interest of children under 18
(“Ms. Lui”) 18

1,199,715,948 (2) Interest of children under 18
18

1,430,700,768 74.99%

Notes:

(1) These shares were indirectly owned by a discretionary trust of which
Mr. Joseph Lau was the founder. Mr. Joseph Lau, Mr. MW Lau, the children
of Ms. Lui and certain other family members of Mr. Joseph Lau were
eligible beneficiaries of that trust.

(2) These shares were held by a unit trust of which Mr. Joseph Lau was one
of the unit holders. The rest of the units in the unit trust were held by a
discretionary trust of which Mr. Joseph Lau was the founder. Mr. MW
Lau, the children of Ms. Lui and certain other family members of Mr.
Joseph Lau were eligible beneficiaries of the discretionary trust.

(1)

(2)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
(Cont’d)

II Associated Corporation of the Company – Chi Cheung Investment Company, Limited (“Chi Cheung”)

 – 

Percentage
Number of of Issued

Name of Directors Shares Held Note Capacity Share Capital

Mr. Joseph Lau 209,931,186 (*) Founder of trust, 61.96%
beneficiary of trust and

interest in controlled corporation

Mr. MW Lau 209,931,186 (*) Beneficiary of trust and 61.96%
interest in controlled corporation

Ms. Lui 209,931,186 (*) Interest of children under 18 and 61.96%
interest in controlled corporation

18

Note:

(*) Mr. Joseph Lau, Mr. MW Lau and Ms. Lui by virtue of their 74.99%
interests in the issued share capital of the Company as disclosed in
paragraph I above, were deemed to be interested in 209,931,186 shares
of Chi Cheung held by Billion Up Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. The percentage

shown was the number of shares the relevant Directors were interested

in expressed as a percentage of the number of issued shares as at 31st

December, 2012.

Save as disclosed above, none of the other Directors or chief executives

of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO to have any interests

or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the

Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part

XV of the SFO) as at 31st December, 2012.

During the Year, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company

nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age were granted or had

exercised any right to subscribe for any securities of the Company or any

of its associated corporation.

(*) I
74.99%

Billion Up Limited 209,931,186

者

XV
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN THE SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31st December, 2012, so far as are known to any Directors or chief

executives of the Company, the following parties (other than Directors or

chief executives of the Company) were recorded in the register kept by

the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to

the Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be

interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:–

336

5%

Percentage
Name of Number of of Issued
Substantial Shareholders Shares Held Notes Capacity Share Capital

GZ Trust Corporation 1,430,700,768 (1), (2) Trustee, beneficiary of a trust and 74.99%
interest in controlled corporation

Global King (PTC) Ltd. 1,199,715,948 (1) Trustee 62.89%

Joseph Lau Luen Hung 230,984,820 (2) Beneficial owner 12.10%
Investments Limited

Notes:

(1) GZ Trust Corporation as trustee of a discretionary trust held units in a
unit trust of which Global King (PTC) Ltd. was the trustee and therefore
was regarded as interested in the same parcel of shares held by Global
King (PTC) Ltd. These shares were the same parcel of 1,199,715,948
shares of the Company referred to in the “Founder and beneficiary of
trust” of Mr. Joseph Lau, the “Beneficiary of trust” of Mr. MW Lau as well
as the “Interest of children under 18” of Ms. Lui under “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests in the Securities of the Company and
Associated Corporation” as disclosed in paragraph I above.

(2) GZ Trust Corporation as trustee of another discretionary trust held the
entire issued share capital of Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments Limited
and therefore was regarded as interested in the same parcel of shares
held by Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments Limited. These shares were
the same parcel of 230,984,820 shares of the Company referred to in
the “Founder and beneficiary of trust” of Mr. Joseph Lau, the “Beneficiary
of trust” of Mr. MW Lau as well as the “Interest of children under 18”of
Ms. Lui under “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in the Securities
of the Company and Associated Corporation” as disclosed in paragraph
I above.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31st December,

2012, no short positions were recorded in the register kept by the Company

under section 336 of the SFO.

(1) GZ Trust Corporation
Global King (PTC) Ltd.

Global King (PTC)
Ltd.

I

18
1,199,715,948

(2) GZ Trust Corporation
Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments Limited

Joseph Lau
Luen Hung Investments Limited

I

18
230,984,820

336
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Year, the following Directors declared their interests in the

following companies with businesses which competed or were likely to

compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group:–

Nature of Business
Considered to Compete Nature of Interest

or Likely to Compete with of the Directors
the Businesses of the Group in the Companies

Name of Directors Name of Companies

Mr. Joseph Lau Chi Cheung* and its subsidiaries Property investment Having certain deemed
* and development interests in Chi Cheung

and was a director of
certain subsidiaries of

Chi Cheung

G-Prop (Holdings) Limited (“G-Prop”)^ Property investment Having certain direct and
and its subsidiaries deemed interests in G-Prop

^

Mr. MW Lau Chi Cheung* and its subsidiaries Property investment Having certain deemed
* and development interests in Chi Cheung

G-Prop^ and its subsidiaries Property investment Having certain deemed
^ interests in G-Prop

Ms. Lui Chi Cheung* and its subsidiaries Property investment Having certain deemed
* and development interests in Chi Cheung

G-Prop^ and its subsidiaries Property investment Having certain deemed
^ interests in G-Prop

Mr. Lam, Kwong-wai G-Prop^ Property investment Non-executive director
^ (from 14th August, 2012

to 7th March, 2013)

* listed subsidiary of the Company during the Year and was subsequently
disposed to an independent third party on 6th February, 2013

^ listed subsidiary of the Company (from 1st January, 2012 to 5th August,
2012) and was disposed to an independent third party on 6th August,
2012

*

^
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES (Cont’d)

The above-mentioned businesses were managed by separate publicly listed

companies with independent management. The respective board

composition of such listed companies are different and separate. In this

respect, coupled with the diligence of its Independent Non-executive

Directors (“INED(s)”) (whose views carry significant weight in the Board’s

decisions) and the independent audit committee, the Group was capable

of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,

the businesses of the above companies.

Other than the businesses of the Company’s listed subsidiaries mentioned

above, Mr. Joseph Lau, Mr. MW Lau and Ms. Lui had personal interests in

private companies engaged in property investment business while

Mr. Joseph Lau and Mr. MW Lau had personal interests in private companies

engaged in securities investment business. Mr. Joseph Lau also had

personal interests in private companies engaged in money lending

business. As such, they were regarded as being interested in such

businesses, which competed or might compete with the Group. However,

when compared with the dominance and size of operations of the Group,

such competing businesses were immaterial.

In addition, Mr. Joseph Lau had through certain private companies wholly-

owned by him (of which Mr. Joseph Lau and/or Mr. MW Lau was/were

director(s) of such companies throughout the Year) acquired the retail

shops of York Place, Excelsior Plaza (include Laforet) and Southorn Centre

(also known as Wanchai Computer Centre) (the “Private Properties”) from

the Group in July and August 2010. The Group, in accordance with the

term of the respective sale and purchase agreements of the said

acquisitions, provided three-year after-sale free leasing agency and

management services in respect of the Private Properties, commencing

from the respective completion dates of the said acquisitions. There was

potential leasing competition for existing and prospective tenancies

between the Private Properties and investment properties held by the

Group. In order to manage such potential leasing competition, Mr. Joseph

Lau had provided certain undertakings and the Company had agreed with

the Stock Exchange to implement certain measures for monitoring the

compliance of such undertakings. Details of such undertakings and

monitoring measures were set out in the circular of the Company dated

18th June, 2010. The INEDs of the Company had carried out an annual

review on the compliance of the said undertakings and monitoring

measures and confirmed that such undertakings and monitoring measures

were duly complied with and considered adequate monitoring measures

were in place to avoid the potential leasing competition.

York

Place Laforet
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES (Cont’d)

The Directors are aware of their fiduciary duties and will act honestly and in

good faith in the interests of the Company and will avoid any potential conflicts

of interest and duty. The Company comprises three INEDs and all of them

are audit committee members of the Company, so that the interest of its

shareholders can be adequately represented.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors were interested in any

businesses apart from the Company’s businesses, which competed or was

likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s businesses.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

There were no arrangements to which the Company or any of the

Company’s subsidiaries was a party to enable the Directors to acquire

benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below and apart from the agreements disclosed under

the heading “Connected Transactions” below, there were no other contracts

of significance in relation to the Company’s businesses, to which the

Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at

the end of the Year or at any time during the Year, and in which a Director

had, whether directly or indirectly, a material interest, nor there were any

other contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s businesses

between the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries and a

controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

On 22nd September, 2011, Chi Cheung as lender, Longman Limited (being

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as borrower and

the Company as guarantor entered into a loan agreement in relation to a

three-year revolving facility of up to HK$900 million, commenced from

3rd November, 2011 and ending on 2nd November, 2014. As at 31st

December, 2012, a total sum of HK$900 million had been drawn by

Longman Limited. Longman Limited repaid the principal amount of HK$490

million and the interest accrued thereon on 30th January, 2013 in

connection with the disposal of Chi Cheung group by the Group, and thus

the outstanding balance of the loan reduced to HK$410 million. Details of

the disposal have been included in “Other Information and Events After

the Reporting Period” under Chairman’s Statement of this Annual Report.

者

者

Longman Limited

900,000,000

Longman

Limited 900,000,000 Longman

Limited

490,000,000

410,000,000
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected Transactions

(1) On 8th March, 2012, each of Utmost Honest Limited, Jubilee King

Limited, Harvest Billion Limited and Keen Dynasty Limited had issued

a binding letter of offer to Moon Ocean Ltd., an indirect wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to which each of them

offered to purchase certain residential unit(s) of La Scala (the Group’s

property held for sale) at a consideration of HK$68,268,600,

HK$81,712,800, HK$7,593,200 and HK$13,105,700 respectively

(each of the binding letters of offer was referred to as “Utmost

Honest Letter”, “Jubilee King Letter”, “Harvest Billion Letter” and “Keen

Dynasty Letter” below).

Superb Ocean Limited had on 8th March, 2012 entered into a

preliminary sale and purchase agreement (the “Superb Ocean

Agreement”) in respect of the purchase of a residential unit of One

WanChai (the Group’s property held for sale) at a consideration of

HK$9,022,000.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under

Utmost Honest Letter, Jubilee King Letter, Harvest Billion Letter, Keen

Dynasty Letter and Superb Ocean Agreement constituted connected

transactions for the Company. As at the date of these letters or

agreement, Mr. Joseph Lau was a director and the sole beneficial

owner of Utmost Honest Limited; Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan, an associate

of Mr. Joseph Lau, was a director and the sole beneficial owner of

Jubilee King Limited; and Ms. Mary Lau, Yuk-chun, a sister of

Mr. Joseph Lau, was a director and the sole beneficial owner of

each of (i) Harvest Billion Limited; (ii) Keen Dynasty Limited; and

(iii) Superb Ocean Limited. Therefore, each of Mr. Joseph Lau,

Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan and Ms. Mary Lau, Yuk-chun was a connected

person to the Company.

As the applicable aggregated percentage ratios in respect of each of

(i) the transactions contemplated under Utmost Honest Letter and

Jubilee King Letter (taking into account another connected transaction

completed within 12 months); and (ii) the transactions contemplated

under Harvest Billion Letter, Keen Dynasty Letter and Superb Ocean

Agreement, was less than 5%, these transactions were only subject

to the reporting and announcement requirements but were exempt

from independent shareholders’ approval requirement pursuant to

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. An announcement in respect of

the said transactions was made on 8th March, 2012.

(1) U tmos t  Hones t

Limited Jubilee King Limited

Moon Ocean Ltd.

6 8 , 2 6 8 , 6 0 0

8 1 , 7 1 2 , 8 0 0 7 , 5 9 3 , 2 0 0

13,105,700

Utmost Honest

Jubilee King

9,022,000

Utmost Honest Jubilee

King

Utmost Honest

Limited

Jubilee King Limited

(i) (ii)

(iii)

(i) Utmost Honest Jubilee King

(ii)

5%

14A
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

(2) As announced on 17th June, 2012, Mass Rise Limited (a wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company) (“Mass Rise”) and Asian Kingdom

Limited (a company indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Joseph Lau)

(“Asian Kingdom”) had on 16th June, 2012 entered into a sale and

purchase agreement with (among other parties) an independent

third party (the “Purchaser”) in relation to the disposal of

1,018,380,590 shares and 493,678,883 shares owned by Mass

Rise and Asian Kingdom respectively in G-Prop (the then subsidiary

of the Company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange),

representing (i) all the share interests of Mass Rise and Asian

Kingdom in G-Prop; and (ii) approximately 62.26% of the entire

issued share capital of G-Prop (with approximately 41.93% and

20.33% held by Mass Rise and Asian Kingdom respectively) as at

the date of the announcement, at a total consideration of

HK$423,660,973 (of which HK$285,338,057 was payable to Mass

Rise and HK$138,322,916 was payable to Asian Kingdom).

Completion of the disposal took place on 6th August, 2012.

The Purchaser had also entered into a security agreement with Mass

Rise on 6th August, 2012, pursuant to which 1,512,059,473 shares

of G-Prop had been charged in favour of Mass Rise (the “Charged

Shares”), for the purpose of securing the Purchaser’s obligations to

repay the total principal amount under the promissory note(s) or

any part thereof. The Purchaser had fulfilled its obligations for the

repayment of all promissory note(s) in December 2012 and

thereafter, the Charged Shares were fully released and discharged.

As Asian Kingdom was indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Joseph Lau,

Asian Kingdom, being a substantial shareholder of G-Prop, was an

associate of a controller of the Company for the purpose of the

Listing Rules. Therefore, the disposal constituted a connected

transaction for the Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. As

the applicable ratios in respect of the disposal were more than 0.1%

but less than 5%, the disposal was subject to the reporting and

announcement requirements and exempted from the independent

shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

(2)

Asian Kingdom Limited

Asian Kingdom

Asian Kingdom

1,018,380,590 493,678,883

(i) Asian Kingdom

(ii)

62.26% 41.93%

20.33% Asian Kingdom

423,660,973 285,338,057

138,322,916 Asian

Kingdom

1,512,059,473

Asian Kingdom

Asian Kingdom

0.1%

5%

14A
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

(3) On 6th February, 2013, Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan entered into a preliminary

sale and purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) in respect of the

purchase of a residential unit of One WanChai (the Group’s property

held for sale) at a consideration of HK$22,708,000. Completion

shall take place on or before 8th April, 2013.

As Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan was an associate of Mr. Joseph Lau and also

a sister of Ms. Chan, Sze-wan (an Executive Director), Ms. Chan,

Hoi-wan was a connected person of the Company. Hence, the

transaction contemplated under the Agreement constituted a

connected transaction of the Company. As the applicable percentage

ratios in respect of the transaction contemplated under the

Agreement were less than 0.1% on a standalone basis and, when

aggregated with the previous transactions (i.e. connected transactions

of the Company regarding disposal of certain residential properties

pursuant to Utmost Honest Letter and Jubilee King Letter as

mentioned in (1) under the heading “Connected Transactions”

above) were less than 5%, the connected transaction was exempted

from the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’

approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. A

voluntary announcement in respect of the said transaction was made

on 6th February, 2013.

Continuing Connected Transactions

(1) On 22nd September, 2011, the Company’s indirect wholly-owned

subsidiary – Fancy Mark Limited (“Fancy Mark”) as borrower entered

into a loan agreement with G-Prop as lender regarding a three-year

revolving facility of up to HK$300 million, commenced from 3rd

November, 2011 and ending on 2nd November, 2014, with the

Company acting as guarantor for repayment of the loan (the “Loan

Transaction”). The Loan Transaction constituted a continuing

connected transaction of the Company since G-Prop was a connected

person to the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules but exempted

from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’

approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(3)

22,708,000

0.1%

(1) Utmost Honest

Jubilee King

5%

14A

(1)

  Fancy Mark Limited Fancy

Mark

300,000,000

14A
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

(1) (Cont’d)

The loan was repayable on demand upon receiving not less than

one month’s prior notice from G-Prop. Since the commencement

of the term of the Loan Transaction and as at the date of the sale

and purchase agreement in respect of the disposal of G-Prop group

as mentioned in (2) under the heading “Connected Transactions”

above, a total sum of HK$300 million had been drawn by Fancy

Mark at the interest rate of HIBOR plus 1.5% per annum. G-Prop

had demanded for repayment of the loan and Fancy Mark had repaid

the principal amount of HK$300 million in aggregate, with accrued

interest, to G-Prop in late 2012.

Having reviewed the Loan Transaction, the INEDs of the Company,

pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the requirement to

carry out an annual review on the continuing connected transaction,

confirmed that the Loan Transaction was made in the ordinary and

usual course of business of the Company, on normal commercial

terms and in accordance with the relevant loan agreement governing

it on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditor of the Company, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules, confirmed in their letter made in accordance with Hong Kong

Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements

other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”

and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on

Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing

Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (collectively “HKICPA Guidelines”) that the Loan

Transaction had received the approval of the Board and had been

entered into in accordance with the relevant loan agreement.

(1)

(2) Fancy Mark

300,000,000

Fancy Mark

300,000,000

14A

3000

740

14A
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

(2) On 18th December, 2009, Chinese Estates, Limited, a direct wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a contract with

Mr. Joseph Lau in respect of the provision of certain management

and maintenance services to the properties and related assets owned

by Mr. Joseph Lau and/or his associates and related parties

commenced on 1st January, 2010 and until 31st December, 2012

(the “2010-2012 Contract”). The annual caps of the service charges

payable by Mr. Joseph Lau to Chinese Estates, Limited under the

2010-2012 Contract for each of the three financial years – 31st

December, 2010, 31st December, 2011 and 31st December, 2012,

were set at HK$10 million (the “2010-2012 Caps”) as disclosed in

the Company’s announcement dated 18th December, 2009.

Mr. Joseph Lau, being an Executive Director, the Chairman and the

Chief Executive Officer, and a substantial shareholder of the Company

was a connected person of the Company and hence the 2010-

2012 Contract and the transactions contemplated thereunder

constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company

under the Listing Rules. The applicable percentage ratios of the 2010-

2012 Caps pursuant to the then Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

exceeded 0.1% but were expected to be less than 2.5%, hence the

2010-2012 Contract and the 2010-2012 Caps were only subject to

reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but

exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement.

Having reviewed the subject continuing connected transactions, the

INEDs of the Company, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

on the requirement to carry out an annual review on the continuing

connected transactions, confirmed that the transactions were made

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company (other

than those in relation to household management and maintenance

services), on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the

2010-2012 Contract governing them on terms that were fair and

reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company

as a whole.

The auditor of the Company, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules, confirmed in their letter made in accordance with HKICPA

Guidelines that the subject continuing connected transactions had

received the approval of the Board, were in accordance with the

pricing policies of the Company, had been entered into in accordance

with the 2010-2012 Contract and had not exceeded the 2010-2012

Caps disclosed in the said announcement made on 18th December,

2009.

(2)

  

2010-2012

2010-2012

10,000,000 2010-2012

2010-2012

14A 2010-2012

0.1%

2.5% 2010-2012 2010-2012

14A

2010-2012

14A

2010-2012

2010-2012
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(3) (2) 2010-2012

2013-2015

2013-2015

15,000,000 2013-2015

2013-2015

14A 2013-2015

0.1% 5%

2013-2015 2013-2015

(4)

Laforet

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

(3) Before the expiry of the 2010-2012 Contract as mentioned in (2)

above, Chinese Estates, Limited had on 14th December, 2012

entered into another contract with Mr. Joseph Lau in respect of the

provision of the property, household and other management and

maintenance services in relation to the properties and related assets

and such other assets of a nature normally requiring management

service, maintenance service or other similar services which are

beneficially owned by or are held by entities beneficially owned by

Mr. Joseph Lau and/or his associates and related parties, commenced

on 1st January, 2013 and ending on 31st December, 2015 (the

“2013-2015 Contract”). The annual caps of the service charges

payable by Mr. Joseph Lau to Chinese Estates, Limited under the

2013-2015 Contract for each of the three financial years – 31st

December, 2013, 31st December, 2014 and 31st December, 2015,

were set at HK$15 million (the “2013-2015 Caps”) as disclosed in

the Company’s announcement dated 14th December, 2012.

Mr. Joseph Lau, being an Executive Director, the Chairman and the

Chief Executive Officer, and a substantial shareholder of the Company

was a connected person of the Company and hence the 2013-

2015 Contract and the transactions contemplated thereunder

constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company

under the Listing Rules. The applicable percentage ratios of the 2013-

2015 Caps pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules exceeded

0.1% but were expected to be less than 5%, hence the 2013-2015

Contract and the 2013-2015 Caps were only subject to reporting,

announcement and annual review requirements but exempted from

the independent shareholders’ approval requirement.

(4) In July and August 2010, the Group had disposed, inter alia, Excelsior

Plaza, Laforet and Southorn Centre to the private companies wholly-

owned by Mr. Joseph Lau (the “Disposal Transactions”).

Subsequent to the completion of the Disposal Transactions, Perfect

World Company Limited, the Company’s indirect wholly-owned

subsidiary, had in accordance with the term of the respective sale

and purchase agreements of the Disposal Transactions, entered into

the following agreements for a term of three years:–
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

(4) (Cont’d)

(i) property management agreement dated 27th July, 2010 with

Sunny Ocean Limited regarding the provision of property

management services to Excelsior Plaza (“1st Property

Management Agreement”);

(ii) property management agreement dated 20th August, 2010

with Viewide Properties Limited regarding the provision of

property management services to Laforet (“2nd Property

Management Agreement”); and

(iii) property management agreement dated 20th August, 2010

with Baharica Limited regarding the provision of property

management services to Southorn Centre (“3rd Property

Management Agreement”)

(collectively the “Property Management Agreements”).

Pursuant to the announcement dated 18th May, 2010, the annual

caps for the Year of 1st Property Management Agreement, 2nd

Property Management Agreement and 3rd Property Management

Agreement were HK$1 million, HK$12 million and HK$8 million

respectively.

Sunny Ocean Limited, Viewide Properties Limited and Baharica

Limited were associates of Mr. Joseph Lau upon completion of the

Disposal Transactions, therefore the entering into of the Property

Management Agreements constituted continuing connected

transactions for the Company under the Listing Rules. As the

applicable percentage ratios for the aggregate of the expected annual

caps of the subject continuing connected transactions as required

under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules were less than 5%, the

subject continuing connected transactions were only subject to the

reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but

exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement.

Having reviewed the subject continuing connected transactions, the

INEDs of the Company, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

on the requirement to carry out an annual review on the continuing

connected transactions, confirmed that the transactions were made

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company, on

normal commercial terms and in accordance with the Property

Management Agreements governing them on terms that were fair

and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the

Company as a whole.

(4)

(i)

Sunny Ocean Limited

(ii) Laforet

Viewide Properties Limited

(iii)

Baharica Limited

1,000,000 12,000,000 8,000,000

S u n n y  O c e a n

Limited Viewide Properties Limited Baharica

Limited

14A

5%

14A
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

(4) (Cont’d)

The auditor of the Company, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules, confirmed in their letter made in accordance with HKICPA

Guidelines that the subject continuing connected transactions had

received the approval of the Board, were in accordance with the pricing

policies of the Company, had been entered into in accordance with

the Property Management Agreements and had not exceeded the

annual caps disclosed in the announcement made on 18th May, 2010.

Potential Leasing Competition

As mentioned in “Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses”

section of this report, subsequent to the completion of the Disposal

Transactions, there was potential leasing competition for existing

and prospective tenancies between the Private Properties, being

properties owned by Mr. Joseph Lau, and the investment properties

held by the Group.

In the course of carrying out an annual review on the subject

continuing connected transactions, the INEDs of the Company had

also carried out an annual review on the compliance of the

undertakings in respect of the said potential leasing competition

provided by Mr. Joseph Lau and the corresponding monitoring

measures implemented by the Company, and confirmed that such

undertakings and monitoring measures were duly complied with

and considered adequate monitoring measures were in place to

avoid the potential leasing competition.

Save as aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non-exempted

connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction

under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date of this report.

Save as aforesaid, none of the “Material Related Party Transactions” as

disclosed in Note 53 to the consolidated financial statements for the Year

constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or non-

exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Material Related Party Transactions” constituted

connected transaction as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had

complied with the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules during the Year.

(4)

14A

53

14A
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates two retirement benefit schemes:–

(1) the provident fund scheme as defined in the Occupational

Retirement Schemes Ordinance, Chapter 426 of the laws of Hong

Kong (the “ORSO Scheme”); and

(2) the provident fund scheme as defined in the Mandatory Provident

Fund Schemes Ordinance, Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong

(the “MPF Scheme”).

Both the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme are defined contribution

schemes and the assets of both schemes are managing by their respective

trustees accordingly.

The ORSO Scheme is available to the Group’s full-time permanent staff

employed in Hong Kong before 1st December, 2000. Contributions to

the ORSO Scheme are made by the Group at 5%, 7.5% or 10% based on

the staff’s basic salary depending on the length of service. Staff members

are entitled to 100% of the Group’s contributions together with accrued

returns after completing 10 years of service or more, or attaining the

retirement age, or are entitled at a reduced scale between 30% to 90%

of the Group’s contributions after completing a period of service of at

least 3 years but less than 10 years. The ORSO Scheme allowed any

forfeited contributions (made by the Group for any staff member who

subsequently left the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in such

contributions) to be used by the Group to offset the current level of

contributions of the Group.

The MPF Scheme is available to all employees aged 18 to 64 and with at

least 60 days of service under the employment of the Group in Hong

Kong. Contributions are made by the Group at 5% based on the staff’s

relevant income. The maximum relevant income for contribution purpose

is HK$25,000 per month. Staff members are entitled to 100% of the

Group’s contributions together with accrued returns irrespective of their

length of service with the Group, but the benefits are required by law to

be preserved until the retirement age of 65.

In order to provide similar benefits to those who joined the MPF Scheme

and the ORSO Scheme, the Group provided an additional portion (the

“Top-up Portion”) for those who joined the MPF Scheme. The purpose of

the Top-up Portion is to match up the benefits of the MPF Scheme with

that of the ORSO Scheme by providing those staff under the MPF Scheme

with basic salary over HK$25,000 and/or years of service over 5.

Contributions to the Top-up Portion are made by the Group at 5%, 7.5%

or 10% of the staff’s basic salary less the Group’s mandatory contribution

under the MPF Scheme as mentioned above.

(1) 426

(2) 485

5% 7.5% 10%

10

100%

3 10 30%

90%

18 64 60

5%

25,000

100%

65

25,000 5

5% 7.5% 10%
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (Cont’d)

The Group’s total cost for the schemes charged to consolidated statement

of comprehensive income for the year ended 31st December, 2012

amounted to approximately HK$9,524,000 (2011: HK$8,177,000). In

addition, an amount of forfeited employer’s contributions for the schemes

amounted to approximately HK$726,000 (2011: HK$483,000) was utilised

towards reducing the Group’s contributions during the Year and the balance

available to reduce future contributions amounted to approximately

HK$58,000 (2011: HK$29,000).

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

A share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) was adopted by the

shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting held on 14th

January, 2009 (the “Adoption Date”). The Share Award Scheme is a long-

term incentive arrangement for the selected employees. The purpose of

the Share Award Scheme is to recognise and reward certain employees of

the Group for their contributions to the Group and to give long-term

incentives for retaining them for the continued operations and development

of the Group. It also intends to attract suitable professional recruits to join

the Group and to assist in the further development of the Group.

The Board may from time to time, at its absolute discretion and subject to

such terms and conditions as it may think fit (including the basis of eligibility

of each employee determined by the Board from time to time), after

having taken into account recommendations made by members of the

Group and assessment of individual performance pursuant to internal

appraisal system, select an employee for participation in the Share Award

Scheme as a selected employee (“Selected Employee”) and determine

the number of shares which may be awarded to such Selected Employee

pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme (“Awarded Share(s)”).

A Selected Employee shall qualify to be issued and allotted the Awarded

Shares after all the qualifying conditions have been fulfilled, unless

otherwise determined by the Board at its discretion.

The issue price for each Awarded Share shall, subject to the terms of the

Share Award Scheme, be an amount equal to its nominal value and shall

be paid or satisfied in cash by the relevant member of the Group engaging

the Selected Employee or, if payment by the relevant member of the

Group engaging the Selected Employee is not permitted under applicable

law, any member of the Group, upon the issuance and allotment of the

Awarded Shares.

9,524,000 8,177,000

726,000 483,000

58,000

29,000
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Cont’d)

The total number of shares which may be issued in response to the Share

Award Scheme and any other incentive or option schemes of the Company

(if any) shall not in aggregate exceed 207,775,007, being 10% of the total

number of shares in issue on the Adoption Date and represents

approximately 10.89% of the total number of shares in issue at the date

of this report. No granting of Awarded Shares was made for the Year.

The maximum number of Awarded Shares to be granted to each Selected

Employee under the Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period shall not

exceed in aggregate 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of such grant.

Subject to any early termination pursuant to the terms of the Share Award

Scheme, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period

of 10 years commencing from the Adoption Date (i.e. until 13th January,

2019). As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share Award

Scheme is less than 6 years.

Details of the Share Award Scheme were set out in the circular of the

Company dated 23rd December, 2008.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within

the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained the

prescribed amount of public float during the Year and up to the date of

this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by HLB

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) who would retire at the conclusion

of the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, offer

themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed to the

shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint

HLB as the auditor of the Company.

There have been no other changes of auditor in the past three years

except for the reorganisation of Messrs HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng to

HLB in March 2012.

On behalf of the Board

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 4th March, 2013

207,775,007

10%

10.89%

1%
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31/F, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

11 Pedder Street 11

Central

Hong Kong 31

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinese Estates

Holdings Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred

to as “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 232, which comprise the

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December, 2012,

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash

flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting

policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such

internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary

to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial

statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as

a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act,

and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We

conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

83 232 CHINESE ESTATES

HOLDINGS LIMITED

90
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Cont’d)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about

the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The

procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s

preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair

view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors of the

Company, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair

view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st December, 2012, and

of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly

prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

Chartered Accountants

Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat

Practising Certificate Number: P05467

Hong Kong, 4th March, 2013

P05467
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2012 2011

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Continuing operations

Revenue 7 2,433,544 527,792

Cost of sales (568,580) (244,484)

Gross profit 1,864,964 283,308

Other income 9 78,748 255,052

Investment income (expenses), net 10 2,546,158 (572,099)

Administrative expenses (281,768) (273,085)

Costs of development recognised in

respect of property project in Macau 38 (694,737) –

Other expenses 11 (1,434) (19,262)

Gain on disposals of properties

and other fixed assets 359 25

Gain on disposals of investment properties 22,135 1,945

Fair value changes on investment properties 22 6,108,972 2,959,593

Finance costs 15 (344,805) (330,729)

Other gains and losses, net 16 235,341 78,265

Share of results of associates 580,006 1,241,732

Profit before tax 10,113,939 3,624,745

Income tax expense 19 (299,090) (115,888)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 9,814,849 3,508,857

Discontinued operation 12

Profit for the year from

discontinued operation 5,667 10,847

Profit for the year 14 9,820,516 3,519,704

Other comprehensive income

Continuing operations

Fair value changes on available-for-sale

investments (21,997) (31,934)

Surplus on revaluation of properties

and other fixed assets 98,162 –

Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations 52,148 213,677

Share of other comprehensive income of

associates 5,979 107,943

Other comprehensive income for the year

from continuing operations (net of tax) 134,292 289,686
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2012 2011

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Discontinued operation 12

Fair value changes on available-for-sale

investments 3,751 (5,965)

Reclassification relating to disposal of

available-for-sale investments – 34

Other comprehensive income (expenses)

for the year from discontinued operation

(net of tax) 3,751 (5,931)

Total comprehensive income for the year 9,958,559 3,803,459

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Continuing operations 9,791,651 3,492,371

Discontinued operation 3,286 5,445

9,794,937 3,497,816

Non-controlling interests
Continuing operations 23,198 16,486

Discontinued operation 2,381 5,402

25,579 21,888

Total 9,820,516 3,519,704

Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Continuing operations 9,925,943 3,782,057

Discontinued operation 5,314 2,616

9,931,257 3,784,673

Non-controlling interests
Continuing operations 23,198 16,486

Discontinued operation 4,104 2,300

27,302 18,786

Total 9,958,559 3,803,459

Earnings per share (HK$) 21

Basic and diluted

From continuing and discontinued

operations 5.135 1.834

From continuing operations 5.133 1.831

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31st December, 2012

85

2012 2011

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Investment properties 22 41,972,818 34,484,529

Properties and other fixed assets 23 521,886 521,756

Property interests held for

future development 24 – –

Intangible assets 25 – 1,430

Goodwill 26 322,938 329,879

Interests in associates 27 2,017,868 1,693,745

Advances to associates 28 1,642,668 1,618,642

Interests in jointly controlled entities 29 – –

Available-for-sale investments 30 119,012 4,160,350

Financial assets designated as at

fair value through profit or loss 36 993,942 2,453,411

Advance to an investee company 31(a) – 406,241

Loans receivable – due after one year 32 15 58

Deferred tax assets 44 35,252 47,279

Advances to non-controlling shareholders 31(b) 14,908 124,388

Pledged deposits 33(a) 62,673 165,441

47,703,980 46,007,149

Current assets

Stock of properties 34 3,768,372 5,707,076

Available-for-sale investments 30 – 53,323

Investments held-for-trading 35 156,327 514,917

Financial assets designated as at

fair value through profit or loss 36 9,575,592 2,773,200

Loans receivable – due within one year 32 51 60

Inventories for cosmetic products 37 3,379 3,939

Debtors, deposits and prepayments 38 5,092,246 583,469

Securities trading receivables and deposits 33(b) 286,045 25,362

Tax recoverable 1,911 1,320

Pledged deposits 33(a) 2,169,839 1,539,558

Time deposits, bank balances and cash 33(c) 4,786,523 4,268,499

Sales proceeds held by stakeholders 837,425 33,725

26,677,710 15,504,448

Assets classified as held for sale 13 147,569 –

26,825,279 15,504,448
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2012 2011

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities

Creditors and accruals 39 636,313 765,027

Securities trading and margin payable 33,586 10,996

Deposits and receipts in advance 3,306,447 970,516

Tax liabilities 93,112 24,480

Borrowings – due within one year 40 14,171,958 10,006,667

18,241,416 11,777,686

Liabilities directly associated

with assets classified as held for sale 13 1,973 –

18,243,389 11,777,686

Net current assets 8,581,890 3,726,762

Total assets less current liabilities 56,285,870 49,733,911

Equity attributable to owners of

the Company

Share capital 42 190,762 190,762

Properties revaluation reserve 98,162 –

Securities investments reserve 45,765 67,934

Statutory reserve 32,203 29,119

Other reserve (2,537) (7,259)

Special reserve 2,499,685 2,499,685

Capital redemption reserve 138,062 138,062

Translation reserve 1,014,869 961,487

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive

income and accumulated in equity

relating to non-current assets held for sale 4,308 –

Retained profits

– proposed final dividend 381,524 19,076

– special interim dividend 1,907,619 –

– others 39,236,100 31,752,466

45,546,522 35,651,332

Non-controlling interests 431,803 716,675

Total equity 45,978,325 36,368,007
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2012 2011

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities

Financial guarantee liabilities – 91

Borrowings – due after one year 40 9,335,617 12,684,015

Amounts due to associates 43 30,099 183,689

Amounts due to investee companies 43 104,935 –

Amounts due to non-controlling

shareholders 43 220,437 14,430

Deferred tax liabilities 44 616,457 483,679

10,307,545 13,365,904

56,285,870 49,733,911

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

4th March, 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung Lam, Kwong-wai

Director Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Properties Securities
Share revaluation investments Statutory

capital reserve reserve reserve

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note ii)

ii

At 1st January, 2011 190,762 – 102,715 9,314

Profit for the year – – – –

Fair value changes on available-for-sale investments

– Listed debt investments – – (159) –

– Unlisted investments – – (34,625) –

Reclassification relating to disposals of available-for-sale

investments

– Unlisted investments – – 21 –

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations – – – –

Share of other comprehensive (expenses) income

of associates – – (18) –

Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year – – (34,781) –

PRC statutory reserve – – – 19,805

Deemed contribution from non-controlling interests – – – –

Deemed acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary

(note iii) iii – – – –

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary – – – –

Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders – – – –

Interim dividend paid – – – –

Final dividend paid – – – –

At 31st December, 2011 190,762 – 67,934 29,119
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Amounts
relating to

Capital non-current Non-
Other Special redemption Translation assets Retained controlling Total

reserve reserve reserve reserve held for sale profits Total interests equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note i) (note iv)

i iv

(7,340) 2,499,685 138,062 639,930 – 29,934,738 33,507,866 702,985 34,210,851

– – – – – 3,497,816 3,497,816 21,888 3,519,704

– – – – – – (159) (219) (378)

– – – – – – (34,625) (2,896) (37,521)

– – – – – – 21 13 34

– – – 213,677 – – 213,677 – 213,677

81 – – 107,880 – – 107,943 – 107,943

81 – – 321,557 – 3,497,816 3,784,673 18,786 3,803,459

– – – – – (19,805) – – –

– – – – – – – 5,444 5,444

– – – – – (3,078) (3,078) 3,078 –

– – – – – (1,599,977) (1,599,977) (23) (1,600,000)

– – – – – – – (13,595) (13,595)

– – – – – (19,076) (19,076) – (19,076)

– – – – – (19,076) (19,076) – (19,076)

(7,259) 2,499,685 138,062 961,487 – 31,771,542 35,651,332 716,675 36,368,007
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Properties Securities
Share revaluation investments Statutory

capital reserve reserve reserve

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note ii)

ii

At 1st January, 2012 190,762 – 67,934 29,119

Profit for the year – – – –

Fair value changes on available-for-sale investments

– Unlisted investments  – – (19,969) –

Reclassification relating to non-current assets held for sale – – (4,308) –

Surplus on revaluation of properties and other fixed assets – 98,162 – –

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations – – – –

Share of other comprehensive income of associates – – 23 –

Total comprehensive income (expenses) for the year – 98,162 (24,254) –

PRC statutory reserve – – – 3,084

Disposal of subsidiaries – – 2,085 –

Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders – – – –

Interim dividend paid – – – –

Final dividend paid – – – –

At 31st December, 2012 190,762 98,162 45,765 32,203

Notes:

(i) The movement of other reserve for the year represented the release of
the negative reserve held by an associate of the Group upon the disposals
of the relevant properties.

(ii) The statutory reserve of the Group refers to The People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) statutory reserve fund. Appropriations to such reserve
fund are made out of profit after tax as recorded in the statutory financial
statements of the PRC subsidiaries. The amount should not be less
than 10% of the profit after tax as recorded in the statutory financial
statements unless the aggregate amount exceeds 50% of the registered
capital of the PRC subsidiaries. The statutory reserve can be used to
make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into
the PRC subsidiaries’ capital by means of capitalisation issue.

(i)

(ii)

10%
50%
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(iii)
47,950,000

51.00% 94.79%

3,078,000

(iv)

Attributable to owners of the Company

Amounts
relating to

Capital non-current Non-
Other Special redemption Translation assets Retained controlling Total

reserve reserve reserve reserve held for sale profits Total interests equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note i) (note iv)

i iv

(7,259) 2,499,685 138,062 961,487 – 31,771,542 35,651,332 716,675 36,368,007

– – – – – 9,794,937 9,794,937 25,579 9,820,516

– – – – – – (19,969) 1,723 (18,246)

– – – – 4,308 – – – –

– – – – – – 98,162 – 98,162

– – – 52,148 – – 52,148 – 52,148

4,722 – – 1,234 – – 5,979 – 5,979

4,722 – – 53,382 4,308 9,794,937 9,931,257 27,302 9,958,559

– – – – – (3,084) – – –

– – – – – – 2,085 (211,996) (209,911)

– – – – – – – (100,178) (100,178)

– – – – – (19,076) (19,076) – (19,076)

– – – – – (19,076) (19,076) – (19,076)

(2,537) 2,499,685 138,062 1,014,869 4,308 41,525,243 45,546,522 431,803 45,978,325

(iii) In July and October 2011, the Group accepted the provisional allotment
of new shares in a subsidiary at a consideration of approximately
HK$47,950,000 and increases the equity interests from 51.00% to
94.79%. The capital contribution to the subsidiary by the Group resulted
in the adjustments to non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$3,078,000.

(iv) Amounts represented “Amounts recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity relating to non-current assets held
for sale”.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2012 2011
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities
Profit before tax from continuing operations 10,113,939 3,624,745
Profit before tax from discontinued operation 6,059 11,105
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of properties and other fixed assets 16,507 17,225
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,430 2,860
Income from financial guarantee

to an investee/associate (91) (290)
Interest expenses 313,869 276,414
Imputed interest expenses – 1,994
Interest income (946,565) (753,495)
Imputed interest income – (14,408)
Dividend income from listed and

unlisted investments (33,440) (58,065)
Impairment losses recognised (reversed)

in respect of trade receivables 170 (310)
Unrealised loss arising on change in fair value

of investments held-for-trading 645 138,768
Unrealised (gain) loss arising on change

in fair value of bonds (1,307,979) 1,229,503
Transfer from equity on disposals

of unlisted debt securities – 34
Realised loss arising on disposal

of unlisted equity securities 10,500 –
Gain on revaluation of stock of properties upon

transfer to investment properties (129,002) –
Gain on disposals of investment properties (22,135) (1,945)
Gain on disposals of properties and

other fixed assets (359) (25)
Share of results of associates (580,006) (1,241,732)
Fair value changes on investment properties (6,108,972) (2,959,593)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 45(b) (106,955) (66,825)
Net exchange gain (8,501) (6,826)
Costs of development recognised in respect

of property project in Macau 694,737 –
Reversal of contingency provision – (16,054)
Write-down of stock of properties 606 2,312

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital 1,914,457 185,392

Decrease in stock of properties 356,504 136,848
Decrease in loans receivables 52 1
Decrease (increase) in inventories

for cosmetic products 560 (979)
Increase in debtors, deposits and prepayments (325,994) (65,227)
Decrease in investments held-for-trading 357,945 1,768,381
Increase in financial assets designated

as at fair value through profit or loss (4,034,944) (1,270,685)
(Increase) decrease in securities trading

receivables and deposits (260,683) 81,503
(Increase) decrease in sales proceeds

held by stakeholders (803,700) 9,694
Decrease in creditors and accruals (18,674) (28,630)
Increase (decrease) in securities trading and

margin payable 22,590 (62,201)
Increase in deposits and receipts in advance 2,328,753 369,220
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2012 2011

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash (used in) generated from operating activities (463,134) 1,123,317

Net Hong Kong Profits Tax Paid (83,121) (119,976)

Net cash (used in) generated from

operating activities (546,255) 1,003,341

Investing activities

Dividend received from listed and

unlisted investments 33,440 58,065

Dividend received from associates 261,850 700,000

Interest received 888,226 718,319

Purchases of investment properties (807,770) (1,538,916)

Purchases of properties and other fixed assets (26,848) (16,897)

Payments for stock of properties (1,025,200) (1,366,125)

Proceeds on disposals of investment properties 91,185 92,627

Proceeds on disposals of properties and

other fixed assets 1,056 25

Proceed from disposal of

available-for-sale investments 30 1,551,380 11,590

Proceeds from redemption upon maturity

of available-for-sale investments 11,795 104,165

Purchases of available-for-sale investments (1,000) (3,927,101)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries 45(a) – (388,884)

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries 45(b) 126,316 495,104

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary 46 – (1,600,000)

Advances to associates (217,457) (86,026)

Repayments from associates 39,853 149,973

Advance to an investee company – (61,554)

Repayment from an investee company 511,176 192

Increase in pledged deposits (527,513) (1,517,933)

Net cash generated from (used in)

investing activities 910,489 (8,173,376)

Financing activities

Dividends paid (38,152) (38,152)

Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders (100,178) (13,595)

Interest paid (494,620) (311,285)

New bank loans and other loans raised 12,988,911 12,961,881

Repayments of bank loans and other loans (12,482,811) (11,805,625)

Repayments/advances from

non-controlling shareholders 315,487 –

Capital contribution by non-controlling shareholders – (111,984)

Net cash generated from financing activities 188,637 681,240
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2012 2011

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Net increase (decrease) in cash and

cash equivalents 552,871 (6,488,795)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 4,268,499 10,689,322

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (1,360) 67,972

Cash and cash equivalents

at 31st December 4,820,010 4,268,499

Analysis of the balances of cash and

cash equivalents

Time deposits, bank balances and cash 4,786,523 4,268,499

Time deposits and bank balances included

in assets classified as held for sale 13 33,487 –

4,820,010 4,268,499

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda

with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the

Company’s registered office and principal office in Hong Kong are

disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section of this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong

dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional currency of the

Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) and all amounts are rounded

to the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except otherwise indicated.

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding and the

principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set

out in Notes 54 and 55 respectively. Principal activities of the jointly

controlled entities, which the Group has lost control of during the

year, are set out in Note 29.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The accounting policies adopted in the consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31st December, 2012 are consistent

with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated

financial statements for the year ended 31st December, 2011 except

as described below.

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the

following amendments issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are effective for current

accounting year of the Group. The amendments adopted by the

Group in the consolidated financial statements are set out below:

HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Disclosures – Severe Hyperinflation

and Removal of Fixed Dates for

First-time Adopters

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures – Transfers of

Financial Assets

The Group has early adopted the amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred

Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets”, in respect of the recognition of

deferred tax on investment properties carried at fair value under

HKAS 40 “Investment Property” for the financial year ended 31st

December, 2010 and this change in accounting policy has been

consistently applied in the consolidated financial statements.

Save as described above, the application of the amendments had

no material effect on how the results and financial position for the

current or prior accounting periods have been prepared and

presented. Accordingly, no prior year adjustment has been required.

1.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

The Group has not early adopted the following new and revised

HKFRSs, amendments and interpretation (“new and revised

HKFRSs”) that have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2009-2011 Cycle2

HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Government Loans2

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures – Offsetting Financial

Assets and Financial Liabilities2

HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 Mandatory Effective Date of

(Amendments) HKFRS 9 and Transition

Disclosure4

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments4

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial

Statements2

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements2

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other

Entities2

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement2

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and Consolidated Financial Statements,

HKFRS 12 (Amendments) Joint Arrangements and

Disclosure of Interests in Other

Entities: Transition Guidance2

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and Investment Entities3

HKAS 27 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Presentation of Items of Other

Comprehensive Income1

HKAS 19 (Revised in 2011) Employee Benefits2

HKAS 27 (Revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements2

HKAS 28 (Revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and

Joint Ventures2

HKAS 32 (Amendments) Presentation – Offsetting Financial

Assets and Financial Liabilities3

HK(IFRIC) – Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production

Phase of a Surface Mine2

2.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2013

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2014

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2015

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (as issued in November 2009)

introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement

of financial assets. HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (as revised in

November 2010) adds requirements for the financial liabilities and

for derecognition. Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets

that are within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement” are subsequently measured at either

amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are

held within a business model whose objective is to collect the

contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding

are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent

accounting periods. All other debt investments and equity

investments are measured at their fair values at the end of

subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities

may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes

in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held-for-trading)

in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally

recognised in profit or loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated

as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the

amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is

attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented

in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects

of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income

would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.

Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in

the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently reclassified

to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change

in the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair value

through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1st January, 2015, with earlier application permitted. The application

of HKFRS 9 might affect the classification, measurement and

presentation of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities.

2.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” establishes a single source of

guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about fair

value measurements. The standard defines fair value, establishes a

framework for measuring fair value, and requires disclosures about

fair value measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies

to both financial instrument items and non-financial instrument items

for which other HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements

and disclosures about fair value measurements, except in specified

circumstances. In general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS

13 are more extensive than those in the current standards.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st

January, 2013, with earlier application permitted. The application of

the HKFRS 13 might affect the amounts reported and result in more

extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial statements of

the Group.

The Group is in the process of assessing the potential impact of

these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to

determine whether these new and revised HKFRSs will have a

significant impact on how its results of operations and financial

position are prepared and presented. These new and revised HKFRSs

may result in changes in the future as to how the results and financial

position are prepared and presented.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes all

applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong

Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the

HKICPA, and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable

disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

2.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under

the historical cost basis, except for certain properties and financial

instruments, which are measured at their fair values as explained in

the accounting policies set out below.

(a) Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power

to govern the financial and operating policies generally

accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the

voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights

that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered

when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which

control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated

from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to

account for business combinations. The consideration

transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values

of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity

interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred

includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a

contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related

costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired

and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business

combination are measured initially at their fair values at the

acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the

Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree

either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s

proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less

impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration

arising from contingent consideration amendments within the

measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the

acquisition date). Cost also includes direct attributable costs

of investment.

3.

(a)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of

any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-

date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree

over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is

recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the

net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain

purchase, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on

transactions between group companies are eliminated.

Unrealised losses are also eliminated.

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is

attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-

controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.

Transaction with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests

as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases

from non-controlling interests, the difference between any

consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the

carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in

equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests

are also recorded in equity.

Changes in the Group‘s ownership interest in existing

subsidiaries and associates

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence,

any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair

value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit

or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the

purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest

as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition,

any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive

income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the

Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other

comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

3.

(a)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group‘s ownership interest in existing

subsidiaries and associates (Cont’d)

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but

significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of

the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive

income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

(b) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at

cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business

less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the

consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling

interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s

previously held equity interests in the acquiree (if any) over

the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable

assets acquired and the l iabi l i t ies assumed. I f,  after

reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amount of the

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds

the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any

non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of

the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),

the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a

bargain purchase gain.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated

to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of

cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the

synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated

is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when

there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than

its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to

reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the

unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata

basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit

or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not

reversed is in subsequent periods.

3.

(a)

(b)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b) Goodwill (Cont’d)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the

at t r ibutable amount of  goodwi l l  is  inc luded in the

determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

(c) Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant

influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a

joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate

in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee

but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are

incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using

the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,

investments in associates are initially recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position at cost and

adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit

or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates.

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds

the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-

term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net

investment in the associate), the Group discontinues

recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are

recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred

legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf

of the associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the

cost of acquisit ion, after reassessment, is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

3.

(b)

(c)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(c) Investments in associates (Cont’d)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine

whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with

respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When

necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment

(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance

with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by

comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and

fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any

impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount

of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is

recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that

the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group losing

significant influence over that associate, any retained

investment is measured at fair value at that date and the fair

value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a

financial asset in accordance with HKAS 39. The difference

between the previous carrying amount of the associate

attributable to the retained interest and its fair value is included

in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the

associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts

previously recognised in other comprehensive income in

relation to that associate on the same basis as would be

required if that associate had directly disposed of the related

assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously

recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate

would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the

related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or

loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification

adjustment) when it loses significant influence over that

associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,

profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s

interest in the relevant associate.

(d) Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of

a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over

the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly

controlled entities.

3.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Jointly controlled entities (Cont’d)

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities

are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using

the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,

interests in jointly controlled entities are carried in the

consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted

for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the profit

or loss and of changes in equity of the jointly controlled entities,

less any identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share

of losses of a jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its

interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes any

long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s

net investment in the jointly controlled entity), the Group

discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An

additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is

recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred

legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf

of that jointly controlled entity.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity

of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent

of the Group’s interest in the relevant jointly controlled entity,

except to the extent that unrealised losses provide evidence

of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case, the

full amount of losses is recognised.

(e) Impairment losses (other than goodwill and

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the

carrying amounts of its tangible assets and intangible assets

with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any

indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less

than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is

reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying

amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its

recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the

asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.

(d)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f) Investment properties and investment properties

under construction and development

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental

income and/or for capital appreciation including properties

under construction and development for such purposes and

land held for a currently undetermined future use. On initial

recognition, investment properties are measured at cost,

including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to

initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair

value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value

of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the

period in which they arise. However, if the fair values of

investment properties under construction and development

are not reliably determinable but expect the fair values of the

properties to be reliably determinable when construction/

development is completed, it shall measure that investment

properties under construction and development at cost, less

any impairment loss, until either its fair value become reliably

determinable or construction/development is completed

(whichever is earlier).

Leasehold land held for undetermined future use is regarded

as held for capital appreciation purpose and classified as an

investment property, and carried at fair value. Changes in fair

value of the leasehold land are recognised directly in profit or

loss for the period in which changes take place.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when

the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use

and no future economic benefits are expected from its

disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the

property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in

profit or loss for the period in which the property is

derecognised.

An investment property is transferred at fair value to properties

and other fixed assets when the property begins to be

occupied by the owner. Gain or loss arising from change in

fair value of the investment property upon the transfer is

included in profit or loss.

3.

(f)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f) Investment properties and investment properties

under construction and development (Cont’d)

An owner-occupied property is transferred from properties

and other fixed assets to investment property at fair value

when it is evidenced by the end of owner-occupation. The

difference between the carrying amount and fair value at the

date of transfer is accounted for as a revaluation increase in

accordance with HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”.

On the subsequent sale or retirement of assets, the relevant

revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained profits.

(g) Properties and other fixed assets

Properties and other fixed assets including buildings and

leasehold land classified as finance leases (other than

properties under development) are stated at cost less

subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their

expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,

where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of properties

and other f ixed assets (other than proper t ies under

development) over their estimated useful lives and after taking

into account their estimated residual values, using the straight

line method, at the following rates per annum:

Type Basis

Leasehold land Over the remaining lives of the

leases

Buildings Over the shorter of the

remaining unexpired period

of the lease and 40 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3 to 10 years

equipments

Yachts and motor vehicles 3 to 10 years

An item of properties and other fixed assets is derecognised

upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any

gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated

as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the

carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in

the period in which the asset is derecognised.

3.

(f)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h) Property interests held for future development

Property interests held for future development represents a

right to develop properties on a piece of land upon payment

of a final amount, and are carried at cost less any identified

impairment loss.

(i) Stock of properties

Stock of properties including completed properties and

properties under development, which are held-for-trading, are

stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost and

net realisable value are determined as follows:

The cost of completed properties held for sale is determined

by apportionment of the total development costs, including

borrowing costs capitalised, attributable to unsold units. Net

realisable value is estimated by the management of the Group

based on prevailing market conditions, which represents the

estimated selling price less estimated costs to be incurred in

selling the property.

The cost of properties under development held for sale

includes identified costs including the acquisition cost of land,

aggregate cost of development, borrowing costs capitalised,

material and supplies, wages, other direct expenses and an

appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is

estimated by the management of the Group taking into

account the expected price that can ultimately be achieved

based on prevailing market conditions, the anticipated costs

of completion and costs to be incurred in selling the property.

The amount of any write-down of or provision for completed

properties held for sale and properties under development

held for sale is recognised as an expense in the period the

write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any

write-down or provision arising from an increase in net

realisable value is recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which the reversal occurs.

3.

(h)

(i)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(j) Inventories for cosmetic products

Inventories comprise finished goods and raw materials which

are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost represents the invoiced cost of inventories. Costs are

assigned to individual items on the weighted-average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling

expenses.

(k) Intangible assets

Trading rights, exchange rights and trademark

Trading rights, gold and silver exchange rights and trademark

are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and less any

identified impairment loss. The amortisation period adopted

for intangible assets is 5 years.

(l) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a

group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of

the instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are

initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets

and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial

liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs

directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.

(j)

者 者
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three

categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial

assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets

are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular

way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial

assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame

established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The accounting policies adopted in respect of such category

of financial assets are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the

amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest

income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts

(including all fees and points paid or received that form an

integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs

and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life

of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period

to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis

for debt instruments other than financial assets designated

as at fair value through profit or loss.

3.

(l)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as at fair value through profit or

loss when the financial asset is either held-for-trading or it is

designated by management of the Group as such at inception.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

(i) it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling

it in the near future; or

(ii) on initial recognition, it is a part of an identified portfolio

of financial instruments that the Group manages

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term

profit-taking; or

(iii) it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as

a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held-for-trading

may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon

initial recognition if:

(i) such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would

otherwise arise; or

(ii) the financial asset forms part of a group of financial

assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed

and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,

in accordance with the Group’s documented risk

management or investment strategy, and information

about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;

or

3.

(l)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(i)

(ii)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Cont’d)

(iii) it forms part of a contract containing one or more

embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire

combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated

as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured

at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement

recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in

profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on

the financial assets and is included in “Investment Income/

Expenses”.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables (including advances to associates,

advance to an investee company, loans receivable, advances

to non-controlling shareholders, pledged deposits, debtors and

deposits, securities trading receivables and deposits, time

deposits, bank balances and cash and sales proceeds held by

stakeholders) are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active

market. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method, less any identified

impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are

either designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as

any of the other categories under HKAS 39. In addition to

equity investments, the Group has also designated certain

debt investments as available-for-sale financial assets.

3.

(l)

(iii)

39

39
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value

at the end of each reporting period. Changes in fair value are

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated

under the securities investments reserve, when the financial

asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the

cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the securities

investments reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the

accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial

assets below).

However, interest calculated using the effective interest

method is recognised in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted

market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot

be reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified

impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit

or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end

of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired when

there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more

events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial

asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets

have been affected.

3.

(l)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

For available-for-sale equity investments, a significant or

prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below

its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment

could include:

(i) s igni f icant f inancia l  d i f f icu l ty of  the issuer or

counterparty; or

(ii) breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

(iii) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

(iv) the disappearance of an active market for that financial

asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade

receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired

individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a

collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a

portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past

experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number

of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit

period, as well as observable changes in national or local

economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of

the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated

future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original

effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the

impairment loss is measured as the difference between the

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated

future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of

return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will

not be reversed in subsequent periods.

3.

(l)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the

impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the

exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is

reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a

trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off

against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of

amounts previously written off are credited against the

allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the

allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When available-for-sale financial assets are considered to be

impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in

other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a

subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases

and the decrease can be related objectively to an event

occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the

previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through

profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the

asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed

what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment

not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, impairment

losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed

through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent

to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive

income and accumulated under the heading of securities

investments reserve. In respect of available-for-sale debt

investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed

through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the

investment can be objectively related to an event occurring

after the recognition of the impairment loss.

3.

(l)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are

classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance

with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual

interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its

liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other

financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect

of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the

amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest

expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate

is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash

payments (including all fees and points paid or received that

form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction

costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected

life of the financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter

period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis

other than financial liabilities classified as at fair value through

profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit

or loss when the financial liability is either held-for-trading or

it is designated as such on initial recognition.

3.

(l)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Cont’d)

A financial liability is classified as held-for-trading if:

(i) it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

repurchasing it in the near term; or

(ii) on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified

financial instruments that the Group manages together

and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-

taking; or

(iii) it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as

a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held-for-trading

may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon

initial recognition if:

(i) such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would

otherwise arise; or

(ii) the financial liability forms part of a group of financial

assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed

and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,

in accordance with the Group’s documented risk

management or investment strategy, and information

about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;

or

(iii) it forms part of a contract containing one or more

embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire

combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated

as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on

remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or

loss recognised in profit or loss includes any interest paid on

the financial liability.

3.

(l)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(i)

(ii)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including creditors and accruals,

securities trading and margin payable, deposits received, bank

and other borrowings, amounts due to associates, amounts

due to investee companies and amounts due to non-

controlling shareholders) are subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at

the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is

recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is

recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or

cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the

issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder

for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make

payment when due in accordance with the original or modified

terms of debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued

by the Group and not designated as at fair value through profit

or loss is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction

costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial

guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group

measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)

the amount determined in accordance with HKAS 37

“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”; and

(ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,

cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS

18 “Revenue”.

3.

(l)

(i)

37

(ii)

18
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the

contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or

when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum

of the consideration received and receivable and the

cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in

equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only

when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or

they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of

the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

(m) Revenue recognition

Revenue from properties developed for sale is recognised

upon completion of sales agreement and by reference to the

timing of the execution of deed of legal assignment or delivery

of property to the purchaser, whichever is earlier.

Revenue from properties held for sale is recognised on the

execution of a binding sales agreement. Payments received

from the purchasers prior to this stage are recorded as deposits

received on sales of properties and are grouped under current

liabilities.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from

properties under operating leases, is recognised in profit or

loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Sale of securities investments are recognised on a trade date

basis.

3.

(l)

(m)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Brokerage income on dealings in securities and futures

contracts and the profit and loss on trade in securities and

futures contracts are recognised on the transaction dates when

the relevant contract notes are executed.

Management fee income is recognised in accordance with

terms of respective agreements over the relevant period in

which the services are rendered.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the

Group’s right to receive payment have been established.

Revenue from sales of cosmetic product is recognised when

goods are delivered and titles have been passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time

basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the

effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly

discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the

expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

(n) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the

year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income because

of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible

in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end

of the reporting period.

3.

(m)

(n)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(n) Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between

the carrying amounts of assets and l iabi l i t ies in the

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax

bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax

liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary

differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for

all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is

probable that taxable profits will be available against which

those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such

deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the

temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial

recognition (other than in a business combination) of other

assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the

taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and

associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the

Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the

end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it

is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates

that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is

settled or the asset realised. Current and deferred tax are

recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items

that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly

in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity

respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the

initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is

included in the accounting for the business combination.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate

to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the

entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on

a net basis.

3.

(n)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(o) Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of

the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or

loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an

operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased

asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis

over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases is charged to profit or

loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into

an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental

expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(p) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group

entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional

currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at

the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

At the end of the repor t ing period, monetary i tems

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates

prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value

that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at

the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was

determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms

of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

3.

(o)

(p)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(p) Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary

items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised

in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for

exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms

part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign operation,

in which case, the exchange differences are recognised in

other comprehensive income in the consolidated financial

statements and will be reclassified from equity to profit or

loss on disposal of the foreign operation. Exchange differences

arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at

fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except

for exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-

monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are

recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which

case, the exchange differences are recognised directly in other

comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial

statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign

operations are translated into the presentation currency of

the Group (i.e. HK$) using the exchange rate prevailing at the

end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are

translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless

exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in

which case, the exchange rates at the dates of transactions

are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised

in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity

under the heading of the translation reserve. Such exchange

differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which the foreign operation is disposed of.

3.

(p)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(p) Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the

Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal

involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign

operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly

controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal

involving loss of significant influence over an associate that

includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences

accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable

to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or

loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not

result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the

proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is

reattributed to non-controlling interests and is not recognised

in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial

disposals of associates or jointly controlled entities that do

not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint

control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange

differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

(q) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,

construction or production of qualifying assets, which are

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get

ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of

those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases

when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use

or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

(r) Retirement benefits costs

Payment to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes

are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered

service entitling them to the contributions.

3.

(p)

(q)

(r)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(s) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present

obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the

Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of

the consideration required to settle the present obligation at

the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks

and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision

is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the

present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of

those cash flows.

(t) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held

for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally

through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly

probable and the non-current asset or disposal group is

available for immediate sale in its present condition.

Management of the Group must be committed to the sale,

which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a

completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of

control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that

subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria

described above are met, regardless of whether the Group

will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary

after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held

for sale (other than investment properties accounted for under

the fair value model in HKAS 40 and financial assets within

the scope of HKAS 39) are measured at the lower of their

previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

3.

(s)

(t)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(u) Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(2) has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(1) the entity and the Group are members of the

same group (which means that each parent,

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others).

(2) one entity is an associate or a joint venture of

the other entity (or an associate or a joint venture

of a member of a group of which the other entity

is a member).

(3) both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

(4) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(5) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for

the benefit of employees of either the Group or

an entity related to the Group.

(6) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (i).

(7) a person identified in (i)(1) has significant

influence over the entity or is a member of the

key management personnel of the entity (or of a

parent of the entity).

Close family members of an individual are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

3.

(u)

(i)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(ii)

(1)

 

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6) (i)

(7) (i)(1)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(v) Contingent liabilities and assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from

past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain

future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It

can also be a present obligation arising from past events that

is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of

economic resources will be required or the amount of

obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability

is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements. When a change in the

probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it

will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past

events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future

events not wholly within the control of the Group. Contingent

assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to

the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of

economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain,

an asset is recognised.

(w) Operating segments

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with

the internal management reporting provided to the chief

operating decision-makers. Segment assets consist primarily

of properties and other fixed assets, financial assets and other

assets. Segment liabilities comprise financial liabilities and

other liabilities. The Group evaluates performance on the basis

of profit or loss from operations after tax expense and non-

controlling interests but not including the major non-cash

items. The major non-cash items mainly are fair value changes

on investment properties and other property together with

their, if applicable, respective deferred tax expense. No

intersegment revenue is accounted for as the intersegment

revenue is mainly the rental income for administrative purpose.

3.

(v)

(w)

者
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are

described in Note 3, management of the Group is required to make

judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other

sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on

historical experience and other factors that are considered to be

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in

the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects

only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods

if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving

estimations, that management of the Group have made in the

process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have

the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

consolidated financial statements.

Fair value and impairment of available-for-sale

investments

As described in Note 5, the management of the Group use their

judgments in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for

financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation

techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied. The

Group’s unlisted equity instruments with carrying amounts of

approximately HK$98,242,000 (2011: HK$120,239,000) are valued

using a discounted cash flow analysis based on assumptions

supported, where possible, by observable market prices or rates.

The estimation of fair value of these equity instruments also includes

some assumptions not supported by observable market prices or

rates.

4.

3

者

5

98,242,000

120,239,000
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies (Cont’d)

Impairment loss in respect of accounts receivable

The policy for impairment loss in respect of accounts receivable of

the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and aging

analysis of accounts and on management’s judgment. A considerable

amount of judgment is required in assessing the ultimate realisation

of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the

past collection history of each debtor. If the financial conditions of

debtors of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment

of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be

required.

Fair value of investment properties

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair value based on

the valuation performed by independent professional valuers. In

determining the fair value, the valuers have based on method of

valuation which involves certain estimates. In relying on the valuation

reports, the management of the Group have exercised their

judgments and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective

of the current market conditions, as detailed in Note 22. Should

there be changes in assumptions due to change in market conditions,

the fair value of the investment properties will change in future.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and

other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting

period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next

financial year.

Deferred tax assets

At 31st December, 2012, a deferred tax asset of approximately

HK$49,757,000 (2011: HK$55,211,000) in relation to unused tax

losses has been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

position. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends

on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences

will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future profits

generated are less than expected, a material reversal of deferred

tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income for the period in which such a

reversal takes place.

4.

22

49,757,000

55,211,000
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has been

impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with

the accounting policy stated in Note 3. The recoverable amounts of

cash-generating units are determined based on value-in-use

calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and

assumptions made by management of the Group on the future

operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and other

assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

Property project in Macau

The Group was involved in legal proceedings in respect of the

property project in Macau. “Costs of Development Recognised in

respect of Property Project in Macau” in profit or loss is estimated in

accordance with HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and

Measurement” as detailed in Notes 34 and 38. Based on the legal

opinion, management of the Group estimated that no significant

loss would be incurred beyond the amounts recognised. Actual

results could differ from these estimates.

Write-down of stock of properties

In accordance with the accounting policies as stated in Note 3, the

Group performs regular reviews on the estimated net realisable

values of the stock of properties in order to assess if, when the

estimated net realisable values declining below the corresponding

carrying amounts, any write-down on stock of properties is required.

Management of the Group has taken into account of the prevailing

market conditions, valuations or estimated unit selling price from

independent property valuers and internally available information

and exercised considerable judgments in making these estimates,

4.

3

39

34 38

3
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Available-for-sale investments 119,012 4,213,673

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss:

– Investments held-for-trading  156,327 514,917

– Designated as at fair value through  

profit or loss  10,569,534 5,226,611

Loans and receivables

(including time deposits, bank

balances and cash) 14,709,129 8,535,745

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 27,764,329 24,572,469

Financial guarantee liabilities – 91

5.

(a)

Note: The above table and the analyses below excluded the
respective items classified as held for sale.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity

investments, debt securities, bonds, advances to associates/

non-controlling shareholders, loan receivables, borrowings,

debtors and deposits, time deposits and bank balances,

creditors and accruals, and deposits received. Details of these

financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The

risks associated with these financial instruments and the

policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The

management of the Group manages and monitors these

exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented

on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the Group’s risk exposure relating

to financial instruments or the manner in which it manages

and measures the risks.

(b)
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk

arising from future commercial transactions, and from

recognised assets and liabilities. The functional currency

of the Company and its major subsidiaries in Hong Kong

is HK$ in which most of the t ransact ions are

denominated. The functional currencies of those

subsidiaries operating in PRC and in the United Kingdom

are Renminbi (“RMB”) and Pound Sterling (“GBP”)

respectively in which most of their transactions are

denominated. The Group is mainly exposed to foreign

exchange risk in respect of exchange fluctuations of HK$

against RMB and GBP. The conversion of RMB into other

currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of

fore ign exchange contro l  promulgated by the

government of PRC. The Group currently does not have

a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign

currency assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor

its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider

hedging significant foreign currency exposure should

the need arise.

5.

(b)

(i)
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the

end of the reporting period is as follows:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets

United States dollars (“US$”) 14,921,047 9,513,711

RMB 578,901 213,602

GBP 44,673 43,591

EURO (“EUR”) – 42,093

Macau Pataca (“MOP”) 7,667 1,954

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Liabilities

US$ 6,620,147 3,275,867

GBP – 524,752

MOP 14 179

5.

(b)

(i)

5%

5%

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a

5% increase and decrease in the HK$ against the

relevant foreign currencies. As HK$ is pegged to US$

and MOP, it is assumed that there would be no material

currency risk exposure between US$/MOP and HK$ and

therefore US$ and MOP are excluded from the analysis

below.

5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign

currency risk internally to key management personnel

and represents management’s assessment of the

reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d)

The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding foreign

currency denominated monetary items, and adjusts their

translations at the end of the reporting period for a 5%

change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis

includes external loans as well as loans to/from foreign

operations within the Group where the denomination

of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of

the lender or the borrower; but excluding exposure

resulting from the translation of the financial statements

of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation

currency.

A posit ive/negative number below indicates an

increase/decrease in profit where the relevant currencies

strengthen 5% against HK$. For a 5% weakening of

the relevant currencies against HK$, there would be an

equal and opposite impact on the profit.

Profit or loss

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Impact of

RMB 28,945 10,680

GBP 2,234 (24,058)

EUR – 2,105

5.

(b)

(i)

5%

5%

5%

There would be no material impact to the Group’s other

components of equity for the years ended 31st

December, 2012 and 2011.

The net effect of the Group’s sensitivity to foreign

currency risk was attributable to the Group’s monetary

assets and liabilities with exposure to foreign currency

risk at the end of the reporting period.

,
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(ii) Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group has variable-rate interest-bearing assets and

borrowings including advances to associates, loans

receivable, bank balances and borrowings and is

therefore exposed to cash flow interest rate risk. Details

of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective

notes. The Group currently does not have interest rate

hedging policy. However, the management of the Group

monitor interest rate exposure and will consider hedging

significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly

concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank

Offered Rates (“HIBOR”), prime rate (“Prime”), The

London Interbank Offered Rates (“LIBOR”), People’s

Bank of China base rate or costs of funds of financial

institutions.

Sensitivity analysis

The fol lowing demonstrates the sensit ivity to a

reasonable possible change in interest rates with all

other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit

before tax (through the impact of floating rates in

advances to associates, loans receivable, bank balances

and borrowings).

5.

(b)

(ii)
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(ii) Cash flow interest rate risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d)

If the floating rates had been 50 basis points higher/

lower, with all the other variables held constant, the

Group’s:

• profit before tax for the year ended 31st December,

2012 would decrease/increase by approximately

HK$87,172,000 (2011: HK$83,604,000). This was

mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to

interest rates on its variable-rate interest-bearing

assets and borrowings.

• no material impact to the other components of

equity for the years ended 31st December, 2012

and 2011.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased

during the current year mainly due to the increase in

interest rates of the variable-rate borrowings.

(iii) Price risk

The Group’s investments classified as available-for-sale

investments, investments held-for-trading and financial

assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss

are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting

period and expose the Group to price risk. The

management of the Group manage this exposure by

maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk

profiles. In addition, the Group has appointed a special

team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging

the risk exposure should the need arise.

5.

(b)

(ii)

50

•

87,172,000

 83,604,000

•

(iii)
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(iii) Price risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined

based on the exposure to price risk at the end of the

reporting period.

If prices had been 5% higher/lower, the Group’s:

• prof i t  before tax for the year ended 31st

December, 2012 would increase/decrease by

approx imate l y  HK$536 ,293 ,000 (2011:

HK$287,076,000). This was mainly due to the

changes in fair value of investments held-for-

trading and financial assets designated as at fair

value through profit or loss.

• other components of equity for the year ended

31st December, 2012 would increase/decrease

by approx imate ly  HK$4,912,000 (2011:

HK$15,240,000) as a result of the changes in

fair value of available-for-sale investments.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of

the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations as at

31st December, 2012 in relation to each class of recognised

financial assets are: (a) the carrying amounts of those assets

as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position;

and (b) financial guarantee provided by the Group which is

the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial

guarantee issued by the Group. The Group’s time deposits

are deposited with banks of high credit quality in Hong Kong

and overseas.

5.

(b)

(iii)

5%

•

536,293,000

287,076,000

•

4,912,000

15,240,000

(a)

(b)
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group made transactions with counterparties with
acceptable credit quality in conformance to the Group’s
treasury policies to minimise credit exposure. Acceptable credit
ratings from reputable credit rating agencies and scrutiny of
financials for non-rated counterparties are two important
criteria in the selection of counterparties. The credit quality of
counterparties will be closely monitored over the life of the
transaction. The Group reviews its financial counterparties
periodically in order to reduce credit risk concentrations relative
to the underlying size and credit strength of each counterparty.

In an attempt to forestall adverse market movement, the Group
also monitors potential exposures to each financial institution
counterparty. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company (“Directors”) consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced. Investment in debt securities are
limited to financial institutions or investment counterparty with
high quality.

Certain mortgagee banks have provided end-user financing
to purchasers of stock of properties located in Mainland China
and the Group has provided repurchase guarantees to these
mortgagee banks for securing the obligations of such
purchasers for repayments.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principals
together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the mortgagee banks. Under such
circumstances, the Group is able to sell the properties to
recover any amounts paid by the Group to the mortgagee
banks. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced. Nevertheless, the net
realisable values of the relevant properties are subject to the
fluctuation of the property market in general, the management
of the Group, by reference to the valuation conducted by
independent qualified professional valuer, assesses at the end
of each reporting period the liabilities based on the current
estimates of future cash flows. At 31st December, 2012 and
2011, no provision on the above guarantees to banks had
been made in the financial statements.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
location is mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

5.

(b)
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s certain investments held-for-trading and bonds

were pledged to the Group’s financial institutions to secure

margin and securities facilities granted to the Group in respect

of securities transactions. Under adverse market conditions,

the Group may be called by the financial institutions upon at

short notice to make deposit to repay the margin loans. If the

required deposits are not made within the prescribed time,

the Group’s securities may be liquidated by the financial

institutions without the Group’s consent.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate

bank deposits and cash, monitoring forecast and actual cash

flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets

and liabilities.

The l iquidity r isk is under continuous monitoring by

management of the Group. Reports with maturity dates of

bank borrowings and thus the liquidity requirement are

provided to management of the Group for review periodically.

Management of the Group will contact the bankers for

renewals of bank borrowings whenever necessary.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual

maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the

agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up

based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities

based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required

to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash

flows.

5.

(b)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

139

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

At 31st December, 2012

Weighted
average

effective Total Total
interest Within Within 2 Over undiscounted carrying

rate 1 year to 5 years 5 years cash flows amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial
liabilities

Borrowings 2.32% 14,646,759 10,320,601 – 24,967,360 23,507,575
Creditors and accruals – 636,313 – – 636,313 636,313
Securities trading and

margin payable – 33,586 – – 33,586 33,586
Amounts due to associates – – 30,099 – 30,099 30,099
Amounts due to investee

companies – – 104,935 – 104,935 104,935
Amounts due to non-controlling

shareholders
– Interest-bearing  11.25% – 17,860 – 17,860 16,054
– Interest-free  – – 204,383 – 204,383 204,383

Financial guarantees liabilities
– Current  – 789,586 – – 789,586 –
– Non-current  – – 335,500 – 335,500 –

Total 16,106,244 11,013,378 – 27,119,622 24,532,945

At 31st December, 2011

Weighted
average

effective Total Total
interest Within Within 2 Over undiscounted carrying

rate 1 year to 5 years 5 years cash flows amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial
liabilities

Borrowings 1.92% 10,376,207 13,069,010 270,348 23,715,565 22,690,682
Creditors and accruals – 765,027 – – 765,027 765,027
Securities trading and

margin payable – 10,996 – – 10,996 10,996
Amounts due to associates – – 183,689 – 183,689 183,689
Amounts due to non-controlling

shareholders – – 14,430 – 14,430 14,430
Financial guarantees liabilities

– Current  – 350,600 – – 350,600 –
– Non-current  – – 811,899 – 811,899 91

Total 11,502,830 14,079,028 270,348 25,852,206 23,664,915

5.

(b)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2012140

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are

determined as follows:

• the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

with standard terms and conditions and traded in active

liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted

market bid prices and ask prices respectively;

• the fair values of derivative instruments are determined

based on the quoted prices provided by the securities’

broker; and

• the fair values of other financial assets and financial

liabilities are determined in accordance with generally

accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow

analysis using the estimated future cash flows and the

current market rate of return.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial

assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs in

the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair

values.

(d) Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

The fol lowing table provides an analysis of f inancial

instruments that are measured subsequent to init ial

recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on

the degree to which the fair value is observable:

Level 1: fair value measurements are those derived from

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: fair value measurements are those derived from

inputs other than quoted prices included within

Level 1 that are observable for asset or liability,

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.

derived from prices); and

Level 3: fair value measurements are those derived from

valuation techniques that include inputs for the

asset or liability that are not based on observable

market data (unobservable inputs).

5.

(c)

•

•

•

(d)
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d) Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position (Cont’d)

The following table shows the Group’s analysis of financial

instruments recorded at fair value by the fair value hierarchy:

At 31st December, 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss
– Investments held-for-trading  156,327 – – 156,327
– Designated as at fair value  

through profit or loss  10,569,534 – – 10,569,534

Available-for-sale investments
– Unlisted equity securities (note)  – – 98,242 98,242

Total 10,725,861 – 98,242 10,824,103

At 31st December, 2011

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss
– Investments held-for-trading  514,917 – – 514,917
– Designated as at fair value  

through profit or loss  5,226,611 – – 5,226,611

Available-for-sale investments
– Unlisted debt securities  184,564 – – 184,564
– Unlisted equity securities (note)  – – 120,239 120,239

Total 5,926,092 – 120,239 6,046,331

5.

(d)

Note: The fair values of unlisted equity securities investments
classified as available-for-sale investments are measured
using a discounted cash flow model that includes some
assumptions that are not supportable by observable market
prices or rates (see Note 30 for details). 30
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d) Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position (Cont’d)

There were no transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3

in the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets

is based on quoted market prices at the end of each reporting

period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are

readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker,

industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those

prices represent actual and regularly occurring market

transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price

used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid

price. These instruments are included in Level 1.

The movement during the year in the balances of Level 3 fair

value measurements is as follows:

HK$’000

Unlisted available-for-sale equity

securities investments:

At 1st January, 2011 152,173

Net unrealised losses recognised in other

comprehensive income during the year (31,934)

At 31st December, 2011 120,239

Net unrealised losses recognised in other

comprehensive income during the year (21,997)

At 31st December, 2012 98,242

All of the above gains and losses included in other

comprehensive income for the current year relate to unquoted

equity investments held at the end of the reporting period

and are reported as changes of “Securities Investments

Reserve”.

5.

(d)
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6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard the abilities of the entities in the Group to continue as a

going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for

shareholders of the Company and benefits for other stakeholders,

by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of

risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Directors actively and regularly review and manage the Group’s

capital structure to maximise the returns to shareholders of the

Company through the optimisation of the debt afforded by a sound

capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in

light of changes in economic conditions. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from 2011.

During the year ended 31st December, 2012, the capital structure

of the Group mainly consists of debts, which include borrowings

from banks and other financial institutions, time deposits, bank

balances and cash, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,

comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained profits

respectively. The Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks

associated with each class of capital to monitor its capital structure

on the basis of a gearing ratio. The Group has a target gearing ratio

not higher than 50%, determined as the proportion of net debt to

equity. This ratio is expressed by as a percentage of net borrowings

over the total equity. Net borrowings are calculated as total

borrowings (as shown in the consolidated statement of financial

position) less cash and cash equivalents.

6.
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6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

The gearing ratios as at 31st December, 2012 and 2011 were as

follows:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings – due within one year (note i)   i 14,171,958 10,006,667

Borrowings – due after one year (note i)   i 9,335,617 12,684,015

Total debt (note i) i 23,507,575 22,690,682

Cash and cash equivalents (note ii) ii (7,019,035) (5,973,498)

Net debt 16,488,540 16,717,184

Net debt 16,488,540 16,717,184

Listed equity securities investments and

treasury products (note iii) iii (10,725,861) (5,741,528)

Net debt

(net debt less listed equity securities

investments and treasury products) 5,762,679 10,975,656

Total equity (note iv) iv 45,978,325 36,368,007

Net debt to equity ratio (excluding listed equity

securities investments and treasury products)

35.9% 46.0%

Net debt to equity ratio (including listed equity

securities investments and treasury products)

12.5% 30.2%

Notes:

(i) Borrowings are detailed in Note 40.

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents comprise pledged deposits, time
deposits, bank balances and cash (excluding time deposits and
bank balances classified as assets held for sale) at the end of the
reporting period.

(iii) Listed equity securities investments and treasury products are as
detailed in Notes 35 and 36.

(iv) Total equity includes share capital, reserves and non-controlling
interests at the end of the reporting period.

(i) 40

(ii)

(iii) 35
36

(iv)

6.
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6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

The decrease in net debt to equity ratio was mainly due to the

increase in total equity. The increase in total equity was mainly

attributable from the profit retained for the current year.

In relation to brokerage business, Fair Eagle Finance Credit Limited,

Fair Eagle Futures Company Limited and Fair Eagle Securities

Company Limited, three wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company,

are required to maintain financial resources in accordance with the

specified amount requirements that apply to them under the

Securities and Futures Ordinance imposed by Securities and Futures

Commission. The requirements are internally reviewed on a daily

basis and reports are required to submit to Securities and Futures

Commission monthly. Full compliance is observed during the year.

In relation to the wholly foreign-owned enterprises for carrying out

property development projects in Mainland China, the Group is

required to pay up the unpaid registered capital for wholly-owned

subsidiaries, including  of US$79.84

million in 2014, Sichuan Evergo Real Estate Company Limited of

US$66.72 million in 2013 and Evergo Real Estate (chengdu)

Company Limited of US$13.12 million in 2013, in accordance with

the relevant laws, rules and regulations of the PRC.

Save as disclosed, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

7. REVENUE

Revenue represents the aggregate amounts received and receivable

from property rental income, sales of properties held for sale,

gains/losses from sales of investments held-for-trading, interest

income from loan financing, commission from brokerage, settlement

charges from brokerage and cosmetic goods sold less returns,

analysed as follows:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations

Property rental income 1,673,201 1,513,780

Sales of properties held for sale 720,570 189,906

Losses on sales of investments held-for-trading (9,205) (1,227,648)

Interest income from loan financing 31,547 25,729

Brokerage and cosmetic income 17,431 26,025

2,433,544 527,792

6.

79,840,000

66,720,000

13,120,000
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports

reviewed by the chief operating decision-makers that are used to

make strategic decisions.

The Group has six reportable segments – (i) property development

and trading; (ii) property leasing for retail; (iii) property leasing for

non-retail; (iv) listed available-for-sale equity investments; (v) listed

investments held-for-trading and treasury products; and (vi) unlisted

investments, investment holding and brokerage. The segmentations

are based on the information about the operation of the Group that

management of the Group uses to make decisions.

Principal activities are as follows:

Property development – Property development and sales of

and trading trading properties

Property leasing

– Retail – Property leasing from retail

properties

– Non-retail – Property leasing from non-retail

properties

Listed available-for-sale – Listed equity securities in

equity investments available-for-sale investments

Listed investments – Listed securities investments in

held-for-trading and investments held-for-trading,

treasury products over-the-counter trading and

structured products

Unlisted investments, – Unlisted securities investments,

investment holding trading and brokerage

and brokerage

The reportable segment of “floating rate and fixed rate notes” on

available-for-sale investments was discontinued during the year

ended 31st December, 2012 as a result of the disposal/sale and

purchase agreement entered into by the Group for disposals of two

listed subsidiaries. Details of the discontinued operation are set out

in Note 12 and the comparative information of the operating segment

has been restated accordingly.

8.

者

(i)

(ii) (iii)

(iv) (v)

(vi)
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

The Group evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss from

operations after tax expense and non-controlling interests but not

including the major non-cash items. The major non-cash items are

fair value changes on investments properties and other property

together with their, if applicable, respective deferred tax. No

intersegment revenue is accounted for as the intersegment revenue

is mainly the rental income for administrative purpose.

The Group’s measurement methods used to determine reported

segment profit or loss remain unchanged from 2011.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that

operate different activities. They are managed separately because

each business units has different markets and requires different

marketing strategies.

Further, the business units are also managed to operate in different

countries separately. Revenue and result are attributed to countries

on the basis of the properties located.

No major customer is for the Group’s revenue and result.

8.
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Operating segment information is presented below:

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st December, 2012

Listed
Listed investments Unlisted

available- held-for- investments,
Property Property leasing  for-sale trading and investment All

development equity treasury holding and other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations

Major cash items excluding
in revenue
– Hong Kong – – – – 1,507,649 – – 1,507,649
– Mainland China – – – – – 3,878,450 – 3,878,450
– Other countries – – – – 6,712,892 – – 6,712,892

– – – – 8,220,541 3,878,450 – 12,098,991

Revenue
Revenue from external customers

– Hong Kong 34,219 1,031,839 352,106 – 6,408 5,752 43,226 1,473,550
– Mainland China 686,351 46,443 48,125 – – – – 780,919
– United Kingdom – 5,346 189,342 – – – – 194,688
– Other countries – – – – (15,613) – – (15,613)

720,570 1,083,628 589,573 – (9,205) 5,752 43,226 2,433,544

Revenue from external customers
after non-controlling interests 717,659 1,082,103 587,535 – (9,205) 5,752 43,226 2,427,070

Attributable property sales from
associates
– Hong Kong 231,906 – – – – – – 231,906

Attributable rental revenue from
associates
– Hong Kong – 19,264 28,630 – – – – 47,894
– Mainland China – 87,645 81,849 – – – – 169,494

949,565 1,189,012 698,014 – (9,205) 5,752 43,226 2,876,364

Result
Segment result

– Hong Kong 27,361 978,608 339,345 – 10,730 104,469 58,572 1,519,085
– Mainland China 215,766 40,116 40,914 – – (5,852) – 290,944
– United Kingdom – 5,341 189,149 – – – – 194,490
– Other countries – – – – 2,430,577 – – 2,430,577

243,127 1,024,065 569,408 – 2,441,307 98,617 58,572 4,435,096

8.
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31st December, 2012

Listed
Listed investments Unlisted

available- held-for- investments,
Property Property leasing  for-sale trading and investment All

development equity treasury holding and other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of results of associates
– Attributable property sales, net

– Hong Kong 115,992 – – – – – – 115,992
– Attributable gross income

– Hong Kong – 19,264 28,630 – – – 3,773 51,667
– Mainland China – 87,645 81,849 – – – – 169,494

– Attributable operating cost
– Hong Kong – (2,602) (5,451) – – – – (8,053)
– Mainland China – (45,295) (13,693) – – – – (58,988)

Non-controlling interests (1,920) (1,314) (1,899) – – – – (5,133)

357,199 1,081,763 658,844 – 2,441,307 98,617 62,345 4,700,075

Other income, net 403 – – – – – – 403
Gain on disposal of investment

properties – 22,135 – – – – – 22,135
Finance costs – (3,100) (109,797) – (24,272) – – (137,169)
Other gains and losses, net (606) – – – – – – (606)
Share of results of associates

– Income tax and others 339 (27,292) (40,947) – – – (102) (68,002)
Non-controlling interests – (5,534) – – – – – (5,534)

357,335 1,067,972 508,100 – 2,417,035 98,617 62,243 4,511,302

Unallocated items
Unallocated corporate expenses, net (228,472)
Unallocated finance costs (207,636)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 106,955
Unallocated other gains and losses,

net (10)
Income tax expense (198,443)
Unallocated non-controlling interests (7,853)

Profit for the year from continuing
operations attributable to
owners of the Company 3,975,843

Profit for the year from discontinued
operation attributable to
owners of the Company 3,286

Core profit from continuing and
discontinued operations
(excluding major non-cash items)

3,979,129

Major non-cash items
– Fair value changes on investment

properties (including share of
results of associates and
non-controlling interests) 6,482,190

– Gain on revaluation of stock of
properties upon transfer to
investment properties 129,002

– Costs of development recognised
in respect of property project
in Macau (694,737)

– Deferred tax expense (100,647)

Profit for the year from continuing
and discontinued operations
attributable to owners of
the Company 9,794,937

8.
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2012

Listed
Listed investments Unlisted

available- held-for- investments,
Property Property leasing  for-sale trading and investment All

development equity treasury holding and other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Segment assets

– Hong Kong 3,465,036 26,790,661 10,437,781 – 154,275 2,711,447 35,481 43,594,681
– Mainland China and Macau 10,162,923 1,544,696 305,415 – – – 3,868 12,016,902
– United Kingdom – 107,547 3,867,352 – – – – 3,974,899
– Other countries – – – – 11,082,370 – – 11,082,370

Interests in associates
– Hong Kong 359,374 210,865 839,772 – – 1,579 18,071 1,429,661
– Mainland China 118,660 106,215 363,332 – – – – 588,207

Advances to associates
– Hong Kong 7,225 86 60 – – 2 1,448 8,821
– Mainland China 971,089 60,805 601,953 – – – – 1,633,847

Reportable segment assets 15,084,307 28,820,875 16,415,665 – 11,236,645 2,713,028 58,868 74,329,388

Assets classified as held for sale 147,569
Unallocated corporate assets 52,302

Consolidated total assets 74,529,259

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

– Hong Kong 2,057,523 723,623 37,009 – 3 35,419 80,018 2,933,595
– Mainland China and Macau 1,026,552 21,402 21,073 – – – – 1,069,027
– United Kingdom – 89,791 3,244,312 – – – – 3,334,103
– Other countries – – – – 6,796,841 – – 6,796,841

Reportable segment liabilities 3,084,075 834,816 3,302,394 – 6,796,844 35,419 80,018 14,133,566

Liabilities directly associated with
assets classified as held for sale 1,973

Unallocated corporate liabilities 14,415,395

Consolidated total liabilities 28,550,934

Additions to non-current assets
(other than financial instruments
and deferred tax assets) 1,017,557 113,756 238,595 – – – 5,726

8.
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Other Material Items

For the year ended 31st December, 2012

Continuing and
Discontinued discontinued

Continuing operations operation operations

Adjustments Consolidated
Reportable Adjustments for major statement of

segments for non-cash comprehensive
total unallocated items Total Total income total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 972,246 14,987 – 987,233 6,523 993,756
Finance costs (137,169) (207,636) – (344,805) – (344,805)
Net income (expenses) 835,077 (192,649) – 642,428 6,523 648,951
Depreciation – (16,507) – (16,507) – (16,507)
Fair value changes on investment properties – – 6,108,972 6,108,972 – 6,108,972
Gain on revaluation of stock of properties

upon transfer to investment properties – – 129,002 129,002 – 129,002
Costs of development recognised in respect

of property project in Macau – – (694,737) (694,737) – (694,737)
Share of results of associates 202,110 – 377,896 580,006 – 580,006
Income tax expense – (198,443) (100,647) (299,090) (392) (299,482)
Non-controlling interests (10,667) (7,853) (4,678) (23,198) (2,381) (25,579)

8.
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 (Restated)

Listed
Listed investments Unlisted

available- held-for- investments,
Property Property leasing  for-sale trading and investment All

development equity treasury holding and other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations

Major cash items excluding
in revenue
– Hong Kong – – – – 4,677,292 – – 4,677,292
– Other countries – – – – 6,936,215 – – 6,936,215

– – – – 11,613,507 – – 11,613,507

Revenue
Revenue from external customers

– Hong Kong 163,627 894,423 344,593 – (1,071,617) 14,002 37,752 382,780
– Mainland China 26,279 42,973 39,941 – – – – 109,193
– United Kingdom – 5,274 186,576 – 168 – – 192,018
– Other countries – – – – (156,199) – – (156,199)

189,906 942,670 571,110 – (1,227,648) 14,002 37,752 527,792

Revenue from external customers
after non-controlling interests 188,346 941,191 568,788 – (1,227,648) 14,002 37,752 522,431

Attributable property sales from
associates/investees
– Hong Kong 3,231,229 – – – – – – 3,231,229

Attributable rental revenue from
associates
– Hong Kong – 13,185 26,827 – – – – 40,012
– Mainland China – 80,804 80,075 – – – – 160,879

3,419,575 1,035,180 675,690 – (1,227,648) 14,002 37,752 3,954,551

Result
Segment result

– Hong Kong 75,881 842,033 328,873 – (1,199,910) 113,930 40,112 200,919
– Mainland China (21,679) 37,211 34,061 – – 4,420 – 54,013
– United Kingdom – 5,255 185,891 – 168 – – 191,314
– Other countries – – – – (725,013) – – (725,013)

54,202 884,499 548,825 – (1,924,755) 118,350 40,112 (278,767)
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 (Restated)

Listed
Listed investments Unlisted

available- held-for- investments,
Property Property leasing  for-sale trading and investment All

development equity treasury holding and other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of results of associates
– Attributable property sales, net

– Hong Kong 838,718 – – – – – – 838,718
– Attributable gross income

– Hong Kong – 13,185 26,827 – – – 3,128 43,140
– Mainland China – 80,804 80,075 – – – – 160,879

– Attributable operating cost
– Hong Kong – (4,141) (6,832) – – – – (10,973)
– Mainland China – (44,475) (13,686) – – – – (58,161)

Non-controlling interests (1,349) (1,154) (2,129) – – – – (4,632)

891,571 928,718 633,080 – (1,924,755) 118,350 43,240 690,204

Other income, net 10,514 – – – – – – 10,514
Gain (loss) on disposal of

investment properties – 2,397 (452) – – – – 1,945
Finance costs – (3,116) (110,247) – (46,103) – – (159,466)
Other gains and losses, net

– Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
– – 66,825 – – – – 66,825

– Others (2,312) – (3,000) – – – – (5,312)
Share of results of associates

– Income tax and others (12,810) (28,424) (42,843) – – – (1,342) (85,419)
Non-controlling interests – (708) 156 – – – – (552)

886,963 898,867 543,519 – (1,970,858) 118,350 41,898 518,739

Unallocated items
Unallocated corporate expenses, net (57,808)
Unallocated finance costs (171,263)
Unallocated other gains and losses,

net 16,752
Income tax expense (92,252)
Unallocated non-controlling interests (5,111)

Profit for the year from continuing
operations attributable to
owners of the Company 209,057

Profit for the year from discontinued
operation attributable to
owners of the Company 5,445

Core profit from continuing and
discontinued operations
(excluding major non-cash items)

214,502

Major non-cash items
– Fair value changes on investment

properties (including share of
results of associates and
non-controlling interests) 3,306,950

– Deferred tax expense (23,636)

Profit for the year from continuing
and discontinued operations
attributable to owners of
the Company 3,497,816

8.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2012154

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2011 (Restated)

Listed
Listed investments Unlisted

available- held-for- investments,
Property Property leasing  for-sale trading and investment All

development equity treasury holding and other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Segment assets

– Hong Kong 1,869,331 23,765,719 7,187,653 – 515,415 367,235 47,889 33,753,242
– Mainland China and Macau 13,330,190 1,375,467 191,504 – – – 4,432 14,901,593
– United Kingdom – 103,125 3,653,878 – – – – 3,757,003
– Other countries – – – – 5,426,082 – – 5,426,082

Interests in associates
– Hong Kong 462,934 49,431 728,247 – – 2,378 3,098 1,246,088
– Mainland China 123,664 81,542 242,450 – – – – 447,656

Advances to associates
– Hong Kong 6,340 – 11,390 – – – 1,427 19,157
– Mainland China 962,083 78,621 558,781 – – – – 1,599,485

Reportable segment assets 16,754,542 25,453,905 12,573,903 – 5,941,497 369,613 56,846 61,150,306

Assets relating to floating rate and
fixed rate notes (now discontinued) 187,089

Unallocated corporate assets 174,202

Consolidated total assets 61,511,597

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

– Hong Kong 129,441 440,997 143,363 – 26 13,840 75,301 802,968
– Mainland China and Macau 831,517 18,984 15,594 – – – 1 866,096
– United Kingdom – 88,151 3,173,826 – – – – 3,261,977
– Other countries – 2 – – 3,300,781 – – 3,300,783

Reportable segment liabilities 960,958 548,134 3,332,783 – 3,300,807 13,840 75,302 8,231,824

Liabilities relating to floating rate and
fixed rate notes (now discontinued) 196

Unallocated corporate liabilities 16,911,570

Consolidated total liabilities 25,143,590

Additions to non-current assets
(other than financial instruments
and deferred tax assets) 1,680,285 110,804 3,423,835 – – – 1,505
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Other Material Items

For the year ended 31st December, 2011 (Restated)

Continuing and
Discontinued discontinued

Continuing operations operation operations

Adjustments Consolidated
Reportable Adjustments for major statement of
segments for non-cash comprehensive

total unallocated items Total Total income total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 770,991 – – 770,991 8,818 779,809
Finance costs (159,466) (171,263) – (330,729) – (330,729)
Net income (expenses) 611,525 (171,263) – 440,262 8,818 449,080
Depreciation – (17,225) – (17,225) – (17,225)
Fair value changes on investment properties – – 2,959,593 2,959,593 – 2,959,593
Share of results of associates 888,184 – 353,548 1,241,732 – 1,241,732
Income tax expense – (92,252) (23,636) (115,888) (258) (116,146)
Non-controlling interests (5,184) (5,111) (6,191) (16,486) (5,402) (21,888)
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9. OTHER INCOME

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Included in other income are:

Continuing operations

Building management fee income 197,604 138,700

Building management fee expenses (173,630) (128,676)

23,974 10,024

Forfeiture of deposits received on sales of

properties 403 252

Management and maintenance service income 5,487 7,919

Exchange gain, net 8,835 4,342

Interest income from loan note

(Note 38(b)) 38(b) 14,987 –

Arrangement fee income – 194,966

Discontinued operation

Exchange gain, net – 2,484
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10. INVESTMENT INCOME (EXPENSES), NET

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Continuing operations
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss classified as held-for-trading:

Unrealised loss arising on change in fair value

of investments held-for-trading (645) (138,768)

Financial assets designated as

at fair value through profit or loss:

Unrealised gain (loss) arising on change in

fair value of bonds 1,307,979 (1,229,503)

Realised gain (loss) arising on change in

fair value of bonds

Change in fair value 280,651 (55,597)

Exchange component of change (4,995) 34,619

Net gain (loss) arising on change in fair value

of financial assets designated as at fair value

through profit or loss 1,583,635 (1,250,481)

Realised loss arising on disposal of

available-for-sale investments:

Unlisted equity securities (10,500) –

Other investment income 186 –

Dividend income on:

Listed investments 4,400 12,709

Unlisted investments 29,040 45,356

Interest income 940,042 744,677

Imputed interest income on:

Advances to associates – 14,080

Advance to a non-controlling shareholder – 328

2,546,158 (572,099)

Discontinued operation
Interest income 6,523 8,818

Transfer from equity on disposals of

available-for-sale investments:

Unlisted debt securities – (34)

6,523 8,784

2,552,681 (563,315)

10.
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10. INVESTMENT INCOME (EXPENSES), NET
(Cont’d)

Included in interest income from continuing operations are interests

f rom bonds of  approx imate ly  HK$862,936,000 (2011:

HK$679,433,000). Included in interest income from discontinued

operation are interests from unlisted floating rate and fixed rate notes

of approximately HK$6,431,000 (2011: listed floating rate notes

and unlisted floating rate and fixed rate notes of approximately

HK$1,175,000 and HK$7,641,000 respectively).

11. OTHER EXPENSES

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in other expenses are:

Continuing operations

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,430 2,860

Expenses for specific transactions 4 3,021

Transaction costs in relation

to acquisition of subsidiaries – 13,381

10.

862,936,000

679,433,000

6,431,000

1,175,000

7,641,000

11.

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

(a) Disposal of G-Prop (Holdings) Limited (“G-Prop”) on

6th August, 2012 (“G-Prop Disposal”)

Mass Rise Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of

the Company, as the first vendor (“First Vendor”) and Asian

Kingdom Limited, a company indirectly wholly-owned by a

Director and a controlling shareholder, as the second vendor

(“Second Vendor”) had entered into a sale and purchase

ag reement in respect of  the disposal  of  a tota l  of

1,512,059,473 shares of G-Prop with (i) Champion Dynasty

Limited, an independent third party, as the purchaser

(“Purchaser of G-Prop”); (ii) the Company and Crown Jade

Limited as warrantors; and (iii) Mr. Cheung Wai Kuen as

guarantor of the Purchaser of G-Prop, pursuant to which

1,018,380,590 shares of G-Prop was sold by the First Vendor

to the Purchaser of G-Prop and 493,678,883 shares of G-

Prop was sold by the Second Vendor to the Purchaser of G-

P rop  a t  a  t o t a l  cons i de r a t i on  o f  app ro x ima te l y

HK$423,661,000. The G-Prop Disposal was completed on

6th August, 2012. Upon completion, G-Prop and its

subsidiaries (“G-Prop Group”) ceased to be subsidiaries of

the Group.

12.

(a)

Asian Kingdom Limited

(i) Champion

Dynasty Limited

(ii) Crown Jade Limited

(iii)

1,512,059,473

1,018,380,590

493,678,883

423,661,000
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Cont’d)

(b) Disposal of Chi Cheung Investment Company, Limited

(“Chi Cheung”) (“Chi Cheung Disposal”)

On 5th December, 2012, (i) Billion Up Limited (“Billion Up”),

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (ii) the

Company, being the guarantor of Billion Up; and (iii) an

independent third party of and not connected with the

Company and its connected persons (“Purchaser of Chi

Cheung”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement

pursuant to which Billion Up agreed to sell and the Purchaser

of Chi Cheung agreed to purchase the shares of Chi Cheung

held by the Group, which representing approximately 61.96%

of the entire issued share capital of Chi Cheung. The Chi

Cheung Disposal was completed on 6th February, 2013. Upon

completion, Chi Cheung and its subsidiaries (“Chi Cheung

Group”) ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group.

On 5th December, 2012, the Group and Chi Cheung also

entered into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the

sale of the entire issued share capital, the shareholder’s loan

and certain debt of View Success Investments Limited (“View

Success”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Chi Cheung,

to the Group (“View Success Acquisition”). The View Success

Acquisition was completed on 23rd January, 2013. As such,

the assets and liabilities of View Success would not form part

of net assets disposed on the completion of the Chi Cheung

Disposal.

Details of the Chi Cheung Disposal and the View Success

Acquisition were set out in the announcement of the Company

dated 5th December, 2012.

As a result of the G-Prop Disposal and the Chi Cheung Disposal, the

reportable segment of “floating rate and fixed rate notes” has been

discontinued and, in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets

Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” issued by the HKICPA,

its consolidated results were therefore classified as discontinued

operation and the comparative information has also been restated

accordingly.

12.

(b)

(i)

Bil l ion Up

Limited Billion Up (ii)

Billion Up (iii)

Billion Up

61.96%
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Cont’d)

The consolidated results of the discontinued operation for the years

ended 31st December, 2012 and 2011 are set out as below:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other income – 2,484

Investment income, net 6,523 8,784

Administrative expenses (464) (163)

Profit before tax 6,059 11,105

Income tax expense (392) (258)

Profit for the year from discontinued operation 5,667 10,847

Other comprehensive income (expenses)

for the year:

Fair value changes on available-for-sale

investments 3,751 (5,965)

Reclassification relating to disposal of

available-for-sale investments – 34

Total comprehensive income for the year

from discontinued operation (net of tax) 9,418 4,916

Profit for the year from discontinued
operation attributable to:
Owners of the Company 3,286 5,445

Non-controlling interests 2,381 5,402

5,667 10,847

Total comprehensive income for the year
from discontinued operation
attributable to:
Owners of the Company 5,314 2,616

Non-controlling interests 4,104 2,300

9,418 4,916

The consolidated cash flows from

discontinued operation are set out as below:

Net cash (used in) generated from operating

activities (711) 2,448

Net cash generated from investing activities 17,391 83,260

Net cash inflows 16,680 85,708

12.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

161

13. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

a) Chi Cheung Disposal and View Success Acquisition

As disclosed in Note 12, on 5th December, 2012, the Group

entered into the sale and purchase agreements for the Chi

Cheung Disposal and the View Success Acquisition. As a result,

the assets and liabilities of Chi Cheung Group, excluding those

of View Success which did not form part of the consolidated

net assets disposed of by the Group, have been presented as

assets classified as held for sale and liabilities directly

associated with assets classified as held for sale respectively

as at 31st December, 2012 in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-

current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

b) Disposal of certain units of an investment property

(“Investment Property Disposal”)

During the year, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of

the Company has entered into sale and purchase agreements

with independent third parties in relation to the sales of certain

units of an investment property located in Hong Kong. The

transactions were completed subsequent to the end of the

reporting period. In accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”, these

investment properties have been presented as assets classified

as held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial

position as at 31st December, 2012.

13.

a)

12

5

b)

5
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13. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(Cont’d)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Chi Cheung Disposal

and the Investment Property Disposal in aggregate classified as assets

held for sale and liabilities directly associated with assets classified

as held for sale respectively are as follows:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties 14,290 –

Available-for-sale investments 98,057 –

Debtors, deposits and prepayments 1,735 –

Time deposits and bank balances 33,487 –

Assets classified as held for sale 147,569 –

Creditors and accruals 279 –

Tax liabilities 1,694 –

Liabilities directly associated with assets

classified as held for sale 1,973 –

13.
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14. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Profit for the year has been arrived

at after (charging) crediting:

Continuing operations
Total staff costs:

Staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments (198,380) (167,982)

Retirement benefits scheme contributions,

net of forfeited contributions of approximately 726,000

HK$726,000 (2011: HK$483,000) 483,000 (8,798) (7,694)

(207,178) (175,676)

Auditors’ remuneration

– Current year (2,921) (3,147)

– Overprovision in prior years 140 –

Depreciation (16,507) (17,225)

Cost of trading properties recognised (356,504) (137,148)

Cost of cosmetic products recognised (3,444) (3,735)

Share of tax of associates

(included in share of results of associates) (81,126) (191,950)

Gross proceeds on sale of investments

held-for-trading 1,489,441 4,956,707

Carrying amount on investments

held-for-trading disposed (1,496,438) (6,176,736)

Transaction costs on investments

held-for-trading disposed (2,208) (7,619)

Net loss on sale of investments

held-for-trading included in revenue (9,205) (1,227,648)

Gross rental income from investment properties 1,673,201 1,513,780

Less: Direct operating expenses from

investment properties that generated

rental income during the year (77,329) (74,351)

Direct operating expenses from

investment properties that did not

generate rental income during the year (2,399) (6,105)

1,593,473 1,433,324

Discontinued operation
Auditor’s remuneration (118) (150)

Exchange loss, net (334) –

14.
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15. FINANCE COSTS

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations

Interest on:

Bank loans wholly repayable within five years 396,117 309,699

Other loans wholly repayable within five years 34,824 26,181

430,941 335,880

Imputed interest on:

Amounts due to associates – 1,994

Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder – 5,444

– 7,438

Total interest 430,941 343,318

Exchange (gain) loss on translation of

foreign currency loans (9,528) 7,922

Other finance costs 40,464 44,399

461,877 395,639

Less: Interest capitalised to stock of properties

under development (53,336) (62,832)

Interest capitalised to investment

properties under development (63,736) (2,078)

344,805 330,729

15.
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16. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in other gains and losses, net are:

Continuing operations

Gain on revaluation of stock of properties

upon transfer to investment properties 129,002 –

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note i) i 106,955 66,825

Write-down of stock of properties (606) (2,312)

Reversal of contingency provision (note ii) ii – 16,054

16.

Notes:

(i) Gain on disposal of subsidiaries arose from the disposal of the
Group’s entire 41.93% interest in G-Prop, a listed subsidiary of
the Company, during the year (Note 45(b)(i)) (2011: gain on
disposal of a subsidiary arose from a connected transaction in
relation to the disposal of an investment property located at No.
3 Deep Water Bay Road, Hong Kong to a company wholly-owned
by a Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company (Note
45(b)(ii))).

(ii) Reversal of the provision for construction cost of the Group’s
liability on contingency claims by a third party to whom a property
under development project previously disposed of (Note 41).

(i)

41.93% 45(b)(i)

3

45(b)(ii)

(ii) 者

41
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17. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Fees and other emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine

(2011: six) Directors for the years ended 31st December, 2012

and 2011 were as follows:

2012 2011

Salaries Salaries

and other and other

Fee emoluments Total Fee emoluments Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung – 18,000 18,000 – 18,000 18,000

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai 240 – 240 240 – 240

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai 240 – 240 240 – 240

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai 240 – 240 240 – 240

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping 240 – 240 240 – 240

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun 240 – 240 240 – 240

Ms. Chan, Sze-wan (note i) i – 320 320 – – –

Mr. Lam, Kwong-wai (note i) i – 1,007 1,007 – – –

Ms. Lui, Lai-kwan (note ii) ii 276 5 281 – – –

1,476 19,332 20,808 1,200 18,000 19,200

17.

Notes:

(i) Ms. Chan, Sze-wan and Mr. Lam, Kwong-wai were appointed as
executive Directors on 12th June, 2012.

(ii) Ms. Lui, Lai-kwan was appointed as an executive Director on 13th
July, 2012.

No Directors waived any emoluments for the years ended

31st December, 2012 and 2011.

(i)

(ii)
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18. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the

Group, two (2011: one) were Directors, including the

individual who was appointed as Director on 12th June, 2012,

details of their emoluments were included in Note 17. The

emoluments of the remaining three (2011: four) individuals,

aggregated with the emoluments of the individual who was

appointed as a Director on 12th June, 2012 for the period

from 1st January, 2012 to 11th June, 2012, in the years 2012

and 2011 were as follows:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 8,545 8,713

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 479 498

9,024 9,211

18.

(a)

17

The emoluments of the three (2011: four) individuals and

the individual who was appointed as a Director on 12th June,

2012 whose emoluments as a non-Director for the period

from 1st January, 2012 to 11th June, 2012, were within the

following bands:

Number of employees

2012 2011

Nil – HK$1,000,000  – 1,000,000 – –

HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1,000,001  – 1,500,000 1 –

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 1,500,001  – 2,000,000 – 1

HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 2,000,001  – 2,500,000 1 2

HK$2,500,001 – HK$3,000,000 2,500,001  – 3,000,000 1 1

HK$3,000,001 – HK$3,500,000 3,000,001  – 3,500,000 1 –

During the years ended 31st December, 2012 and 2011, no

emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid

individuals, or Directors, as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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18. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Emoluments of senior management

Other than the two (2011: two) senior management whose

emoluments have been disclosed in the five highest paid

individuals (Note 18(a)), the emoluments of the remaining

senior management whose profiles are included in the

“Profiles of Senior Executives” section of this annual report,

were within the following bands:

Number of employees

2012 2011

Nil – HK$500,000  – 500,000 – –

HK$500,001 – HK$1,000,000 500,001  – 1,000,000 – 1

HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1,000,001  – 1,500,000 2 3

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 1,500,001  – 2,000,000 4 2

18.

(b)

18(a)
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19. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Continuing Discontinued

operations operation Consolidated

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated)

The charge comprises:

Current tax:

Hong Kong Profits Tax 103,460 65,028 404 258 103,864 65,286

Other than Hong Kong 50,721 9,669 – – 50,721 9,669

154,181 74,697 404 258 154,585 74,955

(Overprovision) underprovision

in prior years:

Hong Kong Profits Tax (2,279) (67,344) (12) – (2,291) (67,344)

Other than Hong Kong 576 31 – – 576 31

(1,703) (67,313) (12) – (1,715) (67,313)

Deferred tax: (Note 44) 44

Current year charge 142,467 108,504 – – 142,467 108,504

Underprovision in prior years 4,145 – – – 4,145 –

146,612 108,504 – – 146,612 108,504

299,090 115,888 392 258 299,482 116,146

19.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) on the

estimated assessable profits for the year. The PRC Enterprise Income

Tax rate of 25% (2011: 25%) is used for estimation of China income

tax. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

16.5% 16.5%

25%

25%
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19. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

The income tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit

before tax relating to continuing operations per the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income as follows:

2012 2011

HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

(Restated)

Continuing operations

Profit before tax from

continuing operations 10,113,939 3,624,745

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate 16.5%

of 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) 16.5%

1,668,800 16.5 598,083 16.5

Tax effect of share of results of

associates (95,701) (0.9) (204,886) (5.6)

Tax effect of income not taxable for

tax purposes (1,556,228) (15.4) (748,828) (20.6)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible

for tax purposes 253,447 2.5 308,467 8.5

Tax effect on accelerated accounting

depreciation over tax depreciation

previously over (not) provided 11,796 0.1 (23,626) (0.7)

Utilisation of tax losses previously

not recognised (63,139) (0.6) (46,275) (1.3)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

6,243 0.1 270,894 7.5

Underprovision (overprovision) in

respect of prior years 2,442 – (67,313) (1.9)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

operating in other jurisdictions

71,430 0.7 29,372 0.8

Tax charge for the year from

continuing operations 299,090 3.0 115,888 3.2

19.
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20. DIVIDENDS

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Final dividend for 2011 paid on (a)

13th June, 2012 of HK1 cent

(2010: HK1 cent) per share 1

1 19,076 19,076

(b) Interim dividend for 2012 paid on (b)

13th September, 2012 of HK1 cent

(2011: HK1 cent) per share 1

1 19,076 19,076

Total dividends paid 38,152 38,152

Special interim dividend for 2012 paid on

22nd February, 2013 of HK$1

(2011: nil) per share 1

1,907,619 –

20.

On 25th January, 2013, the Board of Directors has declared a special

inter im div idend of HK$1 per share for the year ended

31st December, 2012 which was paid on 22nd February, 2013.

Final dividend of HK20 cents (2011: HK1 cent) per share has been

proposed by the Board of Directors and is subject to approval by

the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

1

20

1



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2012172

21. EARNINGS PER SHARE

From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following

data:

21.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Earnings:

Earnings for the purposes of basic and

diluted earnings per share

Profit for the year attributable to

owners of the Company:

Continuing operations 9,791,651 3,492,371

Discontinued operation 3,286 5,445

Continuing and discontinued operations

9,794,937 3,497,816

Number of shares

2012 2011

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

for the purposes of basic and diluted

earnings per share 1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079
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21. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Cont’d)

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share from

continuing operations is based on the profit for the year from

continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company of

approximately HK$9,791,651,000 (2011: HK$3,492,371,000

(restated)) and on the weighted average number of 1,907,619,079

(2011: 1,907,619,079) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

From discontinued operation

Basic and diluted earnings per share from the discontinued operation

is HK$0.002 (2011: HK$0.003 (restated)) which is calculated based

on the profit for the year from discontinued operation attributable

to owners of the Company of approximately HK$3,286,000 (2011:

HK$5,445,000 (restated)) and on the weighted average number

of 1,907,619,079 (2011: 1,907,619,079) ordinary shares in issue

during the year.

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31st December,

2012 and 2011 were the same as the basic earnings per share as

there were no diluting events during both years.

21.

9,791,651,000

3,492,371,000

1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079

0.002 0.003

3,286,000

5,445,000

1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079
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22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Fair value Cost

Properties Properties

Completed under under

properties construction construction Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st January, 2011 25,337,077 267,000 1,814,947 27,419,024

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 45(a)) 45(a) 3,362,492 – – 3,362,492

Additions 962,415 – – 962,415

Construction costs incurred – 26,761 551,818 578,579

Exchange adjustments (10,719) – 83,827 73,108

Increase in fair value recognised in

the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income 2,955,354 4,239 – 2,959,593

Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 45(b)(ii)) 45(b)(ii) (860,000) – – (860,000)

Disposals (10,682) – – (10,682)

At 31st December, 2011 31,735,937 298,000 2,450,592 34,484,529

Additions 20,816 – – 20,816

Construction costs incurred – 75,347 775,343 850,690

Transfer from properties and

other fixed assets (Note 23) 23 – 107,539 – 107,539

Transfer from stock of properties 321,494 – – 321,494

Transfer to properties under construction (37,600) 37,600 – –

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale

(Note 13) 13 (14,290) – – (14,290)

Exchange adjustments 161,029 – 34,789 195,818

Increase in fair value recognised in

the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income 5,959,458 149,514 – 6,108,972

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 45(b)(i)) 45(b)(i) (33,700) – – (33,700)

Disposals (69,050) – – (69,050)

Carrying amounts

At 31st December, 2012 38,044,094 668,000 3,260,724 41,972,818

22.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to

earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using

the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as

investment properties.
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22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

Property valuations as at 31st December, 2012 and 2011 were

carried out by B.I. Appraisals Limited (“B.I. Appraisals”), independent

qualified professional valuer, in respect of the Group’s investment

properties in Hong Kong and Mainland China. For the investment

property in the United Kingdom, the valuation was carried out by

Peak Vision Appraisals Limited (“Peak Vision Appraisals”), another

independent qualified professional valuer. Both valuers have recent

relevant experience in the valuation of similar properties in the

relevant locations.

The valuation reports for the investment properties as at 31st

December, 2012 are signed by the respective director of B.I.

Appraisals and Peak Vision Appraisals, who are members of The

Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and The Royal Institution of

Chartered Surveyors. The valuations were performed in accordance

with “The HKIS Valuation Standards on Properties (1st Edition 2005)”

published by The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and the “RICS

Valuation Standards (7th Edition 2011)” published by the Royal

Institute of Chartered Surveyors.

The fair value of each investment property is individually determined

at the end of each reporting period based on its market value and

by adopting investment method, and/or direct comparison method,

as appropriate. The valuation was relied on the discounted cash

flow analysis and the capitalisation of income approach. The

investment method is based upon estimates of future results and a

set of assumptions specific to each property to reflect its tenancy

and cash flow profile. The fair value of each investment property

reflects, among other things, rental income from current term leases,

term yield rate, assumptions about rental income from future

reversion leases in light of current market conditions, the assumed

occupancy rate and reversionary yield rate. Judgment by the valuers

is required to determine the principal valuation factors, including

term yield rate and reversionary yield rate. Such yield rates were

adopted after considering the investment sentiments and market

expectations of properties of similar nature. Direct comparison

method assumes each of these properties is capable of being sold

in its existing state with the benefit of vacant possession and by

making reference to comparable sales evidence as available in the

relevant markets.

22.
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22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

For the Group’s investment properties under development, their

fair values reflect the expectations of market participants of the value

of the properties when they are completed, less deductions for the

costs required to complete the projects and appropriate adjustments

for profit and risk. The key assumptions include present value of

completed properties, period of development, outstanding

construction costs, finance costs, other professional costs, risk

associated with completing the projects and generating income after

completion and investors’ return as a percentage of value or cost.

For the Group’s investment properties under construction at cost,

when their fair values were not reliably measurable, they were

measured at cost, less any impairment loss, until the earlier of the

date of construction is completed and the date at which fair value

become reliably measurable.

The carrying amounts of investment properties shown above

comprises:

22.

者

者

者

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Properties in Hong Kong held under:

Long-term lease 26,945,340 21,933,310

Medium-term lease 6,527,670 5,404,210

33,473,010 27,337,520

Properties outside Hong Kong held under:

Freehold 3,581,984 3,411,307

Medium-term lease 4,917,824 3,735,702

8,499,808 7,147,009

41,972,818 34,484,529
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23. PROPERTIES AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS 23.

Furniture Yachts and
Leasehold fixtures and motor

land Buildings equipments vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1st January, 2011 436,960 88,340 38,113 84,481 647,894

Additions – – 10,987 5,910 16,897

Disposals/written off – – – (706) (706)

Exchange adjustments – – 824 155 979

At 31st December, 2011 436,960 88,340 49,924 89,840 665,064

Additions – – 5,048 21,800 26,848

Surplus on revaluation recognised

in other comprehensive income 98,162 – – – 98,162

Transfer to investment properties

(Note 22) 22 (110,162) – – – (110,162)

Disposals/written off – – (95) (2,285) (2,380)

Exchange adjustments – – 97 71 168

At 31st December, 2012 424,960 88,340 54,974 109,426 677,700

Depreciation
At 1st January, 2011 9,920 17,606 24,706 74,073 126,305

Charge for the year 1,042 2,209 5,797 8,177 17,225

Capitalised to stock of properties

held for sales – – 218 – 218

Elimination upon disposals/written off – – – (706) (706)

Exchange adjustments – – 190 76 266

At 31st December, 2011 10,962 19,815 30,911 81,620 143,308

Charge for the year 1,031 2,208 7,413 5,855 16,507

Capitalised to stock of properties

held for sales – – 211 – 211

Elimination upon transfer to

investment properties (Note 22) 22 (2,623) – – – (2,623)

Elimination upon disposals/written off – – (49) (1,634) (1,683)

Exchange adjustments – – 59 35 94

At 31st December, 2012 9,370 22,023 38,545 85,876 155,814

Carrying amounts
At 31st December, 2012 415,590 66,317 16,429 23,550 521,886

At 31st December, 2011 425,998 68,525 19,013 8,220 521,756

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings are situated in Hong Kong

and held under long-term leases.
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24. PROPERTY INTERESTS HELD FOR FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

24.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1st January and 31st December 71,118 71,118

Impairment loss

At 1st January and 31st December (71,118) (71,118)

Carrying amounts

At 1st January and 31st December – –

The property interests held for a development project are located in

Chenghai Royal Garden, Shantou, PRC. Under a Contract for

Pre-registration of Grant of State-owned Land Use Right (“Contract”)

with the district bureau of Chenghai dated 5th August, 1992, the

Group had made certain down payment. However, the Group

subsequently determined not to proceed with the land requisition

and requested for refund.

In April 2005, the Group commenced legal proceedings at the

Shantou City Intermediate People’s Court (“Intermediate Court”) to

terminate the Contract with the Shantou City Planning and State-

owned Land Resources Bureau (“Chenghai Bureau”). In view of the

uncertainty in the recoverability of the amount claimed and any

other entitlements under the Contract, the Group had made a full

provision for an impairment loss of HK$71,118,000 during 2004.

On 28th December, 2006, the Intermediate Court made a judgment

in favour of the Group. However, Chenghai Bureau submitted an

application of appeal to the High People’s Court of Guangdong

Province (“High Court”) on 23rd January, 2007 and the Group also

sent out a reply to the High Court on 13th February, 2007.

On 27th June, 2007, the High Court accepted the application

of appeal by the Chenghai Bureau and made the judgment as

follows: (1) the judgment made by the Intermediate Court on

28th December, 2006 was revoked; and (2) the case was remitted

to the Intermediate Court for rehearing. On 22nd August, 2007, the

Intermediate Court accepted for rehearing the case within six months.

71,118,000

(1)

(2)
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24. PROPERTY INTERESTS HELD FOR FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT (Cont’d)

On 18th February, 2008, the Intermediate Court notified the Group

that the trial period had been extended for six months to August

2008.

On 12th August, 2008, the Intermediate Court issued the civil ruling

of dismissing the Group’s civil claim. The Group initiated an

application for appeal to the High Court after receiving the ruling

and submitted all legal documents required in the application on

2nd September, 2008 that the appeal was rejected on 17th

December, 2008. On 1st June, 2009, the Group has submitted all

legal documents and application for appeal to the Supreme People’s

Court (“Supreme Court”). On 27th July, 2009, the Supreme Court

notified the Group that the application of appeal was processing.

On 23rd November, 2009, the Supreme Court made the judgment

as follows: (1) order the High Court to rehear the case; and (2)

suspend the execution of the original judgment during the rehearing.

On 7th September, 2010, the High Court made the judgment as

follows: (1) the judgment made by the High Court on 17th

December, 2008 and the judgment made by the Intermediate Court

on 12th August, 2008 were revoked; and (2) the case was remitted

to the Intermediate Court for rehearing.

On 21st April, 2011, the Intermediate Court notified the Group that

the case is accepted. On 8th August, 2011, the Intermediate Court

held the case rehearing.

On 17th January, 2012, the Intermediate Court extended the

settlement period to 31st March, 2012. As no settlement was

reached when the settlement period expired, the case rehearing

restored.

On 5th December, 2012, the Intermediate Court delivered a

judgment in favour of the Group and upheld the majority claims of

the Group. Chenghai Bureau submitted an application for appeal to

the High Court on 26th December, 2012 against the said judgment.

On 4th January, 2013, the Group also submitted an application for

appeal to the High Court in respect of those remaining minority

claims of the Group that were not upheld by the Intermediate Court.

24.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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25. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 25.

Trading and

exchange

rights Trademark Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1st January, 2011,

31st December, 2011

and 31st December, 2012 2,705 14,300 17,005

Amortisation and impairment

At 1st January, 2011 2,705 10,010 12,715

Amortisation for the year – 2,860 2,860

At 31st December, 2011 2,705 12,870 15,575

Amortisation for the year – 1,430 1,430

At 31st December, 2012 2,705 14,300 17,005

Carrying amounts

At 31st December, 2012 – – –

At 31st December, 2011 – 1,430 1,430

The amortisation expense has been included in the other expenses

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The above intangible assets have definite useful lives. Such intangible

assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over five years.
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26.26. GOODWILL

HK$’000

Cost

At 1st January, 2011 54,689

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 45(a)) 45(a) 322,938

At 31st December, 2011 377,627

Derecognised on disposal of subsidiaries

(Note 45(b)(i)) 45(b)(i) (6,941)

At 31st December, 2012 370,686

Impairment

At 1st January, 2011,

31st December, 2011 and

31st December, 2012 47,748

Carrying amounts

At 31st December, 2012 322,938

At 31st December, 2011 329,879

Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired through

certain business combinations has been allocated to the Group’s

cash-generating units (“CGUs”), which in all cases were determined

to be investment properties owned by subsidiaries. The carrying

amount of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) as at

31st December, 2012 and 2011 was allocated to CGUs with the

following places of operation:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

United Kingdom 322,938 322,938

Hong Kong – 6,941

322,938 329,879
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26. GOODWILL (Cont’d)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Cont’d)

The recoverable amount for each CGUs operated in the United

Kingdom and Hong Kong has been determined based on value-in-

use calculation using respective five-year cash flow projections

approved by the Directors. The pre-tax discount rate of approximately

7.78% (2011: 8.15% for the United Kingdom and 8.96% for Hong

Kong) per annum for the United Kingdom property business was

applied to the cash flow projection when assessing the recoverability

of the CGU containing goodwill. The goodwill for the Hong Kong

property business was derecognised on G-Prop Disposal (Note

45(b)(i)) during the year.

There are a number of assumptions and estimates involved for the

preparation of the cash flow projections. Key assumptions included

gross margin and discount rates which are determined by the

Directors based on past performance and its expectation for market

development. The values assigned to key assumptions are based

on historical experience, current market condition, approved forecasts

and consistent with external information sources. Gross margin is

budgeted gross margin. The discount rates used were determined

with reference to weighted average cost of capital of similar

companies in the industry reflected specific risks relating to the

industry. The Directors believe that any reasonably possible change

in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying

amounts of the CGUs to exceed their respective aggregate

recoverable amounts. During the years ended 31st December, 2012

and 2011, the Directors determine that there is no impairment of

the goodwill.

27. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

26.

7.78 8.15

8.96

45(b)(i)

27.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of investment in associates

– Unlisted  283,758 283,758

Share of post-acquisition profits and other

comprehensive income,

net of dividends received 1,734,110 1,409,987

2,017,868 1,693,745
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27. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)

The Company provided corporate guarantee to secure bank loans

granted to its associates. The fair value of the financial guarantee

contract was determined by Norton Appraisals Limited, independent

qualified professional valuer, and it was recognised as interests in

associates and financial guarantee liabilit ies in the Group’s

consolidated statement of financial position.

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31st December,

2012 are set out in Note 55.

The investment properties held by the Group’s principal associates

were revalued as at 31st December, 2012 by B.I. Appraisals. B.I.

Appraisals continues to adopt investment method and/or direct

comparison method as the valuation methodologies. The valuation

methods and significant assumptions applied in determining the

fair values of investment properties are detailed in Note 22.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

associates is set out below:

27.

55

22

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 15,488,199 14,743,842

Total liabilities (10,126,749) (10,468,436)

Net assets 5,361,450 4,275,406

Non-controlling interests 14,985 5,916

5,376,435 4,281,322

Group’s share of net assets of associates 2,017,868 1,693,745

Revenue 1,014,315 4,829,080

Profit for the year 1,589,532 4,673,113

Other comprehensive income 9,593 321,070

Group’s share of results of associates

for the year 580,006 1,241,732

Group’s share of other comprehensive income

of associates for the year 5,979 107,943



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2012184

28. ADVANCES TO ASSOCIATES 28.

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest-bearing advances to associates 67,384 97,465
Interest-free advances to associates 1,575,284 1,521,177

1,642,668 1,618,642

The advances to associates are unsecured. An amount of

approximately HK$971,089,000 (2011: HK$962,083,000) was

expected to be repayable in 2016 (2011: in 2013) and the amount

i s  there fo re  shown as  non-cur ren t .  Fo r  the remain ing

HK$671,579,000 (2011: HK$656,559,000), the Group will not

demand repayment within one year from the end of the reporting

period and the amounts are therefore shown as non-current. The

interest-bearing advances to associates bear interest at the prevailing

market rates.

29. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES

971,089,000

962,083,000

671,579,000 656,559,000

29.

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets of jointly controlled entities – –

The Group has lost control of the indirectly held jointly controlled

entities on G-Prop Disposal during the year. Details of the G-Prop

Disposal are shown in Note 45(b)(i). The Group’s jointly controlled

entities which were held indirectly by the Company as at 31st

December, 2011 are as follows:

Proportion
of nominal

Name of jointly Form of business Place of value of issued Principal
controlled entity and structure incorporation share capital held activities

Golden Royce Incorporated Hong Kong 31.77% Dormant
Investment Limited

Top Grade Assets Limited Incorporated British Virgin Islands 40.97% Dormant

Upgrade Properties Limited Incorporated British Virgin Islands 40.97% Dormant

45(b)(i)
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29.29. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Cont’d)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s jointly

controlled entities is set out below:

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets – –
Total liabilities – (160,145)

Net liabilities – (160,145)

Group’s share of net liabilities of
jointly controlled entities – –

Revenue (note) – –

Loss for the period/year (note) (5) (7)

Group’s share of loss of jointly controlled
entities for the period/year (note) – –

Note: Amounts for 2012 represented the relevant amounts for the period
up to the completion of disposal.

30. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Available-for-sale investments comprise:

30.

2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity securities:
– Incorporated in Hong Kong  98,532 120,529
– Incorporated elsewhere (note i)  i 3,899 3,892,849

102,431 4,013,378

Unlisted debt securities:
– Floating rate notes (note ii)  ii – 88,301
– Fixed rate notes (note iii)  iii – 96,263

– 184,564

Club debentures 16,581 15,731

Total 119,012 4,213,673

Analysis for reporting purposes as:
Non-current assets 119,012 4,160,350
Current assets – 53,323

119,012 4,213,673
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30. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(Cont’d)

Notes:

(i) On 5th September, 2012, the Company and Loyal Pride Limited
(“Vendor”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement for the disposal of
49 shares of Grandday Group Limited (“Grandday”) (“Sale
Shares”), representing 49% of the entire issued share capital of
Grandday, with Dynamic Grand Limited (“Purchaser”) at a total
consideration of US$500,000,000 (“Grandday Disposal”)
(“Agreement”), which was satisfied by way of (i) cash as to
US$200,000,000; and (ii) issuance of the loan note by the
Purchaser  to  the Vendor  in  the pr inc ipa l  amount  o f
US$300,000,000 (“Loan Note”). The Grandday Disposal was
completed on 7th September, 2012 and the Loan Note was
included in “Debtors, Deposits and Prepayments” (Note 38) in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Pursuant to the Agreement, in case of certain events (as defined
in the Agreement) occurred, the Vendor shall have an option to
purchase all but not some of the Sale Shares from the Purchaser
(“Buy Option”) and the Purchaser shall have an option to sell all
but not some of the Sale Shares to the Vendor (“Sale Option”).

For as long as any of the indentures security as defined in the
Agreement (“Indentures Security”) remains outstanding, if, on or
before 20th January, 2016, an event of default as defined in the
Agreement occurs and such event of default agreed in the
Agreement has not been waived, remedied or cured or is
otherwise continuing as at 20th January, 2016; or if a demand is
made on Grandday and/or Lucky Grow Holdings Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Grandday, under any of the Indentures
Security and/or any enforcement action is taken under any of the
Indentures Security, the Purchaser shall sell and the Vendor shall
purchase all but not some of the Sale Shares (“Automatic Sale”).

Details of the Grandday Disposal including the Buy Option, the
Sale Option, the Indentures Security and the Automatic Sale were
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 5th
September, 2012.

(ii) As at 31st December, 2011, the unlisted floating rate notes with
maturity dates in 2012 and 2014 carry interest at LIBOR plus
0.23% to 0.35% per annum, payable on quarterly basis, and the
balances with maturity date in 2012 were classified as current
assets.

(iii) As at 31st December, 2011, the unlisted fixed rate notes carry
interest from 4.75% to 6.50% per annum, payable on half-year
basis, and will mature from February 2013 to August 2019.

30.

(i)

Dynamic Grand Limited

49
49%

500,000,000
(i)

200,000,000 (ii) 
300,000,000

38

/
/

(ii)

0.23 0.35

(iii)
4.75 6.50
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30. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(Cont’d)

The Group's unlisted floating rate notes were all disposed off with

the G-Prop Disposal during the year (Note 45(b)(i)) while the

unlisted fixed rate notes were included in "Assets Classified as Held

for Sale" (Note 13) in the consolidated statement of financial position

as at 31st December, 2012 as a result of the Chi Cheung Disposal

which was completed on 6th February, 2013.

As at 31st December, 2011, the fair values of the unlisted debt

securities were referenced with the quoted market bid prices

available on the industry group.

For certain unlisted equity securities incorporated in Hong Kong,

the fair values are determined based on discounted cash flow

valuation techniques, with assumptions on discount rates ranging

from 1% below Prime to Prime and no earning growth factor were

used. Prime is defined as HK$ best offered rate quoted from time

to time by Standard Chartered Bank. If the discount rate to the

valuation model was 10% higher/lower while all other variables

were held constant, the carrying amounts of the unlisted equity

securities investments would decrease/increase by approximately

HK$883,000 (2011: HK$1,342,000).

Certain unlisted equity securities incorporated in Hong Kong and

unlisted equity securities issued by private entities incorporated in

the United States of America are stated at cost less accumulated

impairment losses because the range of reasonable fair value

estimates is so significant that the Directors consider that their fair

values cannot be measured reliably. During the years ended 31st

December, 2012 and 2011, the Directors consider that there is no

impairment loss recognised in relation to the unlisted equity

securities.

The club debentures classified as available-for-sale investments are

stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. During the years

ended 31st December, 2012 and 2011, the Directors consider that

there is no impairment of the club debentures since the market

price less costs to sell are higher than its carrying value.

At the end of the reporting period, available-for-sale investments

totaling approximately HK$20,770,000 (2011: HK$3,908,870,000)

are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

30.

45(b)(i)

13

1

10%

883,000

1,342,000

20,770,000

3,908,870,000
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31. ADVANCES TO AN INVESTEE COMPANY
AND NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

(a) As at 31st December, 2011, the advance made to an investee

company, of approximately HK$406,241,000, with principal

purpose of providing fund for a property development project,

namely The Coronation, located at West Kowloon Reclamation

Area is unsecured and interest-free. The advance was fully

recovered during the current year.

(b) The advances made to non-controlling shareholders are

unsecured and interest-free. The Group will not demand for

repayment within one year and the advances are therefore

shown as non-current.

31.

(a)

406,241,000

(b)
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32. LOANS RECEIVABLE 32.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Long-term loans receivable, secured

Non-current – 34

Current 34 44

34 78

Long-term loans receivable, unsecured

Non-current 15 24

Current 17 16

32 40

Other loans and advances, unsecured – –

66 118

Less: Amounts due within one year shown

under current assets (51) (60)

Amounts due after one year 15 58

Loans receivable comprise:

Effective

Maturity date Collateral interest rate Carrying amounts

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loans receivable 17th September, 2013 Properties Prime rate 34 78

Loans receivable 1st July, 2014 Nil 18% per annum 32 40

18

66 118
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33. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) Pledged deposits

The amounts represent deposits pledged to banks and other

financial institutions to secure credit facilities granted to the

Group. Deposits amounting to approximately HK$2,169,839,000

(2011: HK$1,539,558,000) have been pledged to secure

short-term borrowings and are therefore classified as current

assets. The remaining deposits amounting to approximately

HK$62,673,000 (2011: HK$165,441,000) have been

pledged to secure long-term borrowings and are therefore

classified as non-current assets.

The deposits carry interest rate at prevailing market rate. The

pledged deposits will be released upon the repayment of

relevant borrowings.

(b) Securities trading receivables and deposits

Securities trading receivables and deposits are mainly amounts

due from clearing house, brokers and clients.

(c) Time deposits, bank balances and cash

The time deposits carry interests at prevailing market deposit

rates and mature within one month. The Group does not hold

collateral over the balances.

34. STOCK OF PROPERTIES

33.

(a)

2 ,169 ,839 ,000

1,539,558,000

62,673,000

165,441,000

(b)

(c)

34.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Completed properties 825,781 201,085

Properties under development held for sales 3,222,058 5,785,458

Less: Impairment loss recognised (279,467) (279,467)

2,942,591 5,505,991

3,768,372 5,707,076
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34. STOCK OF PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

As at 31st December, 2012, the Directors reviewed the carrying

amounts of the properties under development held for sales with

reference to current market situation and the estimated selling price

of the properties under development held for sales provided by B.I.

Appraisals. No impairment loss was made during the years ended

31st December, 2012 and 2011.

During the year, completed properties write-down of HK$606,000

(2011: HK$2,312,000) was recognised to the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income as a result of decrease in net realisable

value of certain completed properties.

Properties under development held for sales with carrying amounts

of approximately HK$816,450,000 (2011: HK$2,703,537,000) are

expected to be completed after one year.

As set out in the Company’s announcement dated 17th June, 2012,

Moon Ocean Ltd. (“Moon Ocean”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of

the Company, received a notice of preliminary hearing dated 15th

June, 2012 (“First Notice”) from the Land, Public Works and Transport

Bureau of Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s

Republic of China (“Macau”) (“LPWT”) regarding the transfers of

the rights deriving from the land concession for the five plots of

land adjacent to the Macau International Airport (according to the

Company’s record, formerly known as Lots 1C; 2; 3; 4 and 5 (parcels

5A & 5B), Avenida Wai Long, Taipa, Macau, and registered in the

Macau Land Registry under Nos. 22993, 22991, 22995, 22990

and 22989 and now known as Lots 1C1; 1C2; 1C3; 2a; 2b; 2d; 3;

4a; 4b; 5a1; 5a2; 5a3; 5b1; 5b2; 5b3; 5b4; 5b5; 5b6; A3a; A3b;

A4a; A4b; E1a; E1b; E2 and E3 and registered in the Macau Land

Registry under No. 22989) (“Macau Land”) from five Macau

companies to which the land concession was originally granted

(“Original Owners”) to Moon Ocean (“Land Transfers”) and the

amendment of the related land concession contracts.

It was stated in the First Notice that (i) the Chief Executive of Macau

had approved the initiation of the procedures for declaring the act

of the Chief Executive of Macau in confirming the approval of the

Land Transfers and the related amendments of the land concession

contracts in March 2006 invalid and returning the Macau Land to

the Original Owners (“Matters”); and (ii) Moon Ocean may make

written submission regarding the Matters within 15 days from the

receipt of the First Notice.

34.

606,000 2,312,000

816,450,000

2,703,537,000

Moon

Ocean Ltd. Moon Ocean

1C 2 3 4

5 5A 5B

22993 22991 22995

22990 22989 1C1 1C2 1C3

2a 2b 2d 3 4a 4b 5a1 5a2 5a3

5b1 5b2 5b3 5b4 5b5 5b6 A3a

A3b A4a A4b E1a E1b E2 E3

22989

Moon Ocean

(i)

(ii)Moon Ocean
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34. STOCK OF PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

The Group’s Macau legal adviser (“Macau Legal Advisor”) made the

submission which set out basis for opposing the Matters on 29th

June, 2012 and as set out in the Company’s announcement dated

14th August, 2012, Moon Ocean received a notice from the LPWT

(“Second Notice”) stating that (i) the Chief Executive of Macau had

declared the previous act of the Chief Executive of Macau in

confirming the approval of the Land Transfers and the related

amendments of the land concession contracts in March 2006 invalid

(“First Decision”); and (ii) Moon Ocean may present objection to

the First Decision within 15 days from the gazetting of the First

Decision and may also appeal to the Court of Second Instance of

Macau. The First Decision was then published on the official bulletin

of the Macau Government dated 15th August, 2012. It is also showed

in the real estate registration certificate ( ) issued by

the Macau Real Estate Registry of the Macau Government that there

is registration of a note stating Moon Ocean’s land title over the

Macau Land is invalid. In addition, written report on real estate

registration ( ) issued by the Macau Real Estate

Registry of the Macau Government shows that the land title of the

Macau Land is currently under the name of Lei Tin Development

Company, Limited, which is a Macau company among the Original

Owners and already dissolved.

On 4th September, 2012, Moon Ocean further received a notice of

preliminary hearing (“Third Notice”) from the LPWT which stated

that (i) the Chief Executive of Macau had approved the initiation of

the procedures for declaring the act of the Chief Executive of Macau

in confirming the approval of the increase of residential gross floor

area of the Macau Land from 392,505 to 537,560 square meters

and an exchange of 9 small pieces of land with a total site area of

approximately 1,282 square meters initially forming part of the Macau

Land for 8 small pieces of adjacent land with a total site area of

approximately 5,204 square meters as announced on 9th March,

2011 (“2011 Revision”) was invalid (“Second Decision”); and (ii)

Moon Ocean may make written submission on the issues regarding

the subject matter of the above procedures within 15 days from the

receipt of the Third Notice.

34.

Moon Ocean

(i)

(ii)Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

(i)

392,505 537,560

1,282

5,204

(ii)Moon Ocean
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34. STOCK OF PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

On 28th August, 2012, Moon Ocean filed an objection to the Chief

Executive of Macau’s Bureau against the Second Decision. On 14th

September, 2012, as Moon Ocean had not received any reply from

the Chief Executive of Macau regarding such objection and Moon

Ocean and a purchaser of La Scala therefore jointly lodged an appeal

to the Court of Second Instance of Macau against the First Decision

on the same date (“Appeal”). Details of lodging the Appeal were

disclosed in the Company’s announcements on 28th August, 2012

and 14th September, 2012.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group for

the year ended 31st December, 2012, the Directors have sought

the legal opinion from the Macau Legal Adviser regarding the First

Notice, the Second Notice, the Third Notice and the Appeal (“Macau

Legal Opinion”).

In the Macau Legal Opinion, it is pointed out that the First Decision

and the Second Decision are immediately valid and enforceable

and the appeal to the Court of Second Instance of Macau does not

suspend the validity and enforceability of the First Decision. As such,

legally speaking, Moon Ocean is no longer the registered owner of

the Macau Land.

Regarding the probability of winning the Appeal, the Macau Legal

Opinion states that there are strong legal arguments to win the Appeal

and therefor for Moon Ocean to get back the Macau Land. However,

it is further stated in the Macau Legal Opinion that in view of the

past judicial case outcome (which is, somehow, similar to Moon

Ocean’s case) there is a plausible risk that Moon Ocean might not

get the title of the Macau Land back.

The cost incurred in the Macau Land have been classified mainly

into three types: (1) cost of acquisition of the land concession

amounted to approximately HK$1,329,023,000 paid to the Original

Owners (“Land Costs”); (2) premium paid to the Macau Government

in relation to the 2011 Revision amounted to approximately

HK$624,073,000 (“Premium”); and (3) other cost, incurred in the

construction project of the Macau Land up to 31st December, 2012,

amounted to approximately HK$542,357,000 (“Construction Costs”).

34.

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean Moon Ocean

(1)

1,329,023,000 (2)

624,073,000 (3)

542,357,000
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34. STOCK OF PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

It is stated in the Macau Legal Opinion and also set out in the Third

Notice, pursuant to the provision of article 282 paragraph 1 of the

 of the laws of Macau, the declaration of nullity of an act

shall have retrospective effect and the interested parties shall return

the objects exchanged in such act. As such, Moon Ocean shall be

obliged to return the Macau Land and vice versa, the Original Owners

and the Macau Government shall return the Land Costs and the

Premium to Moon Ocean respectively.

Based on the Macau Legal Opinion, the First Notice, the Second

Notice and the Third Notice and all information available, the Land

Costs, the Premium and the Construction Costs were reclassified to

“Debtors, Deposits and Prepayments” (Note 38) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

35. INVESTMENTS HELD-FOR-TRADING

Investments held-for-trading comprise:

34.

1 282

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

38

35.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed investments:

– Equity securities listed in Hong Kong  154,275 514,917

– Equity securities listed elsewhere  2,052 –

156,327 514,917

The fair values of the investments held-for-trading are determined

based on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant

stock exchanges.

36. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AS AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss

comprise:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bonds:

Non-current 993,942 2,453,411

Current 9,575,592 2,773,200

10,569,534 5,226,611

36.
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36.

2,065,000,000

65,000,000

280,000,000

51,000,000

34,500,000

145,410,000

30,000,000

100,000,000

3,000,000

348,500,000

4.875

13.5 547,000,000

7.5

9.25

37.

36. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AS AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(Cont’d)

Major terms of the bonds are as follows:

Notional amount Maturity

RMB2,065,000,000 2014

RMB65,000,000 2016

US$280,000,000 2015

US$51,000,000 2016

US$34,500,000 2017

US$145,410,000 2022

US$30,000,000 2023

US$100,000,000 2037

US$3,000,000 2042

US$348,500,000 Perpetual

The bonds denominated in US$ carry fixed rate range from 4.875%

to 13.5% per annum of which US$547,000,000 are callable and

the bonds denominated in RMB carry fixed rate range from 7.5%,

to 9.25% per annum.

The bonds are traded in active market and stated at fair values at

the end of the reporting period, their fair values are determined by

reference to market bid prices quoted by financial institutions and

brokers.

37. INVENTORIES FOR COSMETIC PRODUCTS

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods 3,041 3,485

Raw materials 338 454

3,379 3,939

As at 31st December, 2012 and 2011, all inventories were stated at

the lower of cost and net realisable value. 者
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38. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 38.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 39,647 17,372

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (4,266) (4,533)

35,381 12,839

Deposits and prepayments 419,656 259,999

Other receivables 4,637,209 310,631

5,092,246 583,469

Included in trade receivables mainly comprised of rental receivables

billed in advance and settlements from tenants are expected upon

receipts of billings and properties sales proceeds receivables.

The Group maintains a defined credit policy to assess the credit

quality of each counterparty. The collection is closely monitored to

minimise any credit risk associated with these trade receivables.

Considerations in respect of sold properties are payable by the

purchasers pursuant to the terms of the sales and purchase

agreements. Rental in respect of leased properties are payable in

advance by the tenants. Other trade debtors settle their accounts

according to the payment terms as stated in the respective contracts.

The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables (net of

allowance for doubtful debts) at the end of the reporting period:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 - 30 days 4,264 3,150

31 - 60 days 22,244 977

61 - 90 days 1,201 588

Over 90 days 7,672 8,124

35,381 12,839
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38. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(Cont’d)

The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables which are

past due but not impaired:

38.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 - 30 days 3,561 2,495

31 - 60 days 21,794 452

61 - 90 days 679 –

Over 90 days 7,487 7,786

33,521 10,733

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st January 4,533 4,928

Amounts written off as uncollectible (384) (85)

Amount recovered during the year (53) –

Impairment losses recognised (reversed)

in respect of trade receivables 170 (310)

At 31st December 4,266 4,533

For those past due but not impaired receivables, although no

collateral is held, the Group has assessed the creditworthiness, past

payment history and substantial settlement after the end of the

reporting period, and considers that the amounts are still recoverable

and no further credit provision is required in excess of allowance

for doubtful debts. Trade receivables over 90 days amounting to

approximately HK$7,487,000 (2011: HK$7,786,000) are sufficiently

covered by rental deposits received from the respective tenants and

no allowance is required for these receivables under the Group’s

allowance policy.

Trade receivables which are neither overdue nor impaired are in

good quality.

 

90

7,487,000 7,786,000
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38. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(Cont’d)

Deposits and prepayments as at 31st December, 2012 mainly

comprised the following:

Included in the deposits and prepayments were (i) the Construction

Costs reclassified from the stock of properties of which details were

set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements and (ii)

the deposits and prepayments related to the costs incurred in which

were mainly for the presale of the residential units in the property

project of the Macau Land of approximately HK$152,380,000

(excluding inter-company transaction of approximately HK$5,488,000

in respect of rental charges and building management fee of office

premises charged to Moon Ocean by its fellow subsidiary) (“Macau

Project Costs”). As set out in the Macau Legal Opinion, depending

on the evidence to be produced in Macau court in connection

therewith, it is probable for Moon Ocean to claim back the

Construction Costs and the Macau Project Costs from the Macau

Government. However, due to the nature that there is no contractual

right or obligation that the Macau Government to return Moon Ocean

the Construction Costs and the Macau Project Costs, they were

recognised as “Costs of Development Recognised in respect of

Property Project in Macau” of approximately HK$694,737,000 in

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group shall pursue to

claim the Macau Government the Construction Costs and the Macau

Project Costs through legal processes should the outcome of the

Appeal be unfavourable to Moon Ocean. Based on the Macau Legal

Opinion, the Directors are of the opinion that it is probable for the

Group to claim back the Construction Costs and the Macau Project

Costs.

38.

(i)

34

(ii)

152,380,000

Moon Ocean

5,488,000

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

694,737,000

Moon Ocean
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38. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(Cont’d)

Other receivables as at 31st December, 2012 mainly comprised

the following:

(a) As detailed in Note 34, included in other receivables were

the Land Costs and the Premium which were reclassified from

the stock of properties.

The Directors are in the opinion that based on the Third Notice

and the Macau Legal Opinion, by mere operation of the laws

of Macau, the Original Owners and the Macau Government

shall be obliged to return the Land Costs and the Premium to

Moon Ocean respectively should the outcome of the Appeal

be unfavourable to Moon Ocean.

Up to the date of the approval of these consolidated financial

statements, only one Macau company, Tai Lei Loi Development

Company, Limited exists and the other four Macau companies

among the Original Owners were dissolved (“Dissolved

Original Owners”). As stated in the Macau Legal Opinion, the

shareholders of the Dissolved Original Owners shall have the

obligation to return the Land Costs to Moon Ocean under the

laws of Macau. It is further pointed out in the Macau Legal

Opinion that, the shareholders of the Dissolved Original

Owners are (1) the Macau Government, holder of a quota

equivalent to 88% of the share capital of each of the Dissolved

Original Owners; (2) Sociedade de Turismo e Diversoes De

Macau, SARL, holder of a quota equivalent to 5% of the share

capital of each of the Dissolved Original Owners; (3) CAM –

Sociedade do Aeroporto Internacional de Macau, SARL, holder

of a quota equivalent to 5% of the share capital of each of

the Dissolved Original Owners; and (4) Companhia de

Investimento Tai Fok Wah, Limitada, holder of a quota

equivalent to 2% of the share capital of each of the Dissolved

Original Owners.

Up to the date of the approval of these consolidated financial

statements, the Appeal is still in progress and there is no notice

from the Court of Second Instance of Macau of the timing for

legal procedures to be conducted.

38.

(a) 34

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

Tai Lei Loi Development

Company, Limited

Moon Ocean

(1)

88%

(2)Sociedade de Turismo e

Diversoes De Macau, SARL

5%

(3)CAM Soc iedade do Aeropor to

Internacional de Macau, SARL

5%

(4)Companhia de Investimento

Tai Fok Wah, Limitada

2%
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38. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(Cont’d)

(b) As disclosed in Note 30, the Company and the Vendor entered

into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the Sale

Shares with the Purchaser at a total consideration of

US$500,000,000, which was satisfied by way of (i) cash as

to US$200,000,000; and (ii) the issuance of the Loan Note.

The Loan Note with maturity date of 7th June, 2013, secured

by Sale Shares (“Share Charge”), carries interest at (i) 2%

per annum for the period from the date of completion of the

Grandday Disposal to but excluding the date falling six months

thereafter (“Step-Up Date”); and (ii) 12% per annum for the

period from and including the Step-Up Date to the date on

which the Loan Note is fully repaid or redeemed. The Loan

Note was fully redeemed in March, 2013. Details of the

redemption are set out in Note 57(b).

The carrying amount of the Loan Note, which is included in

other receivables,  as at 31st December,  2012 was

approximately HK$2,327,070,000.

39. CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS

Included in creditors and accruals are trade payables of approximately

HK$339,738,000 (2011: HK$520,513,000).

The following is the aged analysis of trade payables at the end of

the reporting period:

38.

(b) 30

500,000,000

(i) 200,000,000

(ii)

(i)

2 (ii)

12

57(b)

2,327,070,000

39.

339,738,000 520,513,000

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 - 90 days 36,717 82,250

Over 90 days 303,021 438,263

339,738 520,513



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

201

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured bank loans repayable

within a period of:

Less than 1 year 7,375,272 6,551,002

More than 1 year but within 2 years 239,651 8,751,362

More than 2 years but within 5 years 9,095,966 3,748,153

Over 5 years – 184,500

16,710,889 19,235,017

Other secured loans repayable within 1 year 6,796,686 3,300,665

Unsecured bank loan repayable within 1 year – 155,000

23,507,575 22,690,682

Less: Amounts due within one year (14,171,958) (10,006,667)

Amounts due after one year 9,335,617 12,684,015

40.

The bank loans denominated in HK$ are variable-rate borrowings

which carry interest ranging from HIBOR plus 0.66% to 2.50% or

cost of funds plus 3.20% (2011: HIBOR plus 0.37% to 5.00%) per

annum.

The variable-rate bank loans denominated in RMB carry interest at

110% (2011: 90% to 110%) of People’s Bank of China base rate

per annum as announced by the People’s Bank of China.

The borrowing denominated in GBP from a financial institution at

the end of the reporting period with carrying amount of approximately

HK$3,255.6 million (2011: HK$3,185.9 million) carries interest at

a fixed rate of 5.97% per annum. The weighted average effective

interest rate is 3.5% per annum.

The remaining loans are variable-rate borrowings which carry interest

at costs of funds of individual financial institutions plus 0.25% to

0.35% (2011: 0.25% to 1.98%) per annum.

0.66 2.50

3.20

0.37 5.00

110%

90% 110%

3,255,600,000

3,185,900,000 5.97

3.5

0.25 0.35 0.25

1.98

40. BORROWINGS
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40. BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies other

than HK$ are set out below:

40.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

US$ 6,620,036 3,274,825

GBP 3,255,596 3,185,895

RMB 1,492,800 775,807

11,368,432 7,236,527

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contingency provision

At 1st January – 16,054

Reversal of contingency provision – (16,054)

At 31st December – –

41.

Note: The provision represents construction cost determined by the
management’s best estimate of the Group’s liability on
contingency claims by a third party to whom a property under
development project was previously disposed of.

42. SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in the share capital of the Company during the year

were as follows:

者

42.

Number of shares Share capital

2012 2011 2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 0.10

Authorised:

At 1st January and 31st December 5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 500,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid:

At 1st January and 31st December 1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079 190,762 190,762

41. PROVISIONS
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43. AMOUNTS DUE TO ASSOCIATES,
INVESTEE COMPANIES AND
NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

The amounts due to associates, investee companies and

non-controlling shareholders are unsecured and interest-free. The

associates, investee companies and non-controlling shareholders

will not demand for repayment within one year from the end of the

reporting period and the amounts are therefore shown as

non-current.

44. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities provided (assets

recognised) by the Group and movements thereon during the current

and prior reporting periods:

43.

44.

Accelerated

Investment tax Tax

properties depreciation losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st January, 2011 389,608 18,038 (37,266) 370,380

Exchange adjustments – – 125 125

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 45(a)) 45(a) – – (42,609) (42,609)

Charged to the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income 73,450 10,515 24,539 108,504

At 31st December, 2011 463,058 28,553 (55,211) 436,400

Exchange adjustments – – (1,790) (1,790)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 45(b)(i)) 45(b)(i) (17) – – (17)

Charged to the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income 127,885 11,483 7,244 146,612

At 31st December, 2012 590,926 40,036 (49,757) 581,205
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44.44. DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont’d)

For the purpose of the presentation in the consolidated statement

of financial position, certain deferred tax liabilities and assets have

been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

for financial reporting purposes:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax liabilities 616,457 483,679

Deferred tax assets (35,252) (47,279)

581,205 436,400

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following

major unrecognised deferred tax assets due to the unpredictability

of the future profit streams.

56,572,000

48,034,000

45. 

(a)

River Court Holdings Limited

River Court

River Court

Holdings Limited 100%

River Court 

37,800,000

453,400,000

River Court River Court

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accelerated tax depreciation (118,289) (106,493)

Tax losses (450,337) (507,233)

(568,626) (613,726)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s unused tax losses

not recognised of approximately HK$56,572,000 (2011:

HK$48,034,000) will expire in one to five years. Other unrecognised

tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

45. BUSINESS COMBINATION

(a) Acquisition of Subsidiaries

Acquisition of River Court Holdings Limited and

its subsidiaries (“River Court Group”)

On 14th January, 2011, the Group entered into a sale and

purchase agreement with independent third parties, in relation

to the acquisition of 100% equity interests in River Court Holdings

Limited, which indirectly held the freehold office building, namely

River Court, located at London, United Kingdom at a consideration

of GBP37.8 million, equivalent to approximately HK$453.4 million

(“Acquisition of River Court”). The Acquisition of River Court was

completed on 14th January, 2011.
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45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Cont’d)

(a) Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

At the date of acquisition, River Court Group was actively

engaged in property leasing and whole of properties were

leased out, the Acquisition of River Court enables the Group

to have return in form of rental income and asset enhancement

on the integrated set of its activities and assets. The Directors

determined that the acquired entity should be accounted as

bus iness  in  acco rdance w i th  HKFRS 3 “Bus iness

Combinations”.

The recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and

liabilities assumed as at the date of the Acquisition of River

Court are as follows:

45. 

(a)

River Court

River

Court

3

River Court

2011

Fair value

HK$’000

Net assets acquired:

Investment property - River Court   River Court 3,362,492

Debtors and prepayments 62

Bank balances and cash 64,552

Secured bank loan (3,253,087)

Deposits and receipts in advance (35,964)

Creditors and accruals (50,136)

Tax liabilities (30)

Deferred tax asset 42,609

Net assets acquired 130,498

Goodwill 322,938

Total consideration 453,436

Satisfied by:

Cash consideration paid 453,436

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

Cash consideration paid 453,436

Bank balances and cash acquired (64,552)

388,884
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45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Cont’d)

(a) Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Goodwill can be attributable to the anticipated profitability of

the acquired business. None of the goodwill recognised is

expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$13.3

million was recognised in “Other Expenses” (Note 11) in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The valuation of investment property at the acquisition was

performed by Peak Vision Appraisals, an independent qualified

professional valuer with experience in the valuation of similar

properties in the relevant market and the fair value of secured

bank loan was calculated based on discounted cash flow

models. The fair values of the other identifiable assets and

liabilities were approximate to their carrying amounts.

The fair value of debtors and prepayments include debtors

with a fair value and gross contractual amount receivable of

GBP5,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$62,000).

Since the Acquisition of River Court, River Court Group

contributed revenue of HK$191.9 million and profit of

HK$135.1 million to the Group for the year ended 31st

December, 2011. If the Acquisition of River Court had occurred

on 1st January, 2011, the revenue and profit of the Group for

the year ended 31st December, 2011 would have been

increased by approximately HK$6.8 million and HK$2.5 million

respectively.

45. 

(a)

13,300,000

11

5,000 62,000

River Court River Court

191,900,000

135,100,000 River

Court

6,800,000

2,500,000



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

207

45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Cont’d)

(b) Disposal of Subsidiaries

(i) G-Prop Disposal

As disclosed in Note 12(a), the First Vendor and the

Second Vendor entered into a sale and purchase

agreement pursuant to which the Purchaser of G-Prop

agreed to purchase a total of 1,512,059,473 shares in

G-Prop (“G-Prop Shares”) at an aggregate consideration

of  approx imate ly  HK$423,661,000 (of  which

approximately HK$285,338,000 was payable to the First

Vendor and approximately HK$138,323,000 was

payable to the Second Vendor). G-Prop Shares

represented (i) all the shares of G-Prop held by the

Group and the Second Vendor; and (ii) approximately

62.26% of the entire issued share capital of G-Prop

with approximately 41.93% held by the Group and

approximately 20.33% held by the Second Vendor. The

consideration to the First Vendor was satisfied by the

Purchaser of G-Prop in cash of approximately

HK$65,968,000 and by promissory  notes  o f

approximately HK$219,370,000. Details of the G-Prop

Disposal were disclosed in the announcement of the

Company dated 17th June, 2012.

The G-Prop Disposal was completed on 6th August,

2012. Upon completion, G-Prop Group ceased to be

subsidiaries of the Group and their consolidated results,

assets and liabilities ceased to be consolidated with

those of the Group.

45. 

(b)

(i)

12(a)

1,512,059,473

423,661,000

285,338,000

138,323,000

(i)

(ii)

62.26%

41.93%

20.33%

65,968,000 219,370,000
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45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Cont’d)

(b) Disposal of Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(i) G-Prop Disposal (Cont’d)

The net assets of G-Prop Group as at the date of disposal

were as follows:

45. 

(b)

(i)

2012

HK$’000

Investment property 33,700

Goodwill 6,941

Loan to the Group 220,000

Interests in jointly controlled entities –

Available-for-sale investments 79,049

Debtors, deposits and prepayments 672

Time deposits and bank balances 156,723

Creditors and accruals (110,667)

Deposit and receipts in advance (391)

Tax liabilities (15)

Deferred tax liabilities (17)

Net assets disposed of 385,995

Non-controlling interests (211,996)

Cumulative loss on available-for-sale

investments reclassified from equity 2,085

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 106,955

Total consideration 283,039

Satisfied by:

Cash consideration received 65,968

Promissory notes received 219,370

Expenses incurred for disposal (2,299)

283,039
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45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Cont’d)

(b) Disposal of Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(i) G-Prop Disposal (Cont’d)

45. 

(b)

(i)

2012

HK$’000

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Cash consideration received 65,968

Promissory notes received (note) 219,370

Expenses incurred for disposal (2,299)

Time deposits and bank

balances disposed of (156,723)

126,316

The gain on G-Prop Disposal was included in “Other

Gains and Losses, Net” (Note 16) in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

Note: The promissory notes, which carried interest at a
fixed rate of 12% per annum with maturity date
of 5th November, 2012 which was subsequently
extended to 31st December, 2012, were fully
repaid during the year.

(ii) Disposal of a subsidiary to a connected person

On 7th November, 2011, the Group entered into a sale

and purchase agreement with Marvel Ocean Limited,

which is wholly-owned by a Director and a substantial

shareholder of the Company, to dispose Easy Harbour

Limited, which held a residential property located at

No. 3 Deep Water Bay Road, Hong Kong (“Connected

Transaction”), at a consideration of approximately

HK$497.2 million and was completed on 7th November,

2011.

16

12

(ii)

Marvel Ocean Limited

3 Easy

Harbour Limited

497,200,000
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45. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Cont’d)

(b) Disposal of Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(ii) Disposal of a subsidiary to a connected person

(Cont’d)

The net liabilities of the Connected Transaction as at

the date of disposal were as follows:

45. 

(b)

(ii)

2011

HK$’000

Investment property 860,000

Bank balances 2,042

Amounts due to the Group (497,282)

Bank borrowings (430,000)

Deposits and receipts in advance (1,406)

Creditors and accruals (223)

Net liabilities disposed of (66,869)

Repayments of amounts

due to the Group 497,282

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 66,825

Cash consideration received 497,238

Satisfied by:

Cash received 497,238

Expenses incurred for disposal (92)

497,146

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Cash consideration 497,238

Expenses incurred for disposal (92)

Bank balances disposed of (2,042)

495,104

The gain on Connected Transaction was included in

“Other Gains and Losses, Net” (Note 16) in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Details of the Connected Transaction were disclosed in

the announcement of the Company dated 7th

November, 2011.

16
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46. TRANSACTION WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Acquisition of additional interest in Moon Ocean

On 28th March, 2011, the Group entered into a sale and purchase

agreement with an independent third party to acquire 2,999

non-voting deferred shares in Moon Ocean, representing 29.99%

of the entire issued share capital of Moon Ocean, at a total cash

consideration of HK$1,600.0 million. Moon Ocean is the owner of

the leasehold interest in the Macau Land which is a stock of

properties under development held for sale (“Macau Development”).

As a result of the acquisition, the Group owns 100% of Moon Ocean

and the Macau Development. The acquisition was completed on

28th March, 2011. The carrying amount of the non-controlling

interest in Moon Ocean on the date of acquisition was HK$23,000.

The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interest of

HK$23,000 and a decrease in equity attributable to owners of the

Company of HK$1,599,977,000. Stock of properties is stated at lower

of cost and net realisable value while the non-controlling interest is

stated at cost of equity investment plus its proportionate share of

carrying amount of the net assets (if any). The consideration is

determined by reference to, among other things, the market value

of the Macau Development.

46.

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean 2,999

Moon Ocean

29.99% 1,600,000,000

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

100%

Moon Ocean

23,000

23,000 1,599,977,000

者

者
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46. TRANSACTION WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Cont’d)

Acquisition of additional interest in Moon Ocean (Cont’d)

46.

Moon Ocean

2011

HK$’000

Carrying amount of non-controlling

interest acquired 23

Consideration paid to

a non-controlling shareholder (1,600,000)

Excess of consideration

recognised within equity (1,599,977)

The effect of change in ownership interest in Moon Ocean without

change of control on the equity attributable to owners of the

Company is as follows:

2011

HK$’000

Total comprehensive income for the year

attributable to owners of the Company 3,784,673

Change in equity attributable to owners Moon Ocean

of the Company arising from acquisition

of additional interest in Moon Ocean (1,599,977)

Net effect for change in ownership interest

in Moon Ocean without change of control Moon Ocean

on equity attributable to owners

of the Company 2,184,696

Moon Ocean

47. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the Group did not have major non-cash transactions.

47.
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48. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the

assets pledged by the Group to secure general banking and other

loan facilities and to secure the securities transactions, granted to

the Group are analysed as follows:

48.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties 39,283,948 32,981,748

Properties and other fixed assets 481,907 485,144

Investments held-for-trading 156,327 514,650

Financial assets designated as at fair value

through profit or loss 10,550,292 5,226,611

Non-current pledged deposits 62,673 165,441

Current pledged deposits 2,169,839 1,539,558

Stock of properties – 2,626,322

52,704,986 43,539,474

In addition, the Group has subordinated and assigned its advances

to associates of approximately HK$1,567,506,000 (2011: advances

to associates and an investee company of approximately

HK$1,919,991,000) to financial institutions to secure general

banking credit facilities granted to associates and interests in certain

subsidiaries of the Company have been pledged as part of the

security to secure certain bank borrowings granted to the Group.

1,567,506,000

1,919,991,000
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49.49. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following commitments at the end of the

reporting period:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised and contracted for:

Development expenditure of properties

in Hong Kong 612,980 314,274

Development expenditure of properties

in Mainland China 4,325,394 5,164,854

Development expenditure of properties

in Macau 2,781,962 500,873

Renovation of properties 2,305 19,387

7,722,641 5,999,388

Authorised but not contracted for:

Development expenditure of properties

in Hong Kong – 205,320

The Group’s associate had capital commitments which were

authorised and contracted for at the end of the reporting period of

approximately HK$571,202,000 (2011: HK$71,164,000), of which

the Group’s share of commitments amounted to approximately

HK$142,801,000 (2011: HK$17,791,000).

50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) The Appeal to the Court of Second Instance of Macau

with regard to the First Decision and the Second

Decision

As disclosed in Notes 34 and 38, Moon Ocean filed the Appeal

to the Court of Second Instance of Macau against the First

Decision. Up to the date of the approval of these consolidated

financial statements, the Appeal is still in progress and there

is no notice from the Court of Second Instance of Macau of

the timing for legal procedures to be conducted.

571,202,000

71,164,000

142,801,000

17,791,000

50.

(a)

34 38 Moon Ocean
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50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

(a) The Appeal to the Court of Second Instance of Macau

with regard to the First Decision and the Second

Decision (Cont’d)

During the course of the development of La Scala project on

the Macau Land, Moon Ocean has entered into construction

contracts with certain contractors. The aggregate amount of

these construction contracts are approximately HK$2,782

mill ion as at 31st December, 2012 although none of

construction contractors, including China Construction

Engineering (Macau) Company Limited which is the main

construction contractor with construction contract sum of

HK$2,252,677,000, has commenced construction work on

the Macau Land. In case of final outcome of the Appeal is

unfavourable to the Group, Moon Ocean may consider

entering into cancellation agreements with these contractors

for the development of La Scala project on the Macau Land.

Adjustments may need to be made to the liabilities arising

from the outstanding contractual obligations under these

construct ion contracts should there be claims from

construction contractors.

Regarding the presale of La Scala project on the Macau Land

commenced since March 2012, the Group recorded

contracted sales on sale of properties of approximately

HK$3,825 million as at 31st December, 2012 representing

presale of 302 units of La Scala project, after cancellation of

2 contracted sales, and sales deposits of approximately

HK$384 million have been received by the Group. In case of

the outcome of the Appeal is unfavourable to the Group, Moon

Ocean may consider entering into cancellation agreements

with purchasers of La Scala project in the presale and refunding

the deposits received. Adjustments may need to be made

should there be claims made by purchasers of La Scala in the

presale.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will pursue

for further legal proceedings to appeal to the First Decision

and the Second Decision. The Directors are of the opinion

that, based on the Macau Legal Opinion, there is strong legal

argument to win the Appeal.

50.

(a)

Moon Ocean

2,782,000,000

2,252,677,000

Moon Ocean

302

3,825,000,000

2

384,000,000

Moon

Ocean
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50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

(b) Litigation in respect of a presale transaction of one

unit of La Scala

On 3rd March, 2012, two purchasers of La Scala (“Plaintiffs”)

jointly signed a binding offer letter with Moon Ocean for which

the Plaintiffs agreed to acquire one residential unit in La Scala

(“Binding Offer Letter”). According to the Binding Offer Letter,

the Plaintiffs paid the first deposit amounting to approximately

HK$603,000 (“First Deposit”) to Moon Ocean on the date of

signing the Binding Offer Letter.

On 18th July, 2012, the Court of First Instance of Macau issued

a writ of summons to Moon Ocean regarding to (i) the request

from the Plaintiffs to cancel the Binding Offer Letter and (ii)

claim against Moon Ocean to return the First Deposit as the

terms of the Binding Offer Letter are inconsistent with the

pre-sale agreement (“Litigation”). On 24th September, 2012,

the lawyer of Moon Ocean representing Moon Ocean filed a

defence to the Court of First Instance of Macau.

Up to the date of the approval of these consolidated financial

statements, no judgement of the Litigation is issued by the

Court of First Instance of Macau. The Directors consider that

the Litigation is still in the preliminary stage and the outcome

of the Litigation is uncertain.

50.

(b)

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean 603,000

Moon Ocean

(i)

(ii) Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean

Moon Ocean
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50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

(c) Other contingent liabilities

50.

(c)

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Guarantees given to banks, in respect of

banking facilities utilised by associates

and an investee company 822,500 1,068,100

Guarantee given to a bank in respect of

banking facilities in lieu of

the cash public utility deposit jointly

utilised by subsidiaries 15,000 15,000

Repurchase guarantee given to banks in

respect of mortgages facilities given to

property purchasers by subsidiaries 302,586 94,399

1,140,086 1,177,499

51. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

51.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Minimum lease payments paid under operating

leases in respect of premises during the year 5,640 3,597

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases, which fall due as follows:

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 3,034 3,055

In the second to fifth year inclusive 484 724

3,518 3,779

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group

for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated for an

average term of 1 to 2 years.
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51. OPERATING LEASES (Cont’d)

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was approximately

HK$1,673,201,000 (2011: HK$1,513,780,000) less outgoings of

approximately HK$79,728,000 (2011: HK$80,456,000).

The investment properties of the Group are expected to generate

annual rental yields of 3.17% to 16.76% (2011: 3.13% to 13.11%)

on an ongoing basis. Most of the properties held have committed

tenants ranged from three to four years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with

tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

51.

1,673,201,000

1,513,780,000

7 9 , 7 2 8 , 0 0 0

80,456,000

3.17%

16.76%  3.13% 13.11%

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,497,215 1,503,159

In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,758,775 2,015,175

Over five years 1,486,632 1,584,325

4,742,622 5,102,659

52. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates defined contribution retirement schemes in

Hong Kong, namely the Occupational Retirement Scheme (“ORSO

Scheme”) and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF

Scheme”). Contributions to the ORSO Scheme made by the Group

are based on a percentage of employees’ salaries ranging from 5%

to 10%, depending upon the length of service of the employees.

From 1st December, 2000, newly joined employees are compulsorily

required to join the MPF Scheme. The employer and its employees

are each required to make contributions to the scheme at rates

specified in the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The total costs charged to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income of approximately HK$9,524,000 (2011:

HK$8,177,000) represented contributions payable to these schemes

by the Group for the year.

52.

5% 10%

9,524,000 8,177,000
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53. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions:

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the Group had the following material transactions with

related parties during the year:

53.

者

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Income received from associates:

Secretarial fee 8 7

Management fee 93 72

Interest income 4,723 4,815

Accountancy fee 120 120

Consultancy fee 236 231

Management and maintenance service

income received from a Director and

a substantial shareholder 5,487 7,919

Property management service income from

companies controlled by a Director and

a substantial shareholder 15,324 9,964

Rent and building management fee

received from a Director 584 –

Rent and building management fee

paid to associates 2,213 2,105

Consideration received from a company

wholly-owned by an associate of a

Director and a substantial shareholder

for disposal of motor vehicle

and registration mark 585 –

Consideration received from a company

controlled by a Director and a

substantial shareholder for

disposal of a subsidiary – 497,238
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53. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Cont’d)

Transactions: (Cont’d)

Secretarial fee, accountancy fee and consultancy fee were charged

based on an appropriate allocation of costs incurred by central

administrative departments of the Group. Rent and building

management fee were determined on terms similar to those

applicable to transactions with unrelated parties. Management fee,

management and maintenance service income (details were

disc losed in the announcement of  the Company dated

18th December, 2009) and property management service income

(details were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 18th

June, 2010) were charged at the terms agreed by both parties.

Interest income was charged at the prevailing market rate based on

outstanding balance during the year. Considerations received for

disposals were reference to market value.

As set out in the Company’s announcement dated 8th March, 2012,

companies wholly-owned by a Director and a substantial shareholder

of the Company and his close family members respectively had

issued letters of offer to purchase or entered into agreements to

acquire certain residential units of the Group’s stock of properties

under developments at a total consideration of approximately

HK$179.7 million. At the end of the reporting period, the total

deposits received in respect of the transactions amounted to

approximately HK$26.1 million with balance of consideration

aggregated to approximately HK$153.6 million. Considerations of

the transactions were determined with reference to the prevailing

market value.

Balances:

Details of the balances with related parties at the end of the reporting

period are set out in Notes 28 and 43.

Key management personnel emoluments:

Remuneration for key management personnel is disclosed in Notes

17 and 18. The remuneration of the Directors and senior executives

is recommended by the Remuneration Committee for the approval

of the Board of Directors having regard to the performance of

individuals and market trends.

53.

179,700,000

26,100,000

153,600,000

28 43

17 18
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54. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars

of all subsidiaries would be of excessive length and therefore the

following list contains only the subsidiaries as at 31st December,

2012 which principally affected the results or assets of the Group.

54.

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Alpha Team Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

Billion Up Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

Cardin Factory Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property trading

2

Century Basic Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

Hong Kong 1

Chi Cheung Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,387,659.87 – 61.96% Investment holding

Company, Limited #@ 3,387,659.87

 #@

Chinese Estates, Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 100% – Investment holding

1,000 and provision of

management services

Chinese Estates Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200 – 100% Property investment

(Harcourt House) Limited 200

Chinese Estates Macau Ordinary MOP25,000 – 100% Investment holding

(Macau) Limited 25,000
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54. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

54.

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Chinese Estates Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property investment

(The One) Limited 2

Chinese Estates Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 – 100% Property investment

(Windsor House) Limited 100

Non-voting deferred HK$2

2

Conduit Road Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 – 70% Property development

Development Limited 10,000

Country Homes Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200 – 100% Property investment

200

Non-voting HK$164,400

deferred ordinary 164,400

Non-voting HK$1,000

deferred founder 1,000

Dollar Union Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 – 87.5%* Property development

100 and trading

Ever Ideal Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

Hong Kong 1

Evergo China Holdings Bermuda/ Ordinary HK$100,775,869.10 – 100% Investment holding

Limited Hong Kong 100,775,869.10
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54. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

54.

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Evergo Holdings (China) British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$2,509,454 – 100% Investment holding

Company Limited Hong Kong 2,509,454

Evergo Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 – 100% Investment holding

Company Limited 1,000

Fair Eagle Finance Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000,000 – 100% Securities margin

Credit Limited 10,000,000 financing

Fair Eagle Futures Hong Kong Ordinary HK$5,000,000 – 100% Brokering and dealing

Company Limited 5,000,000 in futures contracts

Fair Eagle Securities Hong Kong Ordinary HK$228,000,000 – 100% Provision of brokerage

Company Limited 228,000,000

Global Stage Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

Grand Silver Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 – 100% Property development

(Business name: Hong Kong 1

Grand Silver Capital Limited)

Grand Silver Capital Limited
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54. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

54.

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Grandhall Secretarial Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 – 100% Secretarial services

Services Limited 10,000

Groupluck Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Money lending

2

Harbour Trade Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

Hillsborough Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 – 100% Property investment

Hong Kong 1

Loyal Pride Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

Mass Rise Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

Modern City Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$4 – 75% Property investment

4

Moon Ocean Ltd. British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$10,000 – 100% Property development

10,000

Oriental Master Ltd. British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 100% – Investment holding

1
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54. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

54.

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Paul Y. (New Tunnel) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Investment holding

2

Paul Y. Holdings Cayman Islands/ Ordinary HK$70,715,005.70 100% – Investment holding

Company Limited Hong Kong 70,715,005.70

Perfect World Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 – 100% Estate management

10,000

Pinecrest International Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

Pioneer Time British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 – 100% Property investment

Investment Limited Hong Kong 1

Pretty Wave Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

Rich Honour Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Investment holding

2

River Court Properties Limited Isle of Man Ordinary GBP2 – 100% Property investment

2

Silver Step Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property trading

2

Silvercord Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$14,600 – 100% Property investment

14,600
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54. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

54.

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Sincere Field Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

Smart Ocean Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

Speed Win Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property trading

2

Stable Castle Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 – 100% Property development

1

Sun Power Investments Ltd. British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

Hong Kong 1

Surplus Come Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Property development

1

The House of Kwong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$500,000 – 100% Cosmetics distribution

Sang Hong Limited 500,000 and trading

Victor Lane Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

View Success Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 61.96% ✧ Property investment

Investments Limited 2
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54. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

54.

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

PRC Registered US$830,000 – 100% Estate management

830,000

(Sichuan Perfect World

Property Management

Co., Ltd.)

PRC Registered US$199,600,000 – 100% Property development

199,600,000 and trading

Sichuan Evergo Real Estate

Company Limited

PRC Registered US$100,000,000 – 100% Property development

100,000,000 and trading

Evergo Real Estate (chengdu)

 Company Limited

PRC Registered US$10,500,000 – 100% Property investment

10,500,000

(Evergo Real Estate (Shanghai)

 Company Limited)

PRC Registered US$449,400,000 – 100% Property development

449,400,000

(Evergo Enterprises (Chengdu)

 Company Limited)

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the

reporting period.

# Listed company in Hong Kong

@ Disposed by the Group on 6th February, 2013

* 75% owned by the Group and 25% owned by Power Jade Limited
75% Power Jade Limited 25%

✧ Became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on 23rd January, 2013

Δ Wholly foreign-owned enterprise



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2012228

55. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars

of all associates would be of excessive length and therefore the

following list contains only the associates as at 31st December, 2012

which principally affected the results or assets of the Group.

55.

Fully paid Proportion of

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ equity attributable

incorporation/ registered registered indirectly

operation capital held  capital to the Company

Name of associate Principal activities

Best Profit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 25% Property investment

1 and trading

Direct Win Hong Kong Ordinary HK$900 33.33% Property trading

Development Limited 900

Ever Sure Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 50% Property trading

Investments Limited 2

Finedale Industries Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$9,999 33.33% Property investment

9,999

Ocean Strong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 50% Property trading

Industrial Limited 2

Power Jade Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$20 50% Investment holding

(Business name: Hong Kong 20

Power Jade Capital Limited)

Power Jade Capital Limited

The Kwong Sang Hong Bermuda Ordinary HK$100,000 50% Investment holding

International Limited 100,000
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55. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
(Cont’d)

55.

Fully paid Proportion of

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ equity attributable

incorporation/ registered registered indirectly

operation capital held  capital to the Company

Name of associate Principal activities

PRC Registered US$27,500,000 50% Property investment

27,500,000

(Shanghai Xin Mao

Property Development

Co. Ltd.)

PRC Registered US$24,920,000 50% Property investment
† 24,920,000 and hotel operation

Oriental Arts Building

Co. Ltd.†

PRC Registered HK$5,580,000,000 25% Property development

5,580,000,000

Chongqing Sino Land

Company Limited

Δ Wholly foreign-owned enterprise

† Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2012230

56. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

56.

2012 2011

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investments in subsidiaries 5,140,108 5,140,108

Amounts due from subsidiaries 5,411,004 2,986,355

Other current assets 1,365,470 1,061,818

Amounts due to subsidiaries (5,459,908) (6,054,242)

Other current liabilities (1,792) (531)

Financial guarantee liabilities (29) (195)

Net assets 6,454,853 3,133,313

Share capital (Note 42) 42 190,762 190,762

Reserves 6,264,091 2,942,551

Total equity 6,454,853 3,133,313

(a) The HKICPA has issued the amendments which are effective

for the Company’s financial year beginning on 1st January,

2012. The application of the amendments had no material

effect on how the results and financial position for the current

or prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented.

The Company has undertaken to provide necessary financial

resources to support the future operations of the subsidiaries.

The Directors are of the opinion that the subsidiaries are

financially resourceful in settling obligations.

(b) The carrying amount of the investments in subsidiaries is

reduced to their recoverable amounts which are determined

by reference to the estimation of future cash flows expected

to be generated from the respective subsidiaries.

(c) Except for the amounts due from subsidiaries and amounts

due to subsidiaries of approximately HK$5,287,297,000 (2011:

HK$2,868,192,000) and HK$4,744,700,000 (2011:

HK$3,595,713,000) respectively bear interest at rates mutually

agreed by both parties, the remaining balances are interest-

free. All balances are unsecured and have no fixed repayment

terms.

(d) Profit of the Company for the year ended 31st December,

2012 amounted to approximately HK$3,359,692,000 (2011:

HK$134,216,000).

(a)

(b)

(c)

5,287,297,000 

2,868,192,000 4,744,700,000

3,595,713,000

(d)

3,359,692,000

134,216,000
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57.

(a)

22,708,000

(i) 2,270,800

(ii)

20,437,200

(b)

300,000,000 2,326,695,000

30 38(b) 100,000,000

775,565,000

200,000,000

1,551,130,000

57. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the Group had the following transactions after the end

of the reporting period:

(a) Connected transaction on disposal of stock of

property

On 6th February, 2013, Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan (“Ms. Chan”)

entered into a preliminary sale and purchase agreement in

respect of a residential unit of One WanChai, a stock of

property held for sale, at a consideration of HK$22,708,000

of which (i) HK$2,270,800 had been paid upon signing of

the preliminary sale and purchase agreement as preliminary

deposit; and (ii) HK$20,437,200 to be paid on or before 8th

April, 2013 as balance of the consideration. As Ms. Chan was

an associate of a Director and a substantial shareholder and

also a sister of Ms. Chan, Sze-wan, a Director, Ms. Chan was a

connected person of the Company. Hence, the transaction

contemplated under the preliminary sale and purchase

agreement constituted a connected transaction of the

Company. Details of the transaction were set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 6th February, 2013.

(b) Early redemption of Loan Note

The Purchaser redeemed the entire principal amount

of  US$300,000,000 (equ iva lent  to  approx imate ly

HK$2,326,695,000) of the Loan Note (Notes 30 and 38(b)),

of which US$100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately

HK$775,565,000) was redeemed on 4th March, 2013 and

U S$200 ,000 ,000  ( equ i v a l en t  t o  a pp r o x ima t e l y

HK$1,551,130,000) was redeemed on 6th March, 2013,

together with all interest accrued thereon. The redemption of

the Loan Note and the payment of interest were made in

HK$. The Share Charge was discharged and released on 6th

March, 2013.

Save as mentioned above, the terms, provisions, guarantee,

indemnities and undertakings contained in the Agreement

(including without limiting the Buy Option, the Sale Option

and the Automatic Sale) and the other transactional

documents in relation to the Grandday Disposal shall remain

in full force and effect to the extent not already performed or

discharged.

Details of the redemption of the Loan Note were set out in

the announcement of the Company dated 6th March, 2013.
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57. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Cont’d)

(c) Disposal of certain shops or units of an investment

property in Hong Kong (“Sale Units”)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, an indirect

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Vendor of the Sale

Units”), entered into a series of preliminary sale and purchase

agreements (“Preliminary Agreements”) with independent

third parties and three companies wholly-owned by a close

family member of a Director and a substantial shareholder

(“Connected Parties”) (collectively “Purchasers of the Sale

Units”). Pursuant to the Preliminary Agreements, the Vendor

of the Sale Units would sell the Sale Units to the Purchasers

of the Sale Units upon the terms and conditions contained

therein. Up to the date of the approval of these consolidated

financial statements, 63 Preliminary Agreements had been

entered into with an aggregate consideration of approximately

HK$799,192,000, including an aggregate consideration of

approximately HK$39,894,000 of the Preliminary Agreements

entered into with the Connected Parties.

Pursuant to the Preliminary Agreements, completion of sale

and purchase of each of the Sale Units is conditional upon

the aggregate amount of consideration as stated in all binding

agreements for sale and purchase of individual Sale Units

entered into by the Vendor of the Sale Units (including the

considerations in the Preliminary Agreements) shall exceed

HK$2,000,000,000 on or before 18th June, 2013 (“Long Stop

Date”). In the event that the condition is not fulfilled by the

Long Stop Date, the Vendor of the Sale Units shall be at liberty

(but is not obliged) to annul the sale and to terminate the

Preliminary Agreements.

58. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to separately

reflect the results of the continuing operations and discontinued

operation and to conform with the current year’s presentation.

59. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the Board of Directors on 4th March, 2013.

57.

(c)

63

799,192,000

39,894,000

2,000,000,000

58.

59.
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Summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five

years is as follows:

For the year ended 31st December,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Results

Revenue 2,433,544 527,792 2,671,012 2,151,319 1,264,925

Profit (loss) before tax from

continuing operations 10,113,939 3,624,745 (8,715,145) 10,222,559 (2,960,986)

Income tax (expense) credit (299,090) (115,888) (120,602) (175,093) 1,506,728

Profit (loss) for the year from

continuing operations 9,814,849 3,508,857 (8,835,747) 10,047,466 (1,454,258)

Profit (loss) for the year from

discontinued operation 5,667 10,847 – – (1,950)

Profit (loss) for the year 9,820,516 3,519,704 (8,835,747) 10,047,466 (1,456,208)

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 9,794,937 3,497,816 (8,858,245) 10,023,423 (1,494,376)

Non-controlling interests 25,579 21,888 22,498 24,043 38,168

9,820,516 3,519,704 (8,835,747) 10,047,466 (1,456,208)

Earnings (loss) per share (HK$)

Basic and diluted (note) 5.14 1.83 (4.60) 5.02 (0.67)

Final and interim dividends per share

(HK cents) 21.0 2.0 1.0 3.0 14.5

Special dividend per share (HK cents) 100.0 – 40.0 63.0 99.0

Note: The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share is
based on the profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company for
the years and on the weighted average number of shares in issue
during the relevant years. Diluted earnings (loss) per share was the
same as the basic earnings (loss) per share as there were no diluting
events during the relevant years.
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At 31st December,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 74,529,259 61,511,597 55,056,360 59,359,365 51,877,539

Total liabilities (28,550,934) (25,143,590) (20,845,509) (15,047,051) (16,574,890)

Total equity 45,978,325 36,368,007 34,210,851 44,312,314 35,302,649

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 45,546,522 35,651,332 33,507,866 43,511,661 34,650,593

Non-controlling interests 431,803 716,675 702,985 800,653 652,056

45,978,325 36,368,007 34,210,851 44,312,314 35,302,649

Net asset value per share attributable to

owners of the Company (HK$) 23.88 18.69 17.57 22.31 16.68

Number of shares issued 1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079 1,950,000,079 2,077,750,079
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The following table sets forth the Group’s major properties as at 31st December, 2012:

PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG

Properties held for investment

Category of Group’s

the lease interest

Location Lot number Usage term

1. Windsor House The Remaining Portions of Commercial Long 100%

311 Gloucester Road Inland Lot Nos. 7717 and 7718

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong Section A of Inland Lot No. 781 and

(including 157 car parking spaces) Sections A and C of Inland Lot No. 782

7717 7718

311 781 A

157 782 A C

2. Harcourt House Certain parts or shares of and Commercial Long 100%

(excluding 7th, 8th, 9th, 22nd, in Inland Lot No. 8573

23rd, 25th, 26th and 27th floors, 8573

rooms 1004 and 1805)

39 Gloucester Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

(including 113 car parking spaces)

39

7 8 9 22 23 25

26 27 1004 1805

113

3. MassMutual Tower Certain parts or shares of and Commercial Long 100%

38 Gloucester Road in Inland Lot Nos. 3287 and 6936

Wanchai, Hong Kong 3287 6936

(including 55 car parking

spaces on basement)

38

55
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PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Properties held for investment (Cont’d)

Category of Group’s

the lease interest

Location Lot number Usage term

4. The ONE The Remaining Commercial Medium 100%

No. 100 Nathan Road and Portion of Kowloon

nos. 1-19A Granville Road Inland Lot No. 6022

Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong 6022

The ONE

100

1-19A

5. Silvercord Certain parts or shares of and Commercial Long 100%

Shops, restaurants and food court in Kowloon Inland Lot No. 10656

on basement, shops on lower ground floor, 10656

ground floor (excluding shop no. 38),

1st floor (excluding shop no. 39),

2nd floor (excluding shop no. 41),

the whole 3rd floor and

car parking spaces nos. 1, 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 21,

24, 25, 26, 29, 30, 34 and 35 on basement

No. 30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong

30

38

1 39

2 41

3

1 2 6 7 8 9 21

24 25 26 29 30 34 35
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PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Properties held for investment (Cont’d)

Category of Group’s

the lease interest

Location Lot number Usage term

6. Causeway Place* Certain parts or shares of and Residential/ Long 100%

Shop nos. M1, M2, M3, N1, N2, O and P in Inland Lot No. 7742 Commercial

on ground floor 7742

shop nos. N2, O and P on mezzanine floor

the whole of 1st and 2nd floors and

their respective portions of exterior walls,

together with flats C, I, J, K, L, N, O, P, Q

(each including a flat roof) and H on 3rd floor

Hong Kong Mansion

nos. 1-7 Paterson Street and

nos. 2-10 Great George Street

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

*

1-7

2-10

M1 M2 M3 N1 N2 O P

N2 O P 1 2

3 C I J K L N O P Q

H

* Certain shops have been sold after 31st December, 2012.

7. Various Portions of Certain parts or shares of and Industrial Medium 33.33%

No. 1 Hung To Road in Kwun Tong Inland Lot No. 415

Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong 415

(Comprising 352 workshop units and

77 car parking spaces)

1

352

77
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Estimated

Approx. gross

Estimated site area floor area

completion (square feet) (square feet) Category of Group’s

Stage of date the lease interest

Location Lot number completion Usage term

8. No. 12 Shiu Fai Terrace* Section M of Superstructure Mid of 2013 12,030 41,020 Residential Long 100%

Mid-Levels East Inland Lot No. 2302 work in progress

Hong Kong and the Extension

thereto and

12 * Section X of

Inland Lot No. 2302

and the Extension

thereto

2302 M

2302 X

* Under redevelopment

9. No. 1 South Lane and Remaining Portion of Demolition Mid of 2015 4,292 41,966 Residential/ Long 100%

No. 34 Hill Road* Section C work in progress Commercial

Western District Remaining Portion of

Hong Kong Sub-section 1 of

Section C

1 Sub-section 2 of

34 * Section C and

Section A of

Sub-section 1 of

Section C of

Inland Lot No. 1300

1300

C

C 1

C 2

C 1 A

* Under redevelopment

PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Properties held for investment (Cont’d)
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Approx. gross

floor area Group’s

(square feet) interest

Location Lot number Usage

1. The Hermitage Kowloon Inland Lot Nos. 2,637 Residential 25%

1 Hoi Wang Road 11167 and 11168

South West Kowloon

Hong Kong 11167 11168

1

PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Property held for sale

Properties under development held for sale

Estimated

Approx. gross

site area floor area

(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Group’s

Stage of completion interest

Location Lot number completion date Usage

1. No. 55 Conduit Road Remaining Portion of Superstructure Mid of 2014 36,000 87,800 Residential 70%

Hong Kong Section A of Inland work in progress

Lot No. 2138

55 Sub-section 1 of

Section A of Inland

Lot No. 2138 and

Inland Lot No. 2612

2138 A

2138 A 1

2612

2. The Coronation* Kowloon Inland Completed N/A 86,758 650,600 Residential/ 15%

1 Yau Cheung Road Lot No. 11073 Commercial

South West Kowloon

Hong Kong 11073

*

1

* Certain units have been pre-sold.
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Category of Group’s

the lease interest

Location Usage term

1. Hilton Beijing Hotel/Commercial Medium 50%

1 Dongfang Road, North Dongsanhuan Road

Chaoyang District, Beijing

1

2. Oriental Place Commercial Medium 50%

9 East Dongfang Road, North Dongsanhuan Road

Chaoyang District, Beijing

9

3. Evergo Tower Commercial Medium 100%

(excluding unit no. 3 on 9th floor and

unit no. 7 on 10th floor)

1325 Central Huaihai Road and 1 Baoqing Road

Xuhui District, Shanghai

1325 1

9 3 10 7

4. Platinum Commercial Medium 50%

233 Taicang Road

Huangpu District, Shanghai

233

5. Lowu Commercial Plaza Commercial Medium 100%

79 retail shops on 1st floor

Jianshe Road, Luohu District

Shenzhen, Guangdong Province

1 79

PROPERTIES IN MAINLAND CHINA

Properties held for investment
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Estimated

Approx. gross

site area floor area

(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Category of Group’s

Stage of completion the lease interest

Location completion date Usage term

1. Splendid City*# Both Phases I & II N/A 795,625* 3,743,000* Residential Medium 100%

No. 165 Yingbin Avenue Completed and

Jinniu District, Chengdu commercial

Sichuan Province

*#

165

* The project was developed in two phases. Area stated herein represents aggregate area of the whole project.

# Certain units have been sold or pre-sold.

PROPERTIES IN MAINLAND CHINA (Cont’d)

Property held for sale/Property held for investment/

Property under development
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Estimated
Approx. gross

site area floor area
(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Group’s
Stage of completion interest

Location completion date Usage

1. The Metropolis*# _______Tower 1 _______Tower 1 194,411* 1,652,000* Residential 100%
No. 60 Yixue Lane Completed N/A and
No. 38 Tangba Street _______Tower 2 _______Tower 2 commercial
Jinjiang District, Chengdu Final interior fitting Mid of 2013
Sichuan Province work in progress

*# _______Tower 3 _______Tower 3
In planning and To be scheduled

60 design stage
38 ______ ______

______ ______

______ ______

* The project will be developed in phases. Area stated herein represents aggregate area of the whole project.

# Certain units have been sold or pre-sold.

PROPERTIES IN MAINLAND CHINA (Cont’d)

Property held for sale/Property under development

Property held for investment under development

Estimated
Approx. gross

site area floor area
(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Category of Group’s
Stage of completion the lease interest

Location completion date Usage term

1. Chinese Estates Plaza* Superstructure Commercial 404,267* 3,229,000* Residential Medium 100%
No. 99 Tidu Street construction portion: and
Qingyang District, Chengdu and fit-out End of 2013 commercial
Sichuan Province works in progress Residential

* portion:
End of 2014

99

* The project will be developed in phases. Area stated herein represents aggregate area of the whole project.
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PROPERTIES IN MAINLAND CHINA (Cont’d)

Property held for development

Estimated

Approx. gross

site area floor area

(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Group’s

Stage of completion interest

Name of project Location completion date Usage

1. Huaxinjie Street No. 1 Zhongxin Section Piling work and Phase I: 2,207,546* 11,086,000* Residential, 25%

Development* and Qiaobei Village the associated Third quarter commercial

Chongqing Huaxinjie Street substructure of 2016 and school

Jiangbei District work in progress

Chongqing

*

1

* The project will be developed in four phases. Area stated herein represents aggregate area of the whole project.

PROPERTY IN THE UNITED KINGDOM

Property held for investment

Category of Group's

the lease interest

Location Usage term

1. River Court Commercial Freehold 100%

116-129 Fleet Street

London, EC4, United Kingdom

River Court

EC4

Fleet Street 116-129
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Estimated

Approx. gross

site area floor area

(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Group's

Stage of completion interest

Location Lot number completion date Usage

1. One WanChai* Section F and Final interior fitting Early 2013 15,910 159,700 Residential/ 87.5%

1 Wanchai Road the Remaining work in progress Commercial (notes

Wanchai Portion of 1 and 2)

Hong Kong Inland Lot 1 2

* No. 8953

8953 F

1

* Certain units have been pre-sold.

Notes:

1. It refers to the Group’s percentage of interest of property development rights in a consortium which engaged Urban Renewal Authority (“URA”) (the
successor to Land Development Corporation) in the project.

2. The 87.5% attributable interest of property development rights includes the indirect interest of 12.5% held through the Group’s interest in Power Jade
Limited which has a 25% direct interest in the consortium.

87.5% Power Jade Limited 25% 12.5%

3. In this joint venture with URA, the consortium finances both the land costs and construction costs, and is entitled to claim for reimbursements for land costs
and construction costs so incurred together with the share of any development profits with URA in accordance with the terms and conditions of the joint
development agreement.

PROPERTY IN HONG KONG

Property under development held for sale
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